

Bangor University

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Individual Difference in Self and Social Attributions of Facial Appearances: Behavioural Correlates of Depression

Sreenivas, Shubha

Award date: 2016

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Tou may neery distribute the once identifying a

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Individual Difference in Self and Social Attributions of Facial Appearances: Behavioural Correlates of Depression

Shubha Sreenivas

School of Medical Sciences Bangor University Bangor, UK



This thesis is submitted to the School of Medical Sciences, Bangor University, Wales, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Declarations and Consent

Details of the Work

I hereby agree to deposit the following item in the digital repository maintained by Bangor University and/or in any other repository authorized for use by Bangor University.

Author Name:	 	
Title:	 	
Supervisor/		
Department:	 	
Funding body (if any):	 	
Qualification/Degree obtained:	 	

This item is a product of my own research endeavours and is covered by the agreement below in which the item is referred to as "the Work". It is identical in content to that deposited in the Library, subject to point 4 below.

Non-exclusive Rights

Rights granted to the digital repository through this agreement are entirely nonexclusive. I am free to publish the Work in its present version or future versions elsewhere.

I agree that Bangor University may electronically store, copy or translate the Work to any approved medium or format for the purpose of future preservation and accessibility. Bangor University is not under any obligation to reproduce or display the Work in the same formats or resolutions in which it was originally deposited.

Bangor University Digital Repository

I understand that work deposited in the digital repository will be accessible to a wide variety of people and institutions, including automated agents and search engines via the World Wide Web. I understand that once the Work is deposited, the item and its metadata may be incorporated into public access catalogues or services, national databases of electronic theses and dissertations such as the British Library's ETHOS or any service provided by the National Library of Wales.

I understand that the Work may be made available via the National Library of Wales Online Electronic Theses Service under the declared terms and conditions of use (http://www.llgc.org.uk/index.php?id=4676). I agree that as part of this service the National Library of Wales may electronically store, copy or convert the Work to any approved medium or format for the purpose of future preservation and accessibility. The National Library of Wales is not under any obligation to reproduce or display the Work in the same formats or resolutions in which it was originally deposited.

Statement 1:

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree unless as agreed by the University for approved dual awards.

Signed (candidate)
Date

Statement 2:

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Where correction services have been used, the extent and nature of the correction is clearly marked in a footnote(s).

All other sources are acknowledged by footnotes and/or a bibliography.

Signed	 	 	 •••••	 (candidate)
_				
Date	 	 	 	

Statement 3:

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying, for inter-library loan and for electronic repositories, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed (candidate)

Date

Statement 4:

Choose one of the following options

a)	I agree to deposit an electronic copy of my thesis (the Work) in the	
	Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the British	
	Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized for use	
	by Bangor University and where necessary have gained the required	
	permissions for the use of third party material.	
b)	I agree to deposit an electronic copy of my thesis (the Work) in the	
	Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the British	
	Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized for use	
	by Bangor University when the approved bar on access has been lifted.	
c)	I agree to submit my thesis (the Work) electronically via Bangor	
	University's e-submission system, however I opt-out of the electronic	
	deposit to the Bangor University (BU) Institutional Digital Repository, the	
	British Library ETHOS system, and/or in any other repository authorized	
	for use by Bangor University, due to lack of permissions for use of third	
	party material.	

Options B should only be used if a bar on access has been approved by the University.

In addition to the above I also agree to the following:

 That I am the author or have the authority of the author(s) to make this agreement and do hereby give Bangor University the right to make available the Work in the way described above.

- That the electronic copy of the Work deposited in the digital repository and covered by this agreement, is identical in content to the paper copy of the Work deposited in the Bangor University Library, subject to point 4 below.
- That I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the Work is original and, to the best of my knowledge, does not breach any laws – including those relating to defamation, libel and copyright.
- 4. That I have, in instances where the intellectual property of other authors or copyright holders is included in the Work, and where appropriate, gained explicit permission for the inclusion of that material in the Work, and in the electronic form of the Work as accessed through the open access digital repository, *or* that I have identified and removed that material for which adequate and appropriate permission has not been obtained and which will be inaccessible via the digital repository.
- 5. That Bangor University does not hold any obligation to take legal action on behalf of the Depositor, or other rights holders, in the event of a breach of intellectual property rights, or any other right, in the material deposited.
- 6. That I will indemnify and keep indemnified Bangor University and the National Library of Wales from and against any loss, liability, claim or damage, including without limitation any related legal fees and court costs (on a full indemnity bases), related to any breach by myself of any term of this agreement.

Signature: Date :

Acknowledgements

ഞാൻ ഈ തീസിസ് എൻറെ പ്റീയപ്പെട്ട അച്ചനും, ശ്രീനിവാസൻ നാനാടത്, അമ്മക്കും, ഹൈമാവതി എം. കെ., സമർപ്പിക്കുന്നു I dedicate this thesis to my dear father, Sreenivasan Nanadath, and mother, Hymavathy M. K.

To my beautiful daughter, Gayathri (my Parukutty). Thank you for being there for me, being supportive throughout the PhD; bringing laughter and joy; baking cakes to comfort me; proof reading part of this thesis even though it made you feel tired! Most of all you put up with my absence when you needed me, without any complaints. For all this and more, I cannot thank you enough. I love you very much.

To my loving husband, Hefin. As I always say, *you are the kindest man known to me, only after my dad!* Thank you for being supportive and understanding of me throughout the PhD; providing me with endless *paneds*; hot dinners when I come home late; taking on more than your share of house chores; doing pages and pages of translations into Welsh; proof reading this thesis, which at times pushed us to the limits of mutual annihilation! I couldn't have done this without you. Love you very much.

To my loving brother, Sajith, and sister-in-law, Shibily, you have been supportive and encouraging from afar; understanding my absences from the family skype time. To my brand new neice, Sakshi, who made this world a more beautiful place by joining us on 21st September 2016. Thanks to my sisters-in-law, Eleri and Luned, for their support and help with piloting of stimuli.

I would like to thank Dr Richard Tranter and Carys Hogan, who offered me this PhD scholarship and gave me this amazing research opportunity.

I would like to thank Prof Rob Ward for taking me on board and being my supervisor. When I searched through the university website to find a supervisor and contacted Prof Ward, I didn't realise that I was making the best choice. He has been very supportive, inspiring and insightful; I feel very honoured to have been able to pursue my PhD with him. I would also like to thank my PhD committee, Dr Michaela Swales, Prof Robert Rogers and Prof David Healy, for their support and advice.

I would also like to thank my colleagues Alex Jones and Naomi Scott who helped me through the early days of my PhD. I have learned a lot from this dream team. I would also like to thank my friendly neighbours, on the second floor of Brigantia, who made my life that much easier by just taking time to talk to me and enquiring about the progress of PhD.

I would also like to thank the Psychology team, especially Everil, Alon, Ian, Dave, David, Elfyn, Llewelyn, and Steve, who have helped me throughout the PhD. I could not have done this without your help and support. Thanks to Dr Jenny Byast for her help and providing the ideal office space, which helped greatly when conducting the clinical study.

Special thanks to my friends, Leena and Andrea. Thank you for your words of encouragement and support. Leena, you were always there when I needed you and thank you for proof reading part of my thesis.

I would like to thank all who participated in my research, with particular thanks to the Holyhead Lifeboat Crew. Special thanks goes to Dr Linden Miles and Student Counselling Services for supporting the clinical study.

Table of Contents

Declarations and Consent	ii
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	viii

Thesis Summary	1
CHAPTER 1 – Introduction	3
PART A – The prelude	23
CHAPTER 2 – Neuroticism and wellbeing: Predictors of depression	24
PART B – The development	
CHAPTER 3 – A pilot study to choose a face scale	40
CHAPTER 4 – Neurotic face signals: What we perceive?	54
PART C – Individual differences in attributions of facial appearance	67
CHAPTER 5 – Looking in the mirror: Self-attributions	79
CHAPTER 6 – Looking through dark glasses: Social attributions	113
CHAPTER 7 – Triangulation of self, social, and observer attributions	130
PART D – The clinical application of self-attributions of facial appearance	147
CHAPTER 8 – Self-attributions of facial appearance: An early predictor and	l monitor of
reducing depression	148
CHAPTER 9 – General discussion	175
9.5.1 Changes in self-positivity with mindfulness practice and stress	186

Appendix	
11	
References	

Thesis Summary

Human faces are naturally captivating and display a variety of facial cues that can be accurately identified as mood state or inherent traits. This process of giving meaning to behaviours or signals that we observe is called attribution. When this is directed to self, we make self-attributions and when directed at others, we make social-attributions. Previous research demonstrates that attributions are affected by mood and wellbeing states, and personality traits, and in the initial chapter I discuss how wellbeing state and neuroticism trait predict depressive mood-state. I further aimed to develop an attribution task using self and others' face. Studies so far have used self-face to understand perceptions of attractiveness, self-esteem and depression, but not specifically to investigate self-attributions relating to changes in mood state, wellbeing and neuroticism.

Measuring attributions of facial appearance using self and others' face is a new approach. It was important that the self and social attributions were meaningfully measured and easily comparable. I piloted the stimuli and the novel task; the latter is discussed in this thesis. I compared three 19-point face scales created using face composites of neuroticism, depression and agreeableness. The Neurotic Face Scale was chosen for the self and social attribution tasks on the basis of the results from the pilot study. I also demonstrate the different positive and negative attributions that are systematically made to neurotic facial cues.

In the main experimental chapters, I investigate the association of self and social attributions of facial appearances with individual's mood, wellbeing and neuroticism. Participants' own photograph is used for the self-attribution task, while selected portraits of 'other' individuals were used for the social-attribution task. I also compare the participant's self and social attributions with independent observers' attributions (of the participants). I demonstrate that participant's increasing severity of depressive symptoms, decreasing hedonic wellbeing and increasing neuroticism relate to misattributions of self and others, but does not affect independent observers' attributions. I discuss participants displaying classic social projection based on the similarities between their self and social attributions. Finally, I triangulate self, social and observer attributions to demonstrate that misattributions, whilst maintaining consistent negative attributions as the independent observers. Self-attributions, however, are more sensitive to mood, wellbeing and inherent traits than social attributions. I further calculate discrepancies between basic self-attributions to demonstrate increasing self-negativity with increasing severity of depressive symptoms, neuroticism and decreasing hedonic wellbeing, as well as increasing self-discrepancy with decreasing hedonic wellbeing.

I further investigate the longitudinal changes (11 weeks) of self-attributions in participants who are clinically depressed. I demonstrate decreasing severity of depressive symptoms overlapping with decreasing self-negativity and selfdiscrepancy, and increasing self-positivity. I further demonstrate that an increase in self-positivity and decrease in self-negativity in the first week predicts depressive symptoms at week 11. Finally in a pilot study, I demonstrate increase in self-positivity after eight weeks of mindfulness practice; a practice that focuses on non-judgemental self-referential processing to increase self-positivity. This pilot study is included in the final chapter for general discussion, to demonstrate the future research potential for the self-attribution task.

CHAPTER 1 – Introduction

മുഖം മനസ്സിൻെറ കണ്ണാടി (Face, the mirror of mind)

- Unknown (ancient folk saying in Malayalam, a native regional language of Kerala, a southern state of India)

Ut imago est animi voltus sic indices oculi (The face is a picture of the mind as the eyes are its interpreter)

- Marcus Tillius Cicero (106 – 44 B.C.)

Faces are arguably the most entrancing stimuli around us. Our fascination for faces and reading information from faces is part of our social behaviour as human beings. Even as new-borns, we track face-like stimuli more consistently than non-face like stimuli (Easterbrook, Kisilevsky, Muir, & Laplante, 1999). These face-processing capabilities rapidly advance, and the new-borns make preference for their mother's face compared to a paired female face (Bushnell, 1982; Pascalis, de Schonen, Morton, Deruelle, & Fabre-Grenet, 1995; Walton, Bower, & Bower, 1992) and even preference for attractive faces over unattractive faces (Slater et al., 1998; Slater et al., 2000). Thus, the inherent pursuit of faces help the new-borns to learn to differentiate, understand and imitate the facial cues they see and thus develop their social skills (Meltzoff & Moore, 2002; Reissland, 1988).

Even as adults, we are prone to seeing faces in vaguely face-like random patterns in the clouds, on the moon or on a burnt toast (Bainbridge, Isola, & Oliva, 2013). Despite faces having a general composition and layout, they also have subjective differences (Little, Jones, & DeBruine, 2011). From our experiences we know that some faces are remembered better than others. For example, attractive faces can capture more attention and studies have shown that they have greater facesymmetry (Mealey, Bridgstock, & Townsend, 1999), but interestingly they are also associated with individual's health (Fink, Neave, Manning, & Grammer, 2006; Jones et al., 2001). Such subjective displays of facial cues, therefore, forms the basic social networking tools and trigger automatic social processes of mentalizing of others (Frith & Frith, 2008). Mentalizing (Theory of mind) refers to the ability to read other's state of mind (Frith & Frith, 2006a; Frith & Frith, 2006b; Frith & Frith, 2003). In this manner social alliances are made or unmade, stressing the importance of face processing in social functioning (Frith & Frith, 2010; Frith & Frith, 2008). Thus, a face is more than what meets the eye. So what are the different signals that we read from faces?

1.1 Face, the mirror of mind

When you are in a room full of strangers, with whom do you choose to start a conversation? Although it could be any one in the room, you will probably end up starting a conversation with somebody who looks friendly, approachable and less intimidating. Despite having limited information on any of the individuals, your judgement would have been heavily influenced on the basis of facial cues. It does appear that our faces, even with neutral expressions, can reflect some of our characteristics. Personality is considered a stable characteristic with 25 – 50% heritability (Henderson, 1982; Kendler & Baker, 2007; Martin et al., 1986), despite differential familial and environmental factors (Bouchard, 1994; Bouchard & Loehlin, 2001; Rushton, Bons, & Hur, 2008). The stable personality of an individual is also associated with their transient mental and physical health (Barnhofer & Chittka, 2010; Goodwin & Friedman, 2006; Hooker, 2002; Weiss, Bates, & Luciano, 2008), and such characteristics are reflected on individual's faces. Previous research shows that faces display a wealth of information including age (Porcheron, Mauger, & Russell,

2013; Rhodes, 2009), sex (Cellerino, Borghetti, & Sartucci, 2004; Killgore, 2000), race (Carroo, 1986; Golby, Gabrieli, Chiao, & Eberhardt, 2001; Malpass & Kravitz, 1969), emotions (Ekman, Rolls, Perrett, & Ellis, 1992), dominance (Mueller & Mazur, 1997), attractiveness (Jones, Kramer, & Ward, 2014; Kramer, Jones, & Sharma, 2013), mental health (Scott, Kramer, Jones, & Ward, 2013), physical health (Kramer & Ward, 2010) and personality traits (Kramer & Ward, 2010). By nature, some of these characteristics including age, attractiveness, physical-health and mental-health can change with time, environmental factors and biological factors (Fox & Davidson, 2010; McKinlay, McKinlay, & Brambilla, 1987b; Singh-Manoux et al., 2010; Williams, Cunich, & Byles, 2013). More recently researchers have viewed facial cues and facial adaptations from an anthropological perspective (Schmidt & Cohn, 2001). Facial cues are reported to reflect the changes in individual's circumstances, including mood (Girard, Cohn, Mahoor, Mavadati, & Rosenwald, 2013) and physical-health (VanSwearingen, 2008). In this light, face characteristics are considered as phenotypical variants (Chinthapalli et al., 2012; Hammond et al., 2012; Schmidt & Cohn, 2001).

So far we looked at how individual's facial cues reflect their mind. There is also evidence of individual differences in how those facial cues are perceived. Perceptions have been associated to individual's age, sex, transient mental-state and stable personality traits (Frith & Frith, 2008). This adds another level of complexity to social interactions. Subjective differences are therefore not limited to the observed faces, but also to the 'eyes' that perceive. Recent studies have reported genetic basis of face recognition, indicating the heritability of these mechanisms (Shakeshaft & Plomin, 2015). Face processing deficits and social dysfunction are also associated with heritable factors such as personality (Andric et al., 2016; Doty, Japee, Ingvar, & Ungerleider, 2013; Saito, Nakamura, & Endo, 2005), mood disorders (Leppänen, Milders, Bell, Terriere, & Hietanen, 2004; Leppänen & Nelson, 2006), anxiety disorders (McClure, Pope, Hoberman, Pine, & Leibenluft, 2003), psychotic disorders (Brennan, Harris, & Williams, 2014; Li, Chan, Zhao, Hong, & Gong, 2010) and developmental disorders (Golarai, Grill-Spector, & Reiss, 2006). Although this opens up a wide scope for discussing face-processing deficits, in this thesis I will focus on the ability to make attributions to faces of self and others in relation to individuals' mood and wellbeing states, and personality traits.

1.2 What the eye perceives

Perception is quite subjective and reflective of your mood-state, traits and experiences. Looking through dark glasses is a common but evocative description for individual's experience of depressive symptoms and how it distorts perception. A wide range of research supports this anecdotal evidence. Depressive mood-state is found to elicit attention bias for negative cues (Gollan, Pane, McCloskey, & Coccaro, 2008; Liu, Huang, Wang, Gong, & Chan, 2012), and improved accuracy for negative facial expressions such as sad (Linden, Jackson, Subramanian, Healy, & Linden, 2011; Lopez-Duran, Kuhlman, George, & Kovacs, 2012) and fearful (Yang, Zald, & Blake, 2007). Isaac et al. (2014) reported shorter gaze duration whilst processing happy facial cues in currently depressed individuals, unlike in remitted or nondepressed individuals. This could explain the extensive tendency to attend to negative more than positive cues, whilst experiencing sad mood (Isaac, Vrijsen, Rinck, Speckens, & Becker, 2014; Liu et al., 2012). Due to this tendency for negative perception, individuals experiencing depressive symptoms misattribute neutral facial expression as more negative (Leppänen et al., 2004). In contradiction, research has also reported individual's accuracy for happy facial expression when experiencing sad mood (Surguladze et al., 2004), suggesting wider misreading of facial cues relating to depression.

Attributions of facial cues is affected not only by depression but also factors associated with it, such as early life stress or abuse (Heim & Binder, 2012; Pollak, 2008), neuroticism (Canli, 2004; Kehoe, Toomey, Balsters, & Bokde, 2011; Perlman, Hein, & Stepp, 2014) and wellbeing (Heller et al., 2013; van Reekum et al., 2007; Vittersø & Dahl, 2013). Research so far suggests not just excessive negative perception but also altered processing of positive cues relating to neuroticism trait (Andric et al., 2016) and depressive state (Fox, Ridgewell, & Ashwin, 2009; Surguladze et al., 2004). It therefore seems that the underlying neural mechanisms that are associated with stress and affective state also affects the processing of facial cues and influence social behaviours.

1.3 The underlying neural mechanisms

Face processing is complex, and the required neural mechanisms comprise diverse and sometimes specialised regions, including the fusiform face area, inferior temporal lobe and superior temporal sulcus (Tsao & Livingstone, 2008). Furthermore, the main focus of this thesis are the attributions made to self and to others on the basis of facial cues, and these attributions are likely to recruit additional networks relating to the attributions of emotions (Ebner, Johnson & Fischer, 2012) and theory of mind (Schulte-Rüther, Markowitsch, Fink & Piefke, 2007).

Attributions of emotions to various facial cues activate prefrontal and anterior temporal cortex (Spunt, Ellsworth & Adolphs, 2016), while attributions to self and others' facial cues activate left lateral orbitofrontal, medial prefrontal (MPFC),

bilateral inferior frontal cortices, superior temporal sulci, temporal poles and right cerebellum (Schulte-Rüther et al., 2007). Attributions of self and others can trigger self-referential processes, which activate MPFC, the posterior cingulate cortex/precuneus and the temporo-parietal junction bilaterally (Schulte-Rüther et al., 2007). While recognition of neutral faces activate anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and sad faces activate caudate (Hagan, Hoeft, Mackey, Mobbs and Reiss, 2008), nonconscious processing of sad versus happy faces activated amygdala and ACC (Killgore & Yurgelun-Todd, 2004). These evidences show some common networks being activated when making attributions to different types of facial cues of self or others, which are aberrant when experiencing depression.

As discussed previously, when individuals are experiencing depression their processing of facial cues is affected and so are the related cortico-limbic activations (Feng, et al., 2015). The negatively biased attributions relating to depression show reduced cortical activity in ACC, prefrontal and superior parietal cortices (Disner, Beevers, Haigh & Beck, 2011; Kaiser, Bledowski & Dietrich, 2014). This can overlap with increased activity in the subcortical areas such as subgenual cingulate, caudate, putamen, amygdala, thalamus and hippocampus (Disner et al. 2011; Kaiser, et al., 2014). Self-referential processing when experiencing depression shows hyperactivation in these subcortical areas along with differential activation in ACC and MPFC (Disner et al. 2011; Lemogne et al., 2012; Li et al., 2017). Similar activations and deactivations in the cortico-limbic networks are observed during the perception of facial cues in individuals with high neuroticism (Canli, 2004; Hooker, Verosky, Miyakawa, Knight & D'Esposito, 2008) and reduced wellbeing (Canli, 2004; Green & Malhi, 2006; Kong et al., 2015). Although without our awareness, our transient mood state and more stable traits are modulated by our underlying mechanisms such as neurobiology and neural networks. These mechanisms are constantly responsive to various stimuli in our environment, and forming our behavioural responses. So, although we would like to believe in our autonomy as human beings, we are also part of nature's biomechanism. These concepts lead us to the biological theory of emotion processing.

1.4 Theories of emotion processing

James-Lang biological theory of emotion (James, 1884; Lange & Haupt, 1922) : According to this theory, a stimuli or an event produces arousal and physiological responses in the body, for example increased heartbeat or sweating when facing a group. We interpret these physiological responses as the emotions that we feel, for example as fear or anxiety when facing a group. Similarly, we feel sad because of some physical changes in response to some personal loss. This process is illustrated in Figure 1.1. This theory, however, was limited because of exclusive focus on bodily processes and interpretation of emotion as one entity, and not as cognitive processes.



Figure 1.1. Illustration of the process of interpreting emotions according to James-Lange theory of emotion.

Schachter's cognitive theory of emotion (Schachter & Singer, 1962):

Schachter further developed the biological theory of emotion by including the process of making attributions. In an experiment with two groups of participants, both injected with epinephrine to induce arousal, Schachter found differential emotional experience between the groups on the basis of their external situational experiences. This suggested that the groups made attributions to their physiological arousal on the basis of what they perceived around them and hence experienced the respective emotion. On this basis, Schachter added the crucial component of attribution into the previous model (shown in Figure 1.2). Besides the external situational factors, attributions are also affected by internal factors such as personality traits (Seligman, Abramson, Semmel, & von Baeyer, 1979). Thus internal and external factors modulate attributions, and therefore the interpretation of the experienced emotion (Markus & Wurf, 1987).



Figure 1.2. Illustration of the processing of emotions according to Schatcher's cognitve theory of emotion.

Attribution process has since been used to explain behaviours, such as learned helplessness, depressive attributions (Seligman et al., 1979) and negative cognitions relating to depressive state (Beck, Rush, Shaw, & Emery, 1979), p.11). Thus by including the aspect of attribution to the above theory, the role of cognitive processes in the experience of emotion became as prominent as the underlying neurobiology. It showed that the inherent neurobiological process might not be the only reason for maladaptation relating to depressive disorder, which is the focus of this thesis. Furthermore, the dynamic cognitive processes being responsive to both internal underlying mechanisms as well as the external situations added complexity to the theoretical basis of depressive disorders. This complexity is also observed in the actual experience or presentation of related symptoms of depression and the criteria for a clinical diagnosis.

1.5 Diagnostic criteria for depression

According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - 4th edition (DSM-IV) (American Psychiatric Association, 2000; First, Spitzer, Gibbon, & Williams, 2002), the symptoms for a depressive episode include depressed or irritable mood (melancholia), decreased pleasure or interest (anhedonia), and reduced energy or activity (fatigue) as the core symptoms. Additional symptoms include low selfesteem or confidence, feelings of guilt/worthlessness, pessimistic thoughts, disturbed sleep and appetite, and self-harm or suicidal tendencies or thoughts. A diagnosis can be made when at least five of the above symptoms, including the three core symptoms are persistent nearly every day for at least two weeks. Besides, the diagnostic criteria for the severity of depression are gauged on the basis of how strongly the individual experience the above symptoms. A variety of models were proposed to explain the depressive disorder with its heterogeneous clusters of symptoms. To discuss all the models of depression will be outside the remit of this thesis, and therefore I will focus on those pertinent to the neurobiological and cognitive processes that overlap with the theories of emotions.

1.6 Neurocognitive models of depression

In 1937, Papez proposed the role of neural circuit (i.e. limbic system) in the processing of emotions (Rajmohan & Mohandas, 2007) and this has been the basis for the neurobiological model of emotion. Neurobiological model posits that early life stress or abuse, which is also strongly associated with depression (Cohen et al., 2006; Heim & Binder, 2012), contributes to neurobiological alterations (Felger & Lotrich, 2013). Sustained stress levels relate to hyperactive hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis, producing high levels of cortisol, which is further linked to cytokines

(cellular inflammation), hormones (epinephrine), and neurotransmitters (serotonin) that affect depressive mood-state (Haddad, Saadé, & Safieh-Garabedian, 2002; Pariante & Lightman, 2008; Tian, Hou, Li, & Yuan, 2014). Meanwhile, cognitive theorists posit negative self-evaluations, exaggerated negativity, systematic negative bias, negative schemata and misattributions as depressive cognitions (Beck, 2008). It was proposed that the affective state could be improved by correcting these cognitions (Beck & Bredemeier, 2016).

Reflecting on the theories of emotion, we can see that the above models of depression bilaterally feed into each other. The behavioural or cognitive implications of serotonin mechanisms have been widely researched using neuromodulators such as tryptophan, the precursor for serotonin (Crockett & Fehr, 2014). Tryptophan depletion (TD) studies artificially lowered the brain tryptophan levels, and depleted brain serotonin levels to mimic a depressive neurobiology (Harmer, Rogers, Tunbridge, Cowen, & Goodwin, 2003b; Ruhe, Mason, & Schene, 2007). Studies using face paradigms reported altered facial emotion processing with TD (Harmer, Hill, Taylor, Cowen, & Goodwin, 2003), while blocking serotonin 2A receptors in the prefrontal-amygdala networks specifically affected the processing of negative facial cues (Hornboll et al., 2013; Passamonti et al., 2012). The fronto-limbic networks are consistently found as aberrant in depressed patients (Anderson, Shippen et al., 2011; Harmer et al., 2003), emphasizing the role of this network in mood disorders and face perception.

The interesting finding from these studies was the effect of TD on face perception observed within five hours after depletion and before any experience of mood change, suggesting early changes of subtle behaviours (Harmer et al., 2003b; Merens, Booij, Haffmans, & van der Does, 2008). Combining the findings from the TD studies to Schatcher's cognitive theory of emotions, we can add another process of early behavioural change prior to the experience of emotion, as illustrated in Figure 1.3. This is exciting because such early behavioural changes could be targeted to assess early intervention response for depression (illustrated in Figure 1.4). It could even be a behavioural marker of depression (Owens et al., 2014).



Figure 1.3. Illustration of the processing of emotions, after combining Schatcher's cognitive theory of emotion and early behavioural changes due to neurobiological changes as demonstrated by acute tryptophan depletion studies. ECT, Electroconvulsive therapy; rTMS, Repeated Transcranial magnetic sitmulation; VNS, Vegus nerve stimulation; DBS, Deep brain stimulation; CBT, Cognitive behavioural therapy; MBCT, Mindfulness based cognitive therapy; DBT, Dialectical behaviour therapy.



Figure 1.4. Illustration of the proposed process for identifying early behvaioural changes.

1.7 Implications of behavioural marker

The need for behavioural markers that can contribute to early prediction of intervention response directly relates to the complexity of depressive disorder, and the non-existence of a single effective intervention that works for all (Trivedi et al., 2013). Existing interventions include talk therapies, Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, mindfulness therapy, Dialectical Behavioral Therapy and antidepressants for mild to moderate depression, and Electroconvulsive Therapy, repeated Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation, Vegus Nerve Stimulation and Deep Brain Stimulation for severe depression (Wong & Licinio, 2001; Mayberg, 2003). Currently, the effective intervention for each individual is identified by administering series of monotherapies or combinations (Dunlop & Aaron, 2010; Dunlop et al., 2012). It can take at least two to three weeks to identify response to treatments through self-reports of improved mood (Thase, Shelton, & Khan, 2006; Tranter et al., 2009; Trivedi et al., 2006). Unfortunately, all the interventions require similar testing periods which prolong the overall trial and error period. This means the individual is in a depressive state for longer than optimal, impacting on prolonged disease burden. Disease burden is a measure of time lost on the basis of reduced quality of life or loss of life due to suicides (World Health Organization, 2007). By identifying early predictors, such as bio or behavioural markers, we can essentially reduce the trial and error period in identifying the effective intervention (Owens et al., 2014; Roiser, Elliott, & Sahakian, 2012; Thase, 2014). Effective interventions at an early stage of depressive disorder will naturally improve the outcome, quality of life and reduce disease burden (Schoenbaum et al., 2001; Unützer et al., 2002). National Health Service can thereby improve the cost effectiveness of interventions for depression, and society can further

benefit from the productivity of those with improved functioning following remission (Beddington et al., 2008; Wittchen et al., 2011).

1.8 A new behavioural task: face processing and depression

The next step is to identify the best behavioural task that can measure these early and subtle behavioural changes. A face paradigm seems an obvious choice since face processing shares the neural networks that are known to be aberrant in depression (Hall et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2015; Stuhrmann, Suslow, & Dannlowski, 2011) and involves visual stimuli processing that requires less cognitive load (Klingner, Tversky, & Hanrahan, 2011). Currently, the face paradigms used to investigate depression-related perceptions are limited to facial emotions (Harmer, Goodwin, & Cowen, 2009; Harmer, Mackay, Reid, Cowen, & Goodwin, 2006; Joormann, Gilbert, & Gotlib, 2010; Pagliaccio, Luby, Luking, Belden, & Barch, 2014). Some studies have used such emotional face-processing tasks longitudinally to track changes in perception with changes in mood over time, but used different emotions and paradigms (Johnstone et al., 2005; Münkler, Rothkirch, Dalati, Schmack, & Sterzer, 2015; Victor, Furey, Fromm, Öhman, & Drevets, 2010). However, the keynotes from the results of these studies were increased amygdala reactivity to fearful expressions (Johnstone et al., 2005); greater intensity of happy expression required for recognition (Münkler et al., 2015); negative perceptual bias relating to current clinical mood state (Münkler et al., 2015); and resolving negative bias coupled with developing positive bias after antidepressant treatment (Victor et al., 2010). Behavioural effects relating to depressive symptoms were also demonstrated as reduced accuracy for sad, angry, and fearful faces (Anderson et al., 2011).

Interestingly, greater misattribution of neutral expression compared to emotions has been demonstrated, when experiencing depression (Leppänen et al., 2004; Maniglio et al., 2014). Metaphorically, a neutral face could be described as a blank screen onto which individuals project their internal experience. The famous painting of Mona Lisa (La Gioconda) by Leonardo da Vinci is a timeless classic that still captivates people's imagination by the enigmatic 'smile'. Some people see the famous expression as a smile of contentment, while others see it as a hidden heartbreak; the opposite ends of the emotion spectrum. The American lyricist Ray Evans and songwriter Jay Harold Livingston queried in their classic song Mona Lisa, 'Do you smile to tempt a lover, Mona Lisa, Or is this your way to hide a broken heart', trying to unravel this ambiguity (Bennett, 2013). Kontsevich and Tyler (2004) investigated the perception of the subtle facial expression by manipulating noise (grains) to the picture and location-specific features (areas of eyes and mouth), but found that only corners of the mouth related to sad-happy change of facial expression. This research overlooked the crucial influence of observer's transient mood state and inherent traits on their perceptions, which would have provided subjective meanings (Kontsevich & Tyler, 2004).

Research has shown evidence of mood-congruent misattributions of neutral faces as sad when experiencing depressive symptoms (Maniglio et al., 2014). Similar misattribution errors are identified when neutral and low-arousal facial expressions are perceived as emotions with greater arousal (Csukly, Czobor, Szily, Takács, & Simon, 2009; Maniglio et al., 2014). The potential to investigate similar misattributions relating to depression in self-context is more intriguing. There is evidence of increased self-descriptive negative memory (verbal) during depressive episode and increased positive memory with improved mood (Johnson, Joormann, & Gotlib, 2007; Tranter et al., 2009; Warren, Pringle, & Harmer, 2015). It therefore seems reasonable to propose that with improved mood, neutral looking self-faces could be attributed as more positive. This shift in perception of a neutral self-face could be a better demonstration of mood-congruent face perception, and by measuring this change we could target the shift in the internal affective experience of individuals.

1.9 Self-attribution and depression

Prior studies have used neutral looking self-face to investigate self-recognition and individual's mental representation of self (Allen, Brady, & Tredoux, 2009; Felisberti & Musholt, 2014; Kircher et al., 2001). Allen et al. (2009) investigated individual's preference for the appearance of their actual face or caricatures (with exaggerated features that stand out) or anti-caricatures (with understated average features). The study reported anti-caricature bias for self and friend, and consistent with previous result (Rhodes & Moody, 1990), suggests that memory for a specific face is not a caricature but is more similar to an average face than the actual face. Average faces are typically judged to be attractive (Langlois & Roggman, 1990; Rhodes & Tremewan, 1996; Valentine, Darling, & & Donnelly, 2004) and because anti-caricature images are more similar to an average face than the actual face, the observed bias could be explained as the preference for more attractive faces.

Allen et al. (2009) further demonstrated the advantage for quicker recognition of caricature due to exaggerated features, which concurs with previous result of greater memory for caricatures (Mauro & Kubovy, 1992). It appears that individuals experiencing depression require similarly exaggerated facial expression for accurate perception (LeMoult, Joormann, Sherdell, Wright, & Gotlib, 2009), because they are less able to discriminate between varying intensity of facial emotional expressions (Anderson et al., 2011). Therefore, individuals experiencing depression rely on exaggerated appearances than ambiguous ones, which is contrary to the average anticaricature bias demonstrated in the general population. Such individual differences in perception of facial expressions have also been associated with inherent personality traits relating to depression, such as alexithymia and neuroticism (Cremers et al., 2009; Suslow et al., 2016), and even genetic variance (Tamm, Kreegipuu, & Harro, 2016).

Additionally, Felisberti and Musholt (2014) reported individual differences in mental representation of self whilst perceiving self-face. Their results demonstrated accuracy for self-face. However, they also demonstrated the preference of individuals with lower self-esteem to manipulate their facial appearance in order to increase attractiveness. This indicates that individuals with lower self-esteem are unsatisfied by their actual appearance as is evidenced by previous research (Barker & Bornstein, 2010), and the opposing proposition would be increased self-esteem enhancing satisfaction with self-appearance (Tiwari, 2014). Increased self-esteem is associated with improved mood (Ikegami, 2002; Kim et al., 2015), and therefore supports the potential for paradigms with self-face to measure changes in self-attribution with improving mood.

The core depressive symptoms are strongly anchored as internalising negativity to self and contrastingly, mood improvements imply reducing selfnegativity. It is quite intriguing how these self-perceptions change with a change in affective state, and this could be explained by the common underlying neural activations. Functional imaging studies have reported altered prefrontal, anterior cingulate and limbic activations with sad or depressive mood (Davidson, Pizzagalli, Nitschke, & Putnam, 2002; Mayberg et al., 1999; F. C. Murphy, Nimmo-Smith, & Lawrence, 2003; Phan, Wager, Taylor, & Liberzon, 2002). Incidentally, the same neural networks including fronto-limbic networks are also involved in the processing of self-face and self-referential mental processes (Keenan, Wheeler, Gallup Jr, & Pascual-Leone, 2000; Kircher et al., 2000; Northoff et al., 2006; Northoff & Panksepp, 2008; Platek, Wathne, Tierney, & Thomson, 2008; Qin & Northoff, 2011; Uddin, Iacoboni, Lange, & Keenan, 2007), which could explain increasing selfnegativity whilst experiencing depression. Thus, a neutral looking self-face seems to be the ideal stimuli to measure the early behavioural response to change in frontolimbic networks that relate to depressive symptoms. This could provide measures of mood-sensitive self-attributions that change in response to effective interventions.

1.10 The current thesis

As discussed through this chapter, there is ample evidence for subjective signals of transient state and stable traits being displayed on neutral looking faces. Furthermore, the processing of facial cues relies heavily on perceivers' mood and personality traits, and shares neural networks that are altered when experiencing depression. Investigations of depression related misattribution of faces have so far used paradigms with facial emotions, whereas, the use of self-attributions have generally been limited to investigating self-recognition and attractiveness. There is simply inadequate knowledge about self-face processing in relation to subjective mood-state and stable traits, and we do not yet know whether or how attributions about one's own facial appearances relate to depressive symptoms. It will be useful to understand if general self-negativity relating to depressive state is also observed when processing self-face. I aim to develop a new paradigm using self-face that will be sensitive to subtle behavioural changes associated with changes in severity of depression and wellbeing state, the process of which will be demonstrated through this thesis.

There is also the question, whether a construed self-perception when experiencing depression can affect one's perception of others. Projecting experiences of self onto others whilst making inferences or attributions is explained as social projection (Robbins & Krueger, 2005), and describes how misattributions occur and could lead to maladaptive social behaviours or dysfunctions (Van Boven & Loewenstein, 2003). More specifically, in the cognitive model of depression, Beck et al. (1979) proposed the dysfunctional belief system affecting dysfunctional behaviours using the negative cognitive triad; that is negativity of self, the world, and the future. I endeavour to measure such negative cognitions relating to self and other individuals using our proposed face paradigm. This will provide new insight into how current mood state can modulate more implicit cognitive processes relating to attributions of faces of self and others. Finally, I measure changes of such cognitive processes that relate to change in severity of depression and wellbeing state, which will provide evidence for potential behavioural markers to predict early intervention response.

This thesis contains four main parts. Part A is titled 'The Prelude', which presents a study that informs later studies that investigate mood congruent attributions. In Chapter 2, I investigate the behavioural composition of a representative population of Bangor University students. The aim is to investigate wellbeing and neuroticism as the predictors of depression in this population. Part B has two chapters (i.e. Chapter 3 and 4) and is titled 'The Development', as it presents the process of developing our attribution task using face stimuli. In Chapter 3, I develop and pilot an attribution task with the aim to identify the best of three (agreeableness, neuroticism, and depression) implicit face scales. Based on the results thus far, the neurotic face scale is selected for the later attribution studies. In Chapter 4, there are two studies in which I aim to investigate the various positive and negative attributions as well as attributions of fear individuals make to neurotic facial cues, indicating related biases.

Part C is titled 'Attributions Of Facial Appearance' and it presents the studies on self- (Chapter 5), social- (Chapter 6), and observer- attributions, and compares the three contexts (Chapter 7). In Chapter 5, I investigate our novel self-attribution task and the sensitivity of its individualised measures to subjective mood, wellbeing and neuroticism. This is the first of the main experimental chapters in this thesis in which I aim to measure changes in self-attribution, specifically increase in self-negativity, with increasing severity of depression, wellbeing and neuroticism. In Chapter 6, I investigate the sensitivity of our social attribution task to the subjective measures mentioned above and the process of social projection in visual modality. This is the second experimental chapter in which I aim to measure changes in social attribution relating to increasing severity of depression, wellbeing and neuroticism, and demonstrate evidence for social projection with social attribution being similar to selfattribution. In Chapter 7, I compare the attributions of observers with actor's self and social attributions as a triangulation study. I also investigate the association of observers' attributions with actor's mood, wellbeing and neuroticism. In this final experimental chapter in Part C, I aim to identify the similarities and dissimilarities

between actor's self-attribution and observers' attributions of the actors, and the relation of these attributions to actor's depression.

Part D is titled 'The Clinical Application Of Self-attribution' and it presents the clinical study (Chapter 8). In Chapter 8, I use our self and social attribution tasks in a longitudinal study with individuals experiencing clinical depression. The design has five time-points over a period of 11-12 weeks. I investigate the sensitivity of self-attributions to the changes in the severity of depressive symptoms and wellbeing, over the study period. In this experimental chapter, I aim to measure the changes in self and social attributions longitudinally over 11-12 weeks that overlaps with changes in depression. I also aim to measure the change in self-attribution in the first week to predict depression score at Week 11, as an attempt to identify potential early behavioural predictors of mood-state.

Finally in Chapter 9, I discuss the experimental findings, limitations, future implications and further research. Within this chapter, I briefly discuss the results from a small pilot study showing increase in self-positivity after mindfulness practice, to demonstrate the potential use of our self-attribution task in future research.

PART A – The prelude

In this section, I will discuss a study that forms the prelude to later studies. This study will provide evidence to support and rationalise later studies in this thesis relating to appearance, depression, and the associations among depression-related traits.

In Chapter 2, we investigate the composition of a sample student population at Bangor University with regard to their mood, wellbeing and personality traits. Besides giving a picture of the underlying behavioural composition of this population, the results of this study would inform later studies. For example, underlying sex difference in some personality traits in the population could skew the results of later studies; therefore exploring the population composition equips us to interpret later results meaningfully. It also provides a strong indication of the predictors of depression in our student population. This predictor model will be used in later studies to investigate its association with self and social attributions.

CHAPTER 2 – Neuroticism and wellbeing: Predictors of depression

Abstract

Depression is related to various factors including genetic, biological, behavioural and social factors. Although some predictors of depression such as trait neuroticism seem robust, depression is a heterogeneous disorder and we wished to better understand the variable structure that best described depression-related traits in our test population. We use behavioural and social factors to construct models that predict depression in our target population, the students at Bangor University. Prior studies have reported age, sex, personality traits and wellbeing as some of the factors associated with depression. We measured personality traits, eudemonic wellbeing and hedonic wellbeing to construct models that were tested using linear regression. The results indicate that neuroticism and wellbeing (eudemonic and hedonic) are predictors of depression. Neither age nor sex were significant predictors of depression in this sample. These findings suggest that the global constructs of neuroticism and wellbeing but not age or sex, as predictors of depression apply to our target population.

2.1 Introduction

In this chapter, I will discuss the characteristics of the target population that is relevant to later studies. My key interest was to explore the interplay of personality traits, wellbeing and mood state within the student population of Bangor University. The knowledge of causes and consequences of these characteristics will be informative of the group's behaviour and attribution within this social environment. Previous research reported personality traits, especially neuroticism, as strongly associated with depression (Fergusson, Horwood, & Lawton, 1989; Lahey, 2009; Takano et al., 2007). Neurotic traits are described by the Mini International Personality Item Pool (MIPIP) as frequent experience of extreme emotions or anxiety (Donnellan et al., 2006). Neurotic individuals understandably experience negative emotions more frequently, and this can impact on subjective wellbeing (Steel, Schmidt, & Shultz, 2008b) and mood state (Lahey, 2009). Thus, combinations of different traits, internal and external factors also can mediate and moderate depression (Papakostas & Fava, 2008). Studies have found that being introvert and neurotic can decrease individual's happiness (Hotard, McFatter, McWhirter, & Stegall, 1989; Pavot, Diener, & Fujita, 1990), which is closely related to individual's subjective wellbeing.

Subjective wellbeing refers to a combination of eudemonic and hedonic wellbeing (Deci & Ryan, 2008; Vanhoutte, 2014), and has been identified as another moderator of mental health (Huppert, 2009). Previous studies have found low wellbeing as highly associated with incidence of depressive disorder (Grant, Guille, & Sen, 2013). Research on wellbeing has used a variety of subjective measures that may be relevant to the respective population. Eudemonic wellbeing refers to happiness within ones own control (Ryan, Huta, & Deci, 2008; Steel, Schmidt, & Shultz, 2008a), living a life of virtue and self-actualisation (Delle Fave, Massimini, & Bassi, 2011) , where as hedonic wellbeing refers to maximising ones pleasurable experiences (Delle Fave et al., 2011).

In this study, we investigate the associations between individuals' mood state, wellbeing (hedonic and eudemonic) state and personality traits in the population targeted for further research. Wellbeing and neuroticism are proposed as significant predictors of depression in the target student population. Besides the main hypothesis, this study has another implication. Part of the data included in the main analysis here includes those obtained from participants who completed the self and social attribution study which is later discussed in Part C. Therefore the interrelations between wellbeing, traits and mood state discussed in this study will inform the attribution measures in the respective later studies.

2.2 Methods

We collected data over two separate studies with independent participants. The School of Psychology Ethics and Governance Committee, Bangor University approved the studies. Initially, 209 (128 female) participants with mean age of 21.63 ± 5 and range of 17-54 completed measures for depression, personality traits and wellbeing. Later, the same measures were obtained from the 100 (69 female) participants with mean age of 20.41 ± 4.75 and age range of 18-56, from the self and social attribution studies. Data from both studies are used here. All participants were recruited from Bangor University's student population, debriefed at the end of the study and provided with information regarding available psychological support.

Depression was measured using the Inventory of Depressive Symptomology – self rated (IDS) (Rush et al., 1986; Rush, Gullion, Basco, Jarrett, & and Trivedi, 1996). This measure assessed severity of all depressive symptoms in the seven day period prior to assessment, according to DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). There are 30 questions with responses from 0 (symptom not present) – 3 (symptom present always). Sum of 28 responses provided the total score that ranged from 0 to 84. From the two questions on increase or decrease of appetite and weight,

only one response for each was used to calculate the total score. Severity was graded as follows; 0–13 as 'not depressed', 14–25 as 'mildly depressed', 26–38 as 'moderately depressed', 39–48 as 'severely depressed', and 49–84 as 'very severely depressed'.

In this study, the subjective wellbeing comprised of measures of eudemonic and hedonic wellbeing. Eudemonic wellbeing was measured using the Flourishing Scale (FS) (Diener et al., 2010), which had eight items describing aspects of human functioning, ranging from positive relationships to feelings of competence and purpose in life. The responses from 1 (strongly agree) to 7 (strongly disagree) were summed to obtain the total wellbeing score that range from 8 (lowest) to 56 (highest). Hedonic wellbeing was measured using the Scale for Positive and Negative Experiences (SPANE) (Diener et al., 2010), which is a 12-item questionnaire with six items to assess occurrence of positive feelings and the other six items relating to occurrence of negative feelings. The responses varied from 1 (very rarely or never) to 5 (very often or always). The score for positive experiences was the sum of responses for positive feeling, and the score for negative experiences was the sum of the responses for negative feelings. Both these scores vary from 6 (lowest) to 30 (highest), that is bigger scores indicating more frequent positive and negative experiences. Affect balance is computed by subtracting experience scores of negative from positive, indicating a balanced experience. The scores ranged from -24 (unhappiest) to 24 (highest balanced experience); positive/bigger scores indicate more positive than negative experiences.

The personality traits were measured using the MIPIP (Donnellan et al., 2006), which is a 20-item questionnaire; four questions relating to each of the big five
personality traits. Reponses varied from 1 (very inaccurate) to 5 (very accurate), and they were averaged per trait to obtain scores for agreeableness, conscientiousness, extraversion, neuroticism and openness. The scores ranged from 0 (lowest trait quality) to 5 (most trait quality).

2.3 Results

The group mean (*M*) and standard deviation (*SD*) of the measures are given in Table 2.1. The initial study had a total of 209 (128 female) participants (age M = 21.63, SD = 5.00, age range 17 - 54) and in the later study we recruited a total of 100 (69 female) participants (age M = 20.41, SD = 4.72, and range = 18 - 56). The distribution of depression and wellbeing, of the merged data, is shown in Figure 2.1.

	Females (<i>n</i> = 197)	Males (<i>n</i> = 112)	Total (<i>n</i> = 309)
Age	21.47 (5.676)	20.79 (3.251)	21.22 (4.939)
Depression score (IDS)	19.47 (9.143)	17.61 (9.027)	18.80 (9.131)
Flourishing Scale (FS)	44.40 (6.531)	44.11 (6.901)	44.29 (6.658)
Scale of positive and neg	ative experiences (SP	ANE)	
Positive experience	23.23 (4.349)	22.80 (3.982)	23.08 (4.218)
Negative experience	13.43 (3.952)	12.63 (3.470)	13.14 (3.798)
Balanced experience	9.80 (7.665)	10.18 (6.717)	9.94 (7.327)
Personality traits			
Agreeableness	4.162 (0.648)	3.978 (0.718)	4.09 (0.679)
Conscientiousness	3.405 (0.862)	3.212 (0.808)	3.335 (0.847)
Extraversion	3.307 (0.963)	3.383 (0.915)	3.334 (0.945)
Neuroticism	3.026 (0.819)	2.511 (0.904)	2.839 (0.884)
Openness	3.815 (0.654)	4.049 (0.717)	3.899 (0.686)

Table 2.1. Mean and standard deviation of age, depression, wellbeing and personality for females, males, and total group.

Note. Descriptive statistics are reported as mean (standard deviation); *n*, Sample size; IDS, Inventory of Depressive Symptomology; FS, Flourishing Scale, SPANE, Scale of Positive and Negative Experiences.



Figure 2.1. Distribution of depression and wellbeing measured in the target population.

We used one-way ANOVA to examine sex difference. Additional analyses were conducted using correlation and linear regression with three models to identify the predictors for depression. The base model (Model 1) included only the neuroticism score, the FS score was entered to the base model to form Model 2, and the balanced experience score was entered to the second model to form Model 3. This sample satisfactorily met all the assumptions of multiple linear regression analysis.

2.3.1 Sex difference

There were significant sex difference in scores of neuroticism, F(1, 308) = 26.146, p < .001, agreeableness F(1, 308) = 5.318, p = .02, and openness, F(1, 308) = 8.543, p = .004 (greater openness for males). However, no significant sex difference was found for depression scores, F(1, 308) = 2.99, p = .085, despite mean depression score being greater for females (19.47±9.14) than males (17.61±9.03).

2.3.2 Generalizability of the depression measured using IDS

One sample *t* test shows that the group mean depression score of 18.80 measured from the Bangor University student population was not significantly different, t(308) = 0.82, p = 0.41, from the mean score of 18.37 from a population sample of Netherlands with n = 2981 (Licht et al., 2008) or, t(308) = 1.03, p = .30, from the mean score of 18.26 from a population sample of South Carolina (Pincus et al., 2010). This suggests the depression measure used in this study is providing a measure that is generalizable and not displaying characteristics specific to the student population at Bangor University. The two datasets used in the analysis within this chapter were collected at different times across the academic year. One-way ANOVA comparing depression scores from the two datasets showed no significant difference, F(1, 307) = .004, p = 0.95. This result and the comparisons with population samples suggest the depression measure used in this study is not displaying characteristics specific to students during any particular time in the academic year.

2.3.3 Correlations analysis

Age did not correlate with any of the measures.

Personality scores: Agreeableness correlated positively with extraversion (r = .162, p = .004), and openness (r = .163, p = .004). Conscientiousness correlated negatively with neuroticism (r = -.116, p = .04) and openness (r = -.144, p = .01). Extraversion correlated negatively with neuroticism (r = -.148, p = .009) and positively with openness (r = .130, p = .02).

Mood state: Depression (IDS) correlated significantly with eudemonic wellbeing scores of FS (r = -.486, p < .001), and hedonic wellbeing scores of positive experience (r = -.551, p < .001), negative experience (r = .604, p < .001) and balanced experience (r = -.630, p < .001). It was also significantly correlated with neuroticism (r = .492, p < .001). The significant correlations are shown in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2. The significant correlations of depression score with the predictor variables of hedonic wellbeing, eudemonic wellbeing, and neuroticism scores. SPANE, Scale of Positive and Negative Experiences.

Eudemonic wellbeing: The FS score correlated significantly with hedonic wellbeing scores of positive experience (r = .587, p < .001), negative experience (r = .506, p < .001) and balanced experience (r = .600, p < .001). It correlated positively with agreeableness (r = .215, p < .001), conscientiousness (r = .276, p < .001), extroversion (r = .303, p < .001) and negatively with neuroticism (r = .340, p < .001).

Hedonic wellbeing: Positive experience significantly correlated with negative experience (r = -.670, p < .001) and balanced experience (r = .923, p < .001). It also correlated positively with agreeableness (r = .164, p = .004), conscientiousness (r = .164, p = .004), conscientiousness (r = .164).

.172, p = .002), extroversion (r = .261, p < .001) and negatively with neuroticism (r = .424, p < .001).

Negative experience significantly correlated with balanced experience (r = -.904, p < .001). It also correlated negatively with conscientiousness (r = -.194, p =.001), extroversion (r = -.199, p < .001) and positively with neuroticism (r = .573, p <.001).

Balanced experience correlated positively with conscientiousness (r = .200, p < .001), extroversion (r = .254, p < .001) and negatively with neuroticism (r = -.541, p < .001).

2.3.4 Multiple regression analysis

Model 1 with neuroticism $[r^2 = .243, F(1, 307) = 98.29 \ p < .001]$, Model 2 including eudemonic wellbeing $[r^2 = .357, F(2, 306) = 84.99, p < .001]$ and Model 3 including hedonic wellbeing $[r^2 = .447, F(3, 305) = 82.10, p < .001]$ were all significant predictors of depression. The results are shown in Table 2.2.

The beta coefficient for neuroticism ($\beta = .211$, t = 4.157 p < .001) maintains the positive relationship, that is, an increase in neuroticism will increase depression. Eudemonic wellbeing ($\beta = ..163$, t = .3.059, p = .002) and hedonic wellbeing ($\beta = ...419$, t = .7.030, p < .001) indicate a negative relationship, that is, an increase in subjective wellbeing relates to decreasing depression.

Models	r^2	F	Predictor variables	β	t	Part ²
1	.243	98.29 **	Neuroticism	.492	9.914**	24.21%
2	.357	84.99**	Neuroticism	.370	7.589**	12.11%
			Flourishing	360	-7.385**	11.49%
3	.447	82.10**	Neuroticism	.211	4.157**	3.13%
			Flourishing	163	-3.059*	1.69%
			Balanced	419	-7.030**	8.9%
			experience			

Table 2.2. The r^2 and F values for each of the three models predicting depression and the β and t values of each predictor variables within the respective models.

Note. ** *p* < .001, * *p* < .005

2.4 Discussion

We investigated predictors of depression in the student population at Bangor University. The main theme throughout the later studies is the effect of mood, wellbeing and personalities on individual's attributions. It is therefore, essential to understand the interrelations between these measures obtained from our target group.

Contrary to existing evidence, neither age nor sex showed association with depression. One-way ANOVA comparing mean depression score showed no significant sex difference. Previous population studies have shown females having higher incidence of depression (Kessler et al., 2003; Piccinelli & Wilkinson, 2000). It is not clear why our group did not show similar sex difference, although the mean depression score was greater for females than males. The limited age range in this sample, with a composition of 90% aged 17 - 24 and 10% aged 25 - 56, may have implications on limited life experiences and other mediating factors of depression.

Regression analysis showed strong association of depression scores with wellbeing and neuroticism scores. Model 3 with neuroticism, eudemonic and hedonic wellbeing was a significant predictor of depression. It was evident from the β coefficients for hedonic wellbeing, neuroticism and eudemonic wellbeing that they contributed towards predicting depression, in that order. The results showed that an increase in neuroticism and decrease in subjective wellbeing (that is, hedonic and eudemonic wellbeing) could increase depression in this sample student population. It is interesting that by including hedonic wellbeing into Model 3, the β coefficient for neuroticism was reduced. This is consistent with existing evidence that improving wellbeing can moderate the effect of neuroticism (inherent trait) as a predictor of depressive disorder (Barnhofer, Duggan, & Griffith, 2011). Previous studies have found neuroticism trait as a significant predictor of most mental health disorders (Lahey, 2009). Studies have also found low wellbeing as a risk factor for depressive symptoms under stress (Grant et al., 2013), although the wellbeing measures were different from those used in this study. Thus, our study has provided insight into the construct of mental health using the measures of FS, SPANE and IDS in our target population. The target population of this study is limited to the students in Bangor University, although they make up a sample from countries across the world including European, Middle East and Asian countries.

We reported eudemonic wellbeing being correlated with hedonic wellbeing. Greater eudemonic wellbeing can affect how life events are experienced or in another perspective, a balanced (more positive and less negative) experience in life can improve eudemonic wellbeing. This mutually contributing relationship has been demonstrated in previous studies (Diener et al., 2010; Schotanus-Dijkstra et al., 2016). Individual's wellbeing was also associated with personality traits in this study. Conscientious, extrovert and less neurotic traits were found to be associated with greater hedonic wellbeing. The three traits, along with agreeableness, were also found to be associated with greater eudemonic wellbeing in our study. Villieux et al., (2016), using the French version of FS, reported similar relationship of eudemonic wellbeing with conscientiousness, extroversion and less neuroticism. Steel et al., (2008a) also found similar associations between personality traits and subjective wellbeing providing a consistent picture of wellbeing as an inherent trait. Adoption and twin studies showed evidence for genetic influence on 80% of the stability of subjective wellbeing (Lykken & Tellegen, 1996; Nes, Røysamb, Tambs, Harris, & Reichborn-Kjennerud, 2006), which is unlike individual's mood-state that is mainly affected by environmental factors (Lyubomirsky, King, & Diener, 2005; Steel et al., 2008a). Diener and Lucas (1999) concluded that a substantial portion of stable subjective wellbeing is due to personality.

The impact of personality on wellbeing seems self-explanatory, although the attributions made to different personality traits can be subjective and vary between individuals. Agreeable person is friendly, and therefore more successful in social bonding (quality and quantity). A conscientious person is meticulous, highly focused and well planned in work and life. This could account for self-realisation, improved self-esteem and over all life satisfaction. An extrovert has the drive and energy to meet new people and develop relationships. Increased socialising can improve self-esteem, life experiences and over all life satisfaction. A less neurotic person would be emotionally better equipped to deal with the dynamics of social relationships in a stable manner. This emotional stability can mediate individual's subjective experience by moderating extreme negative feelings and impact subjective wellbeing (Villieux,

Sovet, Jung, & Guilbert, 2016). Although the personality inventories measure and identify individuals' traits, they do not give a full picture of individuals' social behaviour. Social behaviours are influenced by complex interactions between individuals, and this can be affected when different personality traits are attributed as positive or negative. All the studies discussed in this chapter provide greater understanding of such influences, but also identifies the need for further research on the interaction between personality and social behaviour.

2.5 Conclusion

We investigated the interactions of personality and wellbeing on mood in our target population. It can be concluded that neuroticism, eudemonic wellbeing and hedonic wellbeing individually, as well as in unison, are significant predictors of depression. The combination of factors, with increasing neuroticism and decreasing wellbeing (eudemonic and hedonic) predicted increase in depression. Individual's wellbeing was also modulated by core personality traits. Agreeableness, conscientiousness, extroversion and emotional stability were associated with greater wellbeing. In this sample, neither age nor sex was associated with depression scores. These results provide a construct of mental health in the sample student population at Bangor University.

PART B – The development

Social communication and social behaviour is heavily dependent on social cues, including face signals that could facilitate or hinder social interactions. Prior research has found reduced accuracy for facial expressions in individuals with mood, psychotic and developmental disorders (Archer, Hay, & Young, 1992; Bediou et al., 2012; Linden et al., 2011; Riby, Doherty-Sneddon, & Bruce, 2008). In future chapters (5, 6, 7, in Part C), we report the use of a visual self-attribution task in which the presented self-face can be manipulated by participants to display visual evidence of depression. The development of this scale will be discussed in this part.

Here I would like to mention that, although not included in this thesis, we conducted few pilot studies prior to finalising the current face scale. Initially we created a scale using 22 images, however the change in facial cues was not very observable, and hence created the current scale. Following the study discussed in Chapter 3, I further tested the agreeableness scale to ensure the observed inconsistency was not an artefact of low quality of our original stimuli. These studies replicated our original result. Thus the face scale has been controlled as much as possible to allow the images to display changes in face signals whilst limiting distortions. I do not report the full details of these small pilot studies, as they involved only simple tinkering and tweaks of stimulus presentation and method, and were not addressing ideas of any particular theoretical interest (e.g. whether the progression of items works better with 19 or 22 frames). The studies in this section, therefore, have a much more developmental character than the main experimental chapters in Part C. There are two chapters (3 and 4) in this section, in which I will discuss three different studies.

In Chapter 3, I will discuss the process of developing a 19-point face scale, using face composites of agreeableness, neuroticism, and depression. I will compare three face scales to identify the scale that provides consistent response from both male and female participants for male and female faces. Based on this result, I will select the best face scale for self, social and observer attribution studies in Part C. In Chapter 4, I will discuss two studies that explore the different social attributes made to the neurotic composite faces selected for creating the attribution task.

CHAPTER 3 – A pilot study to choose a face scale

Abstract

Attributions refer to the inference of the causes of observed behaviour and events. Such individual differences in attributions could relate to individual's personality and mental health. Thus, subjective attributions could be used creatively to investigate individuals' mood state. With this focus, we developed a face task with three categories, that is, neuroticism, agreeableness and depression. On this task, observers viewed a sequence of images giving an impression of subtly changing face signals. The aim was to identify the most accurate category that is consistent across sex (stimuli and observer), and we found neuroticism face scale to produce such systematic responses. The neurotic face scale was, therefore, chosen for exploring self and social attributions of individuals in future studies. Depression face scale was also accurate but the accuracy differed for male and female faces, where as agreeableness face scale had differential accuracy across stimulus and sex of observer.

3.1 Introduction

Social interactions are heavily dependant on observing social cues and making appropriate attributions, which could be compromised when experiencing mental health disorders (Couture, Penn, & Roberts, 2006). In order to investigate stereotypical and biased attributions, prior studies have used two alternative forced choice paradigms (Kramer & Ward, 2010; Scott et al., 2013). This is appropriate to understand the general attribution on average, but limited in investigating individual differences. In this study, we endeavour to develop a face scale that allows greater variance in responses.

3.1.1 Measuring individual differences in attributions

Individual differences relate to the variability of individual's behaviour. Despite adherence to general social norms each individual has unique beliefs, behaviours and experiences, and therefore display individualistic perceptions and attributions. This variability is reflected in individual's experience of social interactions, maladaptation or adaptation, and disorders (Allen-Walker & Beaton, 2015; Linden et al., 2011). Our intention is to capture variance in observer's attributions and potentially tap into individual's behavioural differences relating to their state of health and wellbeing. An individualised measure of attribution will provide more sensitive information about individual's perceptions, which will be more informative about subjective dynamics within the social dynamics.

3.1.2 Face stimuli for implicit measures

We read multitudes of social information such as emotions (Ekman et al., 1992), mental and physical health (Scott et al., 2013), and personalities (Kramer & Ward, 2010) from the face. Adapting face stimulus to measure individual differences could potentially give the added benefit of tapping on to more automatic processes relating to implicit cognitions (Axelrod, Bar, & Rees, 2015; Northoff, 2016).

This study aims to create a visual scale of face variation between two anchors, reflecting different trait values relating to depression. To illustrate in Figure 3.1, the neutral target face is progressively transformed between two extreme anchor values. On the one side the anchor is a composite with emotionally stable or without depressive traits and on the other side it is a composite with neurotic or depressive traits. The target face changes smoothly across the gradient to take on characteristics to reflect the difference between the anchors. For example, in Figure 3.1, one can

among other characteristics, see the gentle lowering of eye-gaze and brow as we move from one end of the scale to the other. Our intention was to find anchors to create a scale of variation that would be relevant to individual differences in attribution and depression.

We used two traits relating closely to depression: neuroticism (Kramer & Ward, 2010) and depressive symptoms (Scott et al., 2013). The development work here also included agreeableness as a comparison, even though an agreeableness variation was not being considered for our scale.

There are five main questions to be answered in this study. (1) Are systematic attributions made to the different forms of face variation? (2) Are the responses congruent to the instruction and scale for all the categories? (3) Are the responses consistent for both male and female faces? (4) Are the responses consistent from male and female participants in this task? (5) Which trait offers the best properties for future use based on the congruence of responses to instructions, the scale and across sex (stimuli and participants)?

3.2 Methods

We invited Bangor University students to participate in this study, which was approved by the Ethics and Governance Committee, School of Psychology at Bangor University. There were a total of 50 (40 females) participants with mean age of 19.70 \pm 1.876 and range (18 – 27). The study adhered to School of Psychology and Bangor University research guidelines, and participants were compensated for their time. In this study the participants completed the face task that is explained below. After participation students were debriefed and provided with information regarding available psychological support, should they feel the need for it.

3.2.1 Stimuli creation

We selected a total of 20 (10 female, 10 male) portraits from the lab's face database. Portraits in the database are neutral looking full frontal photographs of Bangor University students, who consented for their photographs to be used in future studies. All the portraits were screened for facial emotion expressions, make-up, face piercings, facial tattoos and facial hair. The selected portraits were cropped and rotated to present the correct pupil alignment along the transverse plane to minimise differences due to posture or angle of the head. Finally, each portrait was warped towards the three pairs of sex-congruent composites of neuroticism, depression and agreeableness.

In order to create the composite faces, the full-face portraits of 15 male and 15 females with neutral expression were selected for high and low of each category (agreeableness, depression and neuroticism). Exclusion criteria of facial expression, facial hairs, facial tattoos, head rotation, facial piercing and make up were applied during selection. A total of 139 landmarks were identified on each of the selected face and then each set of 15 faces was averaged using JPsychomorph (Tiddeman, Burt, & Perrett, 2001) to create the composite faces. The process of compositing or averaging of faces washes out any individuality and maintains only the common or salient features of the respective traits shared by the selected faces.

Warping was done using JPsychomorph (Chen & Tiddeman, 2010). In this process 139 landmarks were identified on each photograph and then warped towards the respective high and low composites, also accounting for their shape, colour and texture to create 19 images. In the resultant face scale, the original face was the midpoint, and gradually changed with high trait and state characteristics towards one end, and lower trait and state characteristic towards the other end of the scale. The scores on the 19-point scale were from -9 (least trait) through 0 (original face) to +9 (most trait). In this implicit task, participants were not aware of the three underlying categories of the face scale. This process and the resultant scale are illustrated in Figure 3.1.



Low trait/state face cues



Morphed towards average low trait/state appearance

photo



High trait/state face cues



Morphed towards average high trait/state appearance



Figure 3.1. The graphical representations of an individual's photograph being warped towards low and high trait and state composite images. A row of warped images from being low trait and state (-9) to being high trait and state (+9) and the individual's original photograph in the middle (0) depicts the sequence of images in the order on the 19-point scale.

3.2.2 The attribution task

The task presented with three blocks (categories: agreeableness, neuroticism and depression) x 20 trials (identity: 10 male and 10 female faces) x 19 images (face warps). The blocks (categories) were randomly selected per presentation. The order of the trials (identity) was randomly selected in the first block, but maintained through rest of the blocks in the presentation. The first image of each trial (19 face warps) was presented randomly, but followed the order of sequence on the 19-point scale. The 19 images of each face (identity) were presented (500x500 pixels) one at a time in the middle of a computer screen, with instructions at the top. The presentation was not timed and allowed each face (identity) to be changed between low and high of the respective scale in order of sequence on the 19-point scale. The scale was presented on the screen as a circle, and therefore its lateral representation was not obvious to the participants. The face was displayed from the hairline to chin, vertically and face contour close to the ears, horizontally.

The instructions were specific to each block (category). For the neuroticism scale, the instruction was to make the face look 'most anxious and emotionally unstable' and 'most calm or emotionally stable and well balanced'. For the depression scale, the instruction was to make the face look 'unhappy and least content' and 'most happy and contented'. For agreeableness, the instruction was to make the face look 'most agreeable and friendly' and 'least agreeable and unfriendly'. In order for all responses to indicate increasing neuroticism, depression, and agreeableness, the responses were reverse scored for the second instruction per category. The presentation is illustrated in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2. An illustration of a trial from the attribution task as presented on a computer screen, and viewed by the participants. When they press either the right or left arrow keys, the presented face will appear to be changing. By continued pressing of either of the keys, will present the 19 images in a continuous looped sequence. Without a lateral representation the end points of the scale was not obvious to the participants.

3.3 Data Analysis

We used the responses from the face task to compute group average scores per category, giving a total of six scores (3 categories x 2 sex of stimuli). Prior to averaging scores, we reverse scored the responses where the instructions were to make the face look least agreeable, emotionally stable or happy. Therefore, all the responses consistently reflected the face being made more agreeable, neurotic or depressed. In this manner, when the responses were congruent to the instructions the scores were greater than zero. The scale ranged from -9 to +9 indicating least agreeable, happy or emotionally stable and most agreeable, depressed or neurotic respectively. A mid point of the scale with a score of zero indicated the original face.

Using one sample *t*-test against the test value of zero, we examined whether participants' response concurred with the instructions. When the mean was greater

than zero, it indicated the concurrence between responses and instructions. In a further analysis, we used 2 (sex of participants) * 6 (2 (sex of stimuli) * 3(task categories)) repeated measures ANOVA (Bonferroni corrected for multiple comparisons). The six categories 2 (sex of stimuli) * 3 (task categories) were within-subjects factors and sex of participants was the between-subjects factor. This analysis identified the main effect of the sex of participants and any interactions.

3.4 Results

A total of 50 (40 females) participants with age M = 19.70, SD = 1.876 and range (18 – 27) completed this study. The group mean and standard deviation of the responses to the six task categories are shown in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1. Mean accuracy (*M*) and standard deviation (*SD*) for the scores from the face task.

	Agreeableness	Neuroticism	Depression
Female faces	-2.184 (3.612)	2.835 (3.490)	1.112 (3.278)
Male faces	2.492 (2.904)	2.245 (2.906)	4.308 (3.356)

Note. Descriptive statistics are reported as mean (standard deviation).

One sample *t*-test, corrected for multiple comparisons, showed that participants selected a face that was significantly different from the original face for all categories. When the participants made changes to the faces to look more neurotic, it was concurrent with the scale: female faces, t(49) = 5.743, p < .001, 95% *CI*(1.842, 3.826); male faces, t(49) = 5.463, p < .001, 95% *CI*(1.419, 3.070), and the positive *t* values for male and female faces indicated consistency across sex of stimulus. Similarly, consistent responses were seen for depression: female faces, t(49) = 2.399, p = .003, 95% *CI*(.180, 2.043); male faces, t(49) = 9.077, p < .001, 95% *CI*(3.354, 5.262). The male faces had a greater score than female faces, although the direction of the change was the same. Except for agreeableness, responses were differential to sex of stimuli: female faces, t(49) = -4.272, p < .001, 95% *CI*(-3.211, -1.156); male faces, t(49) = 6.068, p < .001, 95% *CI*(1.666, 3.317). The male faces were changed in concurrence with the instructions and the scale but changes to female faces were made opposing to the instructions.

A 2 (sex of participant) * 6 (2 sex of stimulus) * 3 (categories)) repeated measures ANOVA (Bonferroni corrected for multiple comparisons) showed no significant main effect of sex of participant, F(1, 48) = .627, p = .432. There was a significant within-subjects main effect of sex of stimulus, F(1, 48) = 19.069, p < .001, which was due to the estimated mean (*EM*) score for female faces (0.800) being lower than male faces (3.047). This reflects on the lower score for female faces on the agreeableness and depression scale, as seen in Table 3.3. There was also a significant within-subjects main effect of category, F(2, 48) = 17.190, p < .001. Pairwise comparisons showed that the *EM* response on the agreeableness scale (*EM* = 0.355) was significantly different from the depression scale (*EM* = 3.299, p < .001) and the neuroticism scale (*EM* = 2.117, p = .007). The response on depression scale was also significantly different from response on neuroticism scale (p = .047).

In addition, we observed a significant interaction between sex of stimulus and category, F(2, 48) = 7.051, p = .001. This suggests that the difference in accuracy for the categories were different across sex of stimulus. The *EMs* highlights this difference for male and female faces as observed for agreeableness (female, -.1.51; male, 2.22) and depression (female, 1.69; male, 4.90) scales, but not for neuroticism (female, 2.21; male, 2.02) scale. This interaction between category*sex of stimulus is show in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3. Interaction of category (agreeableness, neuroticism, and depression) and sex of stimulus (female and male faces), showing differential response for male and female faces on agreeableness and depression scales, but not neuroticism.

Finally, we found a significant category*sex of participant interaction, F(1, 48) = 5.667, p = .005, indicating differential accuracy for categories across sex of participants, which is explained by the estimated means shown in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2. Estimated marginal means to explain the category*sex of participants interaction.

	Agreeableness	Neuroticism	Depression
Female participants	0.02	2.82	2.32
Male participants	0.69	1.41	4.28

Despite the *EMs* being similar on the agreeableness scale across sex of participants, it has to be noted that the low mean score reflect the opposing scores for male and female faces as reported in Table 3.1. Both male and female participants made changes consistent to instructions only to male faces on the agreeableness scale. On the depression and neuroticism face scales, female participants made quite similar changes unlike male participants, which reflects on this significant difference. Male participants made greater changes to faces on the depression scale than on the

neuroticism scale. Thus showing least difference across sex of participant in the accuracy for the neuroticism scale.

3.5 Discussion

This is a pilot study to develop and test the face task with the intent to identify the best of three face scales. The best scale will be used to measure self and social attributions in later studies. The three scales included agreeableness, depression and neuroticism, with the scores from -9 (lower trait/state) to +9 (higher trait/state). The midpoint of the scale was zero, representing the original face. There were five main questions to be answered with this study.

The first question was whether the face task would elicit systematic attributions. This can be confirmed by the results of the one sample *t*-test against the test value zero, representing the original face. That is, if responses were made at random the mean response would be zero, representing the original face. The results showed that participants selected a face that was significantly different from the original face, for all the three categories.

The second question was whether the responses were congruent to the instruction and gradation of the scale, for all the categories. We can answer this question by further exploring the results from the one-sample *t* tests. The *t* values for the neurotic and depression scales indicated that the faces were changed to look more neurotic and depressed respectively, which was congruent to the instruction and the scale, and consistent across sex of stimulus. However, the *t* values for the agreeableness scale indicated a differential response. The male faces were changed to look more look more agreeable, which was instruction-scale congruent. Whereas, the female faces were changed to look less agreeable, which was instruction-scale incongruent.

Thus, the responses to instructions were congruent on the neuroticism and depression scales, and to male faces on the agreeableness scale.

The third question was whether the responses are consistent to male and female faces in this task. As explained above, the response on the agreeableness scale was differential to sex of stimulus. Regarding the depression and neuroticism scales, the results confirm the changes made to both male and female faces were congruent to the scale. On the depression scale, there were differences in how male and female faces were perceived, as confirmed by the significant interaction of sex of stimulus and category (shown in Figure 3.3). Thus, it was only the neuroticism scale that elicited consistent responses across male and female faces.

The fourth question was whether the responses are consistent from male and female participants in this task. The repeated measures ANOVA showed no main effect of sex of participant. It has to be noted however the study sample could not be controlled for sex ratio and had a small number of males, which is a limitation of this study. Although we did not observe any significant sex differences, it is possible that with a much larger sample of males we might have measured a significant difference in the degree to which traits influenced attributions to self and to others' faces. However, it should be noted that the general patterns relating attribution to traits was always in the same direction for men and for women.

Finally, the fifth question related to identifying the best of three scales based on instruction-scale congruence across sexes (stimulus and participants). From the results so far, the neurotic scale was instruction-scale congruent across sexes (stimulus and participant) and therefore clearly the best of the three categories.

3.6 Conclusion

In this study, we created a 19-point visual scale using face stimuli that could be adapted for future studies. On the basis of five criteria relating to validity and consistency, the neurotic scale was identified as the best of three scales used in this study and therefore chosen for future studies to investigate self and social attributions of individuals.

CHAPTER 4 – Neurotic face signals: What we perceive?

Abstract

Previous research has shown the accuracy for facial cues of neuroticism was reduced with tryptophan depletion (TD), which was similar to reduced accuracy for facial emotions of fear as reported by other TD studies. We propose that neuroticism trait overlaps with social and emotional information. In Study 1, we investigate the different social attributions that could be associated with neuroticism trait. We propose that the facial cues of high and low neuroticism are differentiated, and associated with perceptions of respective mood state. We further examine the subjective perceptions of attractiveness and perceptions of sex-typicality that are associated with high neuroticism. In Study 2, we investigate the perception of fearrelated characteristics associated with high neuroticism. The results from Study 1 showed that high and low neurotic facial cues were systematically differentiated, and associated with appropriate mood state. Additionally, high neuroticism was systematically perceived as unattractive, but was perceived as feminine from female face and as masculine from male face. In Study 2, fear-related characteristics were systematically associated with high neuroticism.

4.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter, we found that the neurotic face scale elicited the most consistent and accurate responses from participants. This scale is anchored in the statistical regularities of visual appearance relating to high and low neuroticism, as embodied by the composites of men and women with extreme trait neuroticism scores. In this chapter, I present two studies investigating some of the social attributes that are consistently associated with the visual appearance of neuroticism.

Attribution refers to the inferences of the cause of behaviour and events individuals observe (Kelley & Michela, 1980; Malle, 2011a; Weiner, Nierenberg, & Goldstein, 1976). Attributions made in a social context refer to social attribution and this includes the processing of social cues from the faces of other individuals. Some social cues, such as the concept of emotions, have generally accepted attributions in the wider society. For instance, faces expressing pain were attributed as sad (Kappesser & Williams, 2002). So certain facial expressions, including subtle facial cues can derive some widely accepted attributions. Scott et al. (2013) reported depressive facial cues being perceived as less socially acceptable. Neurotic face composites used in our previous study would have comparable facial cues with depression, and therefore reasonable to query what social attributes could be associated with neurotic traits. We propose that face signals of neuroticism could also be associated with some social attributes.

In the two studies here, we looked in more detail at the attributions made to these composite faces that display cues of high and low in trait neuroticism. In Study 1, we investigated average perceptions of neuroticism and mood state associated with neurotic face signals; specifically, whether high neurotic face signals will be perceived as anxious and unhappy, and less neurotic face signals will be perceived as emotionally stable and happy. A consensus of such attributions of neurotic facial cues across male and female faces can confirm the widely accepted positive and negative social concepts relating to these traits. This could further confirm the quality of the neurotic composites. Besides these typical perceptions, Study 1 also investigated subjective perceptions associated with neurotic facial traits, such as concepts of femininitymasculinity and attractiveness-unattractiveness. Prior research reported facial cues of high neuroticism being attributed as feminine from female composite faces (Cunningham, 1986; Jones & Hill, 1993; Rhodes, Hickford, & Jeffery, 2000) , but did not demonstrate such clear attribution of male faces (Little, Jones, Penton-Voak, Burt, & Perrett, 2002; Little & Hancock, 2002; Perrett et al., 1998). Inconsistency regarding masculinity could be related to changing social norms that encourage men to be expressive, cuddle and nurture their offspring, which might be preferred by contemporary women. Sexual dimorphism also affects differential perceptions of attractiveness, showing strong correlation with femininity but not with masculinity (Komori, Kawamura, & Ishihara, 2009; Rhodes et al., 2000). Thus, this study will provide insight into perceptions driven by facial cues of neuroticism.

We further examine other biases relating to neurotic facial cues. We used a different pair of neurotic composites along with composites of other Big Five personality traits in a previous TD study (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016) and reported decreased accuracy only for neurotic traits following TD. Previous TD studies using emotional faces found similar decreased accuracy for fear (Harmer et al., 2003b). Fear is widely associated with anxiety, and studies have reported reduced accuracy for fear in individuals diagnosed with anxiety and depressive disorders (Reeb-Sutherland et al., 2014; Walker, Jiang, Vetter, & Sczesny, 2011). Signals of fear and the accuracy for processing these signals are therefore closely linked with behavioural maladaptation relating to wider psychological disorders. Such evidence prompted the question, whether fear and neurotic traits have shared or overlapping face signals. Study 2 was designed to investigate whether the neurotic face signals are

attributed as more fearful. This will provide insight into the attributions made to face signals of neurotic traits and as we will see later, support the rationale for using the neurotic face composites in future studies which could have clinical implications.

Ultimately, both studies here shed light on the quality of the neurotic face composites. In Study 1, we propose that high neurotic traits will be perceived as anxious and unhappy, while low neurotic traits will be perceived as emotionally stable and happy. These elements of positive and negative attributions have general connotations, and therefore we hypothesis consistency of such perceptions for male and female faces. We further examine whether more neurotic traits are perceived as feminine or masculine and as attractive or unattractive. In Study 2, we propose that the facial cues of neuroticism will be attributed as fear-related characteristics.

4.2 Methods

The School of Psychology Ethics and Governance Committee at Bangor University approved both studies. We invited students from Bangor University who gave informed consent and participated in both studies; 130 participants completed Study 1 and 34 participants completed Study 2. They completed two-alternative forced choice task, where 2 pairs ((high–low) neurotic * (male–female) faces) of neurotic face composites were presented using Matlab. Only sex-congruent pairs (high-low) were presented. The questions appeared at the top of the screen and the participants responded by selecting a face for the answer. The tasks used in both studies had 16 trials (8 questions x 2 sex-congruent neurotic face pairs). The neurotic composites used in the previous study to create the 19-point face scale were used in the current studies. The process of developing composite faces is explained previously in Chapter 3. In Study 1, participants selected whether the composite high or low in neuroticism was the better match for socially desirable and undesirable characteristics. The questions comprised, "Who is happier?", "Who is unhappy?", "Who is more emotionally stable?", and "Who is more anxious?". Choice of emotionally stable face as happy or emotionally stable and neurotic face as unhappy or anxious were accounted as accurate. Two questions relating to perceptions of sex ("Who is more feminine?" and "Who is more masculine?") and attractiveness ("Who is more attractive?" and "Who is least attractive?") were also included, to examine how the visual appearance of neuroticism mapped onto perceptions of sex-typicality and attractiveness.

In Study 2, the questions relating to less fearful characteristics included, "Who looks more courageous?", "Who looks more confident?", "Who looks calmer?" and "Who looks happier?". The questions relating to more fearful characteristics include, "Who looks more frightened?", "Who looks more fearful?", "Who looks more afraid?", and "Who looks sadder?". The choice of less neurotic face for less fearful, and more neurotic face for fearful characteristics, were accounted as accurate.

We aggregated the responses to obtain group mean accuracies. Using one sample *t*-test against the test value of 0.5 (50% accuracy), we examined the better than chance accuracy. In addition, we used paired samples *t*-test to examine stimuli-sex difference. Since the previous study confirmed consistent accuracy for neurotic traits from male and female observers, we did not look at observer-sex difference.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Study 1

A total of 130 observers participated in this study. Using one sample *t*-test against the test value of .50 (corrected for multiple comparisons), we observed significant accuracy for identifying less neurotic facial cues as happy (female face, t(129) = 11.38, p < .001; male face, t(129) = 7.89, p < .001) and emotionally stable (female face, t(129) = 5.91, p < .001; male face, t(129) = 7.56, p < .001). Similarly, we observed significant accuracy for identifying facial cues of high neuroticism as unhappy (female face, t(129) = 8.52, p < .001; male face, t(129) = 8.52, p < .001) and anxious (female face, t(129) = 5.42, p < .001; male face, t(129) = 10.45, p < .001). The paired sample *t*-test (corrected for multiple comparisons) showed significant difference in the accuracy for perceiving neurotic traits as anxious from female and male faces, t(129) = -2.40, p = .001. This differential accuracy was driven by greater accuracy for perceiving anxiousness from male composite face, rather than lack of accuracy from female composite face. Thus, we demonstrate that positive and negative perceptions are on average made consistently to low and high neurotic facial traits respectively. The group mean accuracies (Figure 4.1), and 95% confidence intervals for each category, are given in Table 4.1.

Composites	М	95% CI	M	95% CI
	Нарру		Emotionally	y Stable
Female faces	85%**	.79 to .92	73%**	.65 to .81
Male faces	78%**	.71 to .86	78%**	.70 to .85
	Unhappy		Anxious	
Female faces	80%**	.73 to .87	72%**	.64 to .79
Male faces	82%**	.75 to .88	84%**	.77 to .90

Table 4.1. Mean accuracy *(M)* and 95% *CI* of positive and negative attributions made to low and high neurotic composite faces respectively.

Note. Reported mean accuracy in percentage, ** p < .001; CI, Confidence Interval



Figure 4.1. Accuracies for the positive and negative attributions made to low and high neurotic face composites respectively with error bars showing 1+/- se. * p < .05

We did similar analysis for the subjective perceptions of femininity, masculinity, attractiveness and unattractiveness. We were interested in exploring how these attributions mapped on to the high neurotic composite face. One sample *t*-tests against the test value of 0.5 (corrected for multiple comparisons), showed significantly less than chance for high neurotic traits to be perceived as attractive from female, t(129) = -5.186, p < .001 and male, t(129) = -5.662, p < .001, faces.

Consistently, the analysis also showed significantly better than chance for high neurotic traits be perceived as unattractive from female, t(129) = 2.505, p = .001, and male, t(129) = 5.186, p < .001, faces. Thus, we show that high neurotic traits were not perceived as attractive from either female or male faces, but were systematically perceived as unattractive. This consistency was also reflected in the results of paired sample *t*-test that did not show any significant stimuli-sex difference relating to these perceptions.

In contrast to the results so far, we found differential perceptions of femininity and masculinity from female and male neurotic faces. One sample t-test against the test value of 0.5 (corrected for multiple comparisons), showed significantly better than chance for high neurotic traits to be perceived as feminine only from female faces, t(129) = 2.318, p = .001. Despite the non-significant (n.s.) difference (shown by paired sample *t*-test) in perceptions of femininity from female and male faces, the perception from male faces was only at chance level (Figure 4.2). Furthermore, high neurotic traits were perceived as masculine from male faces nonsignificantly above chance, but at less than chance level from female faces. This differential perception of masculinity from male and female faces was statistically significantly different, t(129) = 2.595, p = .001. These results demonstrate that sextypical perception of facial cues of high neuroticism was evident from female face, and at a chance level from male face; however, neither of these perceptions appear to be driven by attractiveness in this study. The group mean scores (Figure 4.2) and 95% confidence interval for femininity, masculinity, attractiveness and unattractiveness for female and male high neurotic faces are given in Table 4.2.

Composites	М	95% CI	М	95% CI	
	Attractive		Unattractive		
Female	29%**	.21 to .37	61%*	.52 to .69	
Male	27%**	.20 to .35	71%**	.63 to .79	
	Feminine		Masculine		
Female	60%*	.51 to .69	42%	.34 to .51	
Male	51%	.48 to .59	58%	.49 to .66	

Table 4.2. Mean frequency of attributions (*M*) and 95% *CI* for attractiveness and unattractiveness, and femininity and masculinity from male and female high neurotic composite faces.

Note. Reported mean accuracy in percentage, ** p < .001, * p < .05; CI, Confidence Interval



Figure 4.2. The frequency of attributing attractiveness, unattractiveness, femininity, and masculinity to high neurotic face composites with error bars showing 1+/- se. * p < .05

4.3.2 Study 2

I will now focus on the second study of this chapter in which we investigated whether fear-related characteristics are associated with neurotic traits. A total number of 34 participants with age M = 28.03, SD = 12.76 and range (18 - 57) completed this study. The participants completed a two-alternative forced choice experiment to identify fear-related characteristics from facial cues of neuroticism.

Using one sample *t* test (corrected for multiple comparisons) we observed that fear-related characteristics were identified from female face with an accuracy of 64.71% that was significantly better than chance, t(33) = 3.644, p < .001, 95% *CI*(0.56, 0.73). Similarly, fear-related characteristics were identified from male face with an accuracy of 79.04% that was also significantly better than chance, t(33) = 9.771, p < .001, 95% *CI*(0.73, 0.85). The results are shown in Figure 4.3. A paired sample *t* test showed statistically significant stimuli-sex difference, t(33) = -2.862, p = .002, 95% *CI*(-0.24, -0.04), which was driven by greater accuracy for male face compared to female face. Thus, the neurotic trait signals were systematically identified as fear-related characteristics from both male and female high neurotic composite faces.



Figure 4.3. Accuracy for identifying fear from male and female high neurotic composite faces with error bars showing 1+/- se.
4.4 Discussion

The two studies in this chapter examined a variety of attributions made to neurotic face composites, the results of which have implications on later studies in this thesis. Firstly, we demonstrated that attributes of happy or emotionally stable and unhappy or anxious were systematically identified with facial cues of emotionally stable and high neuroticism respectively, across sexes. Results most consistent with ours come from a study by Scott et al. (2013), reporting how depressive cues were identified as less socially desirable. In our study, facial cues of high neuroticism were attributed as negative and this will not only confirm the quality of our composites but also inform future attribution studies that use the neurotic face scale developed using these composites. We propose that our neurotic face scale will also elicit similar positive and negative biases.

Secondly, high trait neuroticism was associated with sex-typicality rather than a simple femininity or masculinity shift. That is, high neuroticism in female faces was perceived as feminine, which concurs with previous research (Little et al., 2008). High neuroticism from male face was perceived as masculine at non-significantly better than chance level while perception of femininity was only at chance level, the reason for which is unclear, but we could query whether it is related to perceived attractiveness. Enhanced dimorphism is often associated with attractiveness (Rhodes, 2006), although this is more robustly seen with women's than men's faces (Perrett et al., 1998). In the current study, however, high neuroticism was systematically perceived as unattractive, and it is unclear how the same might elicit sex-typical perceptions of femininity and masculinity. Attractiveness has been associated with face symmetry. Prior studies reported that faces of individuals with high neuroticism traits were observed to be asymmetric, and therefore unattractive (Noor & Evans, 2003; Shackelford & Larsen, 1997; Shuler, 2012). Unlike the previous studies, we used composites that are averages of individual faces and the composite method eliminates or greatly reduces fluctuating asymmetry. Thus, the main varying factor in the composites is the facial cues of neuroticism, which appears to be driving sex-typical perceptions of femininity from female faces and masculinity from male faces (n.s.).

The overall evidence demonstrates that facial cues of high neuroticism appear to be driving systematic negative perceptions of anxiety, unhappiness, and unattractiveness, whereas facial appearance of emotional stability appears to be driving systematic perceptions of positive characteristics such as emotional stability, happy mood state, and attractiveness. The results so far, support the quality of the composites as well as the questions that attain systematic responses and therefore the questions relating to positive and negative perceptions will be used in future attribution studies.

Finally, we demonstrated fear-related characteristics being consistently identified with neurotic traits. Our literature search did not find similar studies investigating attribution of fear from neurotic face composites and therefore this study provides new evidence of fear-related characteristics associated with face signals of high neuroticism. Previous studies reported reduced accuracy for facial emotion of fear with TD (Harmer et al., 2003b; Merens et al., 2008), while our previous TD study (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016) showed similar reduced accuracy for neurotic face composites, following depletion. TD is used to investigate the behavioural and neural effects of acute neurobiological changes relating to depression. Therefore the neurotic face composites could be used for future studies involving individuals experiencing depression, not only because the neurotic traits are closely linked with depression but also because of its overlap with fear-related characteristics. Fear is one of the basic emotions (Ekman et al., 1992), and the perception of related characteristics from faces displaying neurotic traits may be the reason why it was easier for participants to attribute generic positive and negative social meaning to these composite pairs, as demonstrated in Study 1 of this chapter.

4.5 Conclusion

Study 1 demonstrated systematic association of facial cues of high neuroticism with negative attributions and emotional stability with positive attributions. We further observed sex-typical perceptions of facial cues of high neuroticism, that is, femininity from female neurotic face and masculinity from male neurotic face (n.s), despite evidence of systematic perceptions of unattractiveness relating to high neuroticism observed in this study. Thus, it appears that cues, other than attractiveness, are driving sex-typical perceptions.

Based on the evidence from Study 2, we conclude that fear was accurately identified from the neurotic face composites. This was systematically perceived from female and male faces. Thus, the overlap of fear-related characteristics and neurotic signals in the composites make them uniquely adaptable for studies involving clinical populations of depression and anxiety.

PART C – Individual differences in attributions of facial appearance

In the next three experimental studies, I will be discussing methods and results from an attribution task based on facial appearance. In this section, I will give a "big picture" view of the different attribution tasks, what they are measuring, and how they are related.

In the previous chapters, I discussed the process of developing and piloting the stimuli for the attribution task using face images. As a first step, the composite faces of three personality traits were created (neuroticism, agreeableness, and depression). The scales based on the three traits were compared for their accuracy and consistency across sexes (stimuli and observers), and we found that participants were more accurate and consistent in their response on the neuroticism scale. Further to this evidence of the quality of the Neurotic Face Scale, there is also evidence of neurotic traits being closely related to depression. That is, the Neurotic Face Scale illustrates progressive change in the visual appearance of low and high neuroticism, and for those at low and high risk of depression. In this light, it is interesting to investigate how individuals experiencing depression would make attributions on the Neurotic Face Scale. Using this scale for the attribution tasks, we will investigate self, social, and observer's attributions, and discuss the results in three different chapters in this section. Below I discuss these different, but related, attribution tasks.

Attribution, with regard to the studies discussed here, refers to attributions made to facial appearance, either one's own appearance or other peoples'. The facial attribution task I use extends previous work on self and social attributions. Attribution generally refers to the explanation for behaviours, such as inferences (e.g., reason for behaviours) or ascriptions (e.g., blame to a person) (Malle, 2011). When these are

self-directed, it accounts to self-attributions, and when directed at others, it refers to social attributions (Harvey, Madison, Martinko, Crook, & Crook, 2014; Weiner, 1985). Individuals are therefore making inferences or giving meaning to behaviours, because they do not have complete access to their (or other's) internal states such as attitudes, beliefs, emotions, motives and traits (Heider, 1958; Niemiec, 2007). Inferring attributes from the observations of own behaviours and the situational contexts in which they occurred, rely on mental representation of self (Markus & Wurf, 1987).

Markus and Wurf (1987) discussed different types of self-representations such as the 'ideal self' (Rosenberg, 1989), the 'actual self' (Higgins, Klein, & Strauman, 1985), and concepts of 'positive self' and 'negative self' (Andersen, Tuskeviciute, Przybylinski, Ahn, & Xu, 2015; Decker, 1985; Sullivan, 1953). The different types of selves are essentially how individuals perceive themselves, and therefore relate to their subjective mental representations of self (Bodenhausen & Morales, 2013). The subjective role of these representations of self is illustrated by the fact that they are modulated by attention bias, inferences and cognitive distortions (Bodenhausen & Morales, 2013). Markus and Wurf (1987) proposed that conflicting selfrepresentations or a discrepancy between representations of self can induce a state of discomfort, and different kinds of discrepancies produce different types of discomfort relating to different mental health disorders. Various self-discrepancies were found to be associated with body dissatisfaction (Strauman, Vookles, Berenstein, Chaiken, & Higgins, 1991), depression and anxiety disorders (Phillips & Silvia, 2010a; Roelofs et al., 2007).

C.1 The Attribution Tasks

In the attribution tasks, I will be using observers' selection from a continuum of face variation, a face that best matched a predefined attribution. As indicated earlier, the Neurotic Face Scale was used in all the attribution tasks reported here. In these tasks, a single face was morphed between two specific anchor images, reflecting high emotional stability at one end and high neuroticism at the other. The original face was referenced with value 0, images of increasing emotional stability were increasing negative values (-9 minimum), and images of increasing neuroticism were increasing positive values (+9 maximum). This is illustrated in Figure C.1. In the selfattribution task, the face being morphed on the Neurotic Face Scale was the observer's own face. For attributions to others, the faces used were those of unfamiliar men and women. In all cases, observers were given a question to apply, such as "most attractive", and move back and forth through the images one at a time until they were satisfied that they have found the image best matching the question. Observers were not told about the nature of the scale, that it is a neurotic appearance scale that varies from emotional stability to neuroticism, or about the numerical rating associated with their image choice. In this way, very similar procedures were used for self- and otherattribution tasks, the main differences being the kinds of questions we can sensibly ask about self and others.



Emotionally stable



Morphed towards average

emotionally stable

appearance



Neurotic



Morphed towards average neurotic

appearance

6+

°4

4

94

₽ T

4

£

+2

7

0

Ļ

4

Ϋ́

4

ч

φ

<u>-</u>

တု

ሳ



photograph in the middle (0) depicts the sequence of images in the order on the 19-point Figure C.1. The graphical representations of an individual's photograph being warped from being emotionally stable (-9) to being neurotic (+9) and the individual's original towards emotionally stable and neurotic composite images. A row of warped images Neurotic Face Scale. Our aim was to look at the full range of attributions relating to self and others. We can refer to the individuals of most interest as "actors" when comparing self and others' attributions. We examined the attributions the actors made to themselves (selfattributions) in Chapter 5, the attributions the actors made to others (social attributions) in Chapter 6, and the attributions others made to the actors (observer attributions) in Chapter 7. The three attributions are illustrated in Figure C.2. In Chapter 7, we further triangulated these three attributions. By measuring and triangulating these attributions, we can understand the relationship between them. For instance, this paradigm will enable us to study how an actor's self-attributions are similar or dissimilar to their attributions to others (social attributions), as well as the attributions others' make to the actor (observer attributions). This is an invaluable means to investigate the dynamics between the three attributions, which are made solely on the subtle information gathered from the neurotic appearance of the faces.



Figure C.2. Illustration of the three different perspectives that were investigated in the three attribution studies. Attributions of actors on their self-image were self-attributions. Attributions of actors on the images of unfamiliar others were social attributions. Attributions of unfamiliar observers on the image of actors were observer attributions.

C.2 Self-attribution

Our self-attribution task used the framework of the previous work on selfattributions, and provided four basic self-attribution measures based on facial appearance: actual self, ideal self, positive self and negative self. These are called basic measures because actors made ratings directly related to them. Discrepancies between these basic measures were also expected to be informative, as in previous research on self-attribution (Markus & Wurf, 1987), and could be associated with inherent traits and transient states. For example, a person experiencing depressive symptoms exhibits greater self-negativity (Beck, 2008), and might therefore make less distinction when choosing actual self and negative self. In contrast, a person with greater self-esteem exhibits greater self-positivity (Watson, Dritschel, Obonsawin, & Jentzsch, 2007), and therefore might make less distinction when choosing actual self and positive self. Thus, we measured actor's self-discrepancies as the magnitude of separation between their basic self-attributions on the Neurotic Face Scale. When the two images identified as actual and negative selves are less separated, there is less distinction between those two mental representations of self, as illustrated in Figure C.3. In this instance, it could be explained as the actor having greater self-negativity. On the contrary, if there were greater separation between the two images identified for actual and negative selves, as illustrated in Figure C.3, it would indicate lesser selfnegativity.





Figure C.3. The figure illustrates the magnitude of separation between the attributions of actual self and negative self on the Neurotic Face Scale. a) Shows greater separation between the two attributions, and refers to lesser self-negativity. b) Shows lesser separation between the two attributions, and refers to greater self-negativity. This illustration explains how the measures of magnitude of separation (separation index) between the attributions can reflect on actor's self-discrepancies.

Each discrepancy measure is reported here as a separation index (SI), calculated as the square root of the square of the difference between two attribution scores. For example, SI between perceived actual and negative selves was calculated as, $\sqrt{(actual - negative)^2}$. SI refers to the magnitude of separation between the respective attributions on the 19-point neurotic face scale, as illustrated in Figure C.3. Three measures of discrepancies were computed as the separation indices (SIs). The SI of actual-ideal pair referred to the classic *self-discrepancy* (ie, the discrepancy between perceived actual and ideal self), the actual-negative pair referred to selfnegativity, and actual-positive pair referred to self-positivity. Greater SI therefore

indicates greater distinction between the respective perceptions. On this basis, greater SI scores mean greater separation between the two basic self-attributions, and therefore refer to reducing self-negativity, and self-positivity, but increasing selfdiscrepancy. It means that two of the three SIs are inverse scales. To ensure consistency of increasing scores referring to increasing self-negativity and selfpositivity, in the same way as self-discrepancy, the inverse scales were reverse scored.

The self-attribution task thus provided a total of seven scores: four basic selfattribution scores and three SIs. In this task, actors responded on the Neurotic Face Scale in response to instructions relating to images of their own face. The selfattribution task was developed with the intention to explore individual differences in self-attribution, and the possibility of monitoring subtle behaviour changes. I argue that it has two useful qualities in this regard. First, the nature of the scale allows for significant individual variation in the basic and SI measures. This might not be the case for example, if we directly followed the work of Scott et al. (2013) in which an individual face is morphed to create just two images displaying "high depression" and "low depression" self, and then participants picked their most preferred self or most positive self. Second, participants are not told that face images vary in appearance of emotional stability to neuroticism. That is, judgements relating to facial neuroticism are entirely implicit, as participants simply see unlabelled continuous variation of facial appearance. Therefore, the self-attributions will be less likely to be contaminated by explicit biases about the social value of emotional stability or neuroticism. Existing literature supports that with ambiguous or limited information individuals depend on self-inference, whilst making attributions (Mitchell, Banaji, & Neil Macrae, 2005). In light of these, I propose that these qualities make our attribution paradigm more sensitive to actor's mood and wellbeing state.

C.3 Social attribution

The attribution task was adapted to measure social attribution in a way similar to self-attribution, by using photographs of other individuals to create the Neurotic Face Scale. Having the actors from the self-attribution task rate other people's faces, allows us to see whether any biases in self-attribution carry over into attribution of others. As in the self-attribution task discussed above, the participants were instructed to scroll through the image sequences to make the presented face look positive (happy, calm and most attractive) and negative (unhappy, anxious and least attractive). Theory of Mind postulates that, when making social attributions with limited information, individuals tend to make inference to self in order to understand or give meaning to other's behaviours (Mitchell et al., 2005). Inference to self, inadvertently relates to individual's basic traits and mood state, but tapping into these processes requires paradigms that allow more automatic processing. Previous research supports automatic processing of face stimuli (Axelrod et al., 2015; Winston, Strange, O'Doherty, & Dolan, 2002), and our social attribution paradigm using faces of unfamiliar individuals, promises sensitive measures that depend on self-inference. Another study reported exaggerated perception of dynamic facial expression in clinical population (Sato, Uono, & Toichi, 2013; Trautmann-Lengsfeld, Domínguez-Borràs, Escera, Herrmann, & Fehr, 2013), suggesting aberrant perception of facial cues. These studies support our proposition that the measures from the social attribution task could show the effect of actor's inherent traits and transient states on their social attributions. Unlike the self-attribution task, however, the social attribution task provided only two basic attribution scores highlighting one of their key differences.

The difference between the social and self-attribution tasks relates to the questions that can be sensibly asked. In the social attribution task, the actors saw a number of men's and women's faces, and were instructed to make the presented face look most positive and most negative. That is, unlike the self-attribution task, actors did not indicate an "actual" or "ideal" appearance. Another important factor of the social attribution task is that, we endeavoured to control for the mood state of the observed others in order to control for the related variations in the face signals as observed by the actors. To ensure this consistency, the faces were selected from an existing database, on the basis of low depression scores. Lower depression score shows that individuals are experiencing milder depression. As explained in Chapter 1, it would indicate that the individuals are experiencing fewer or milder depressive symptoms. This was important to ensure we are measuring the actor's mental representation relating to their mood state and trait, and not a complex interaction of these with the mood state of others', who are being observed. For example, if the observed others' face displayed their low mood state then it would be further exaggerated on the Neurotic Face Scale. Furthermore, we endeavoured to control for the unknown factors that may affect attributions, by ensuring the social attribution task was completed in the same session as the self-attribution task.

C.4 Observer's attribution

The observer's attributions were measured using the same paradigm as the social attribution task. For the observer attribution task, the faces were those of the actors from the self-attribution task, and measured two basic attributions (i.e., positive and negative). This task allows us to assess whether the actors' self-attributions agree with the judgements made by external observers of the actors' faces. Unlike for the

social attribution task, we did not control for the observed actor's mood state because this study focused on investigating how observer's attribution related to actor's mood and wellbeing state. This line of thinking reflects on the social stigma or prejudice towards individuals experiencing problems relating to their mental health and wellbeing. By comparing and triangulating self, social and observer's attributions, we can get an overview of how actor's mood, wellbeing and trait may modulate not just their self-attributions and attributions of others, but also the attributions of the actors made by unfamiliar observers.

Actors and observers in all the three studies, in this section, completed a traitidentifying task, which is explained in Chapter 5. This task was to ensure that observers were able to accurately differentiate the high-low neurotic facial cues, from the composite faces, that were used as the anchor points for creating the Neurotic Face Scale.

C.5 Analysis plan

Using the attribution task in self, social and observer contexts, we measured a range of attributions. The attributions of ideal and actual self were made only in the context of self-attribution, whereas the positive and negative attributions were made in all the three contexts (i.e. self, social, and observer). The three responses for positive and negative attributes were averaged respectively, for scoring positive and negative attributions. Initially, all the individual responses were examined for their distribution, as well as the correlations between the individual responses for the respective positive and negative attributions. On the basis of these correlations, individual responses were averaged to score the positive and negative attributions.

We further explored how actor's mood, wellbeing, personality and attributional style, related to their self and social attributions as well as observer's attributions. The associations were explored using raw correlations, with the intention to portray the consistent picture emerging from all the significant correlations. I acknowledge the correlations do not equate to causation, and multiple correlations could bring false positives. However, using a simple method of putting together meaningful correlations to understand the bigger picture would be more suitable to gauge the quality of our new task. The non-significant correlations that contributed to the bigger picture were also reported in the results appropriately. The correlations of self and social attributions with the actor's mood, wellbeing, personality and attributional style helped to build a picture of the attribution task measuring the related subtle behavioural changes. More specifically, the results displayed the underlying link of attribution with mood, wellbeing and neuroticism. This is interesting because in Chapter 2, we reported wellbeing and neuroticism as predictors of depression. When the correlations provided a consistent picture of attributions relating to the aforementioned measures of trait and state, it substantiated the multifaceted quality of the new attribution task. The following self, social and observer attribution studies explore these relations, and are discussed in three separate chapters within this section. Since self-attribution is of key interest, its association with trait and state measures will be discussed in greater detail.

CHAPTER 5 – Looking in the mirror: Self-attributions

Abstract

Cognitions are affected by the mental representations of self and social cues. These can be negatively biased with depression and related traits, indicating misattributions and dysfunctions. We measured self-attributions of facial appearance using the novel self-attribution task. We propose that depression, wellbeing and neuroticism will relate to misattributions of self. The results consistently showed that participants with increasing severity of depression, low hedonic wellbeing and high neuroticism identified more neurotic images as their actual self, indicating an exaggerated negative perception of self. They also chose more neurotic images as their positive self, indicating increased misperceptions. Mental representations of selfnegativity increased with increasing depression and neuroticism, and decreasing hedonic wellbeing, while self-discrepancy decreased with increasing wellbeing. The misperceptions relating to depressogenic states and trait are consistent with the existing literature, and substantiate the self-attributions measured using our selfattribution task. We quantify self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy in visual modality, which are sensitive to emotional dysregulations.

5.1 Introduction

Self-attribution refers to the process by which individuals determine the antecedents and consequences of their own behaviours (Niemiec, 2007). They have previously been investigated using positive and negative words or adjectives (Munevar et al., 2014), scenarios (Ball, McGuffin, & Farmer, 2008) and affective pictures (Ochsner, Ray et al., 2004). Our most personal and individualising attribute, however, is likely to be our facial appearance. Self-face paradigms have been used to investigate self-recognition (Devue et al., 2007; Kircher et al., 2001), selfenhancement (Epley & Whitchurch, 2008; Felisberti & Musholt, 2014), and differentiation of self and other (Schulte-Rüther, Markowitsch, Fink, & Piefke, 2007). This evidence suggests that self-face stimuli activate self-referential processing with distinct neural underpinnings, and is useful to investigate emotional and cognitive processes relating to self (Keenan et al., 2000; Kircher et al., 2001). Important to this study, such self-referential processes are affected in those individuals experiencing depression (Christoff, Cosmelli, Legrand, & Thompson, 2011; Keenan et al., 2000).

More recently, a study used face-morphing technique to morph self-face in gradual gradients towards stranger-faces and famous-faces to create images that were presented in a two alternative forced choice paradigm (Liu et al., 2014). They reported self-face bias during face processing in patients with major depressive disorder, which was interpreted as impaired self-processing and self-recognition. Other studies have reported exaggerated perceptions of self (Uono, Sato, & Toichi, 2015) and negative bias during face processing (Anderson et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2016) in individuals experiencing mental health problems, indicating misattributions. Christoff et al., (2011) explained these observed misattributions on the basis of reduced connectivity within the self-processing neural networks in individuals with mental health disorders. These studies put together a picture of the unseen complimentary roles of neural mechanisms and attribution. From the observer's vantage, only the behavioural aspects are obvious, and these misattributions can detrimentally affect individual's social functioning leading to social isolation (Seivewright, Tyrer, & Johnson, 2004; Steger & Kashdan, 2009; Weightman, Air, & Baune, 2014), and further mediating

depressive symptoms such as feelings of worthlessness and loneliness (Seligman et al., 1979).

5.1.1 Attributions, depressive symptoms, and neuroticism

Cognitive styles have been investigated as vulnerability factors of depression (Bentall, Kinderman, & Kaney, 1994), besides the underlying neural mechanisms. These factors affect emotional regulation (Beauregard, Paquette, & Le`vesque, 2006; van Rossum, Dominguez, Lieb, Wittchen, & van Os, 2011) and reality distortion (Dobson & Shaw, 1981), driving the vicious cycle of distorted self and social attributions (Golin, Sweeney, & Shaeffer, 1981; Murphy & Bates, 1997; Pearson et al., 2015) leading to dysfunction. Most studies investigating attribution and depression used various self-esteem measures and the Attributional Style Questionnaire (ASQ) (Peterson et al., 1982), and found low self-esteem and depressive attributional style in individuals predisposed to depression (Bush, Ballard, & Fremouw, 1995; Seligman et al., 1979). Using the ASQ, it was found that those vulnerable to depression regard negative events as being caused by self (Ball et al., 2008), indicating a negative self-concept. Other studies have used stimuli of positive and negative words or adjectives (Munevar et al., 2014), and affective pictures (Ochsner, Knierim et al., 2004), which helped to understand that individuals experiencing depressive symptoms chose negative attributes to describe themselves. These studies substantiate the model of negative self-concept and misattributions disrupting social behaviours (Beck, 2008; Joiner, 2000). The above paradigms may be effective in measuring attributional style and negative self-concepts relating to depressive symptoms, but are limited in measuring visual self-attributions.

Measuring self-attributions of visual stimuli would benefit from paradigms using self-face. Kircher et al. (2001) found that self-face stimuli uniquely activated self-referential processing with distinct neural underpinnings. Medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC) and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) activations were identified with processes of self-referencing and recognising self-face (Keenan et al., 2000; Northoff et al., 2006; Qin & Northoff, 2011; Schneider et al., 2008), which are also closely linked to mood disorders (Lemogne et al., 2010; Lemogne, Delaveau, Freton, Guionnet, & Fossati, 2012). This link between behaviour and brain, could explain some of the behavioural symptoms of mood disorder. A major symptom of depression is negativity of self, which may be coupled with grandiosity of self in manic depression. The disruptions in the self-referential neural networks could explain such distorted self-perceptions in the bipolar spectrum. MPFC being an active link in the fronto-parietal attention network (Amodio & Frith, 2006) may also explain other mood disorder symptoms such as attention bias and inability to concentrate. Tryptophan depletion studies have shown the effect of neuromodulators in these networks, whilst processing face signals (Daly et al., 2010). Tryptophan is the precursor of serotonin, the depletion of which temporarily mimics a depressive neurobiology (Marsh et al., 2006; Young, 2013). Depleted tryptophan levels were associated with reduced accuracy for facial emotions such as fear (Harmer et al., 2003b; Hornboll et al., 2013) and trait signals of neuroticism (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016).

Prior studies have reported the strong association of neuroticism with mental health (Cheng & Furnham, 2003; Lahey, 2009), especially mood and anxiety disorders (McConville & Cooper, 1998; McCrae & Terracciano, 2005; McWilliams, 2003). In Chapter 2 of this thesis, I discussed the predictive role of neuroticism for the severity of depressive symptoms, which is further substantiated by neurobiological studies that reported the link between neuroticism and serotonin transporter binding (Hong et al., 2011; Stewart, Deary, & Ebmeier, 2002; Takano et al., 2007). There is evidence of greater neural activation whilst processing negative facial emotions, in those with greater neuroticism (Canli, 2004).

The studies discussed so far overwhelmingly support our proposition of misperceptions in general and specifically towards self, in relation to depressive mood and neuroticism. We propose to measure self-attributions, using our visual selfattribution task. Reflecting on the existing evidence, we propose that increasing depression and neuroticism will relate to increasing self-negativity, demonstrating misattributions. Such misattributions of self could perpetuate depression, disrupt social behaviours, and diminish wellbeing.

5.1.2 Attributions and wellbeing

Wellbeing is strongly associated with mental health and social functioning (Ryan & Deci, 2001; Seligman et al., 1979; Taylor & Brown, 1988). Wellbeing, commonly described as subjective wellbeing, consists of three interrelated components: life satisfaction, pleasant affect, and unpleasant affect (Diener & Lucas, 1999). Affect refers to pleasant and unpleasant moods and emotions (hedonic), whereas life satisfaction refers to a cognitive sense of satisfaction with life (eudemonic) (Diener et al., 2010). Essentially, subjective wellbeing accounts for both eudemonic and hedonic wellbeing, along with mood state. The hedonic perspective suggests that maximizing one's pleasurable moments is the pathway to happiness, whilst eudemonic perspective advocates that living a life of virtue, and actualizing one's inherent potentials improve wellbeing (Delle Fave et al., 2011). Previous studies support the association of individual's mental health and wellbeing with their concepts of self, such as self-image and self-esteem (Cheng & Furnham, 2003; Corning, 2002; Crocker & Luhtanen, 1990; Rathbone, Holmes, Murphy, & Ellis, 2015), which also affect their casual attributions of success and failure (Farid, Akhtar, & Qamar, 2014). We propose that our self-attribution measures will be associated with individual's wellbeing.

Self-attribution, in the context of our study, refers to attributions of self-facial appearance. The process of making attributions to self-facial appearance, involves multiple processes, such as recognition of self-image, processing facial cues, and self-referential processes. Face processing, especially self-face, involves more automatic processing, and therefore may be reliant on non-conscious processes (Axelrod et al., 2015). Our self-attribution paradigm would, therefore, provide sensitive measures of subtle behaviours elicited by mood, wellbeing, and other internal processes.

In this study, we measure self-attribution using our novel self-attribution task to investigate the association of individual's self-attributions with their depressive state, neuroticism trait and wellbeing state. We propose that depression, neuroticism and wellbeing will relate to self-attributions. Specifically, we propose that increasing severity of depressive symptoms, neuroticism and decreasing wellbeing will relate to increasing self-negativity.

5.2 Methods

We recruited 100 (69 females) participants with a mean age 20.41 ± 4.72 from the 1st and 2nd year undergraduate student population at Bangor University, who gave informed consent prior to participation and were compensated for their time in compliance with School of Psychology and Bangor University research ethics and regulations. After participation students were debriefed and provided with information regarding available psychological support. They completed questionnaires including: Inventory of Depressive Symptomology – self rated (IDS) (Rush et al., 1986; Rush et al., 1996) to measure depressive mood state, Flourishing Scale (FS) (Diener et al., 2010) and Scale of Positive and Negative Experiences (SPANE) (Diener et al., 2010) to measure eudemonic and hedonic wellbeing respectively, Mini International Personality Item Pool (MIPIP) (Donnellan et al., 2006) to measure personality, and ASQ (Peterson et al., 1982) to measure attributional style. All the above measures, except ASQ, have been described in Chapter 2.

Briefly, FS is an eight-item scale that provided a single measure of psychosocial flourishing relating to eudemonic wellbeing. The SPANE is a 12-item scale that measured three different scores for hedonic wellbeing (positive experience, negative experience and balanced experience). The positive and negative experience scores refer to the frequency of positive and negative experiences respectively, in the past four weeks. The balanced experience is computed as the difference between the positive and negative experiences scores. A greater balanced score indicate better wellbeing, with more positive than negative experiences; therefore used as the hedonic wellbeing measure. MIPIP provided the big five personality scores. ASQ has 12 different hypothetical events; six good and six bad events. These events also have additional quality of half being interpersonal or affiliative, and the other half being achievement related. Following each event are parallel questions. First step was to "write down the one major cause" of the event, and then to rate the cause along the three attributional dimensions, such as internal, stable and global. Finally, importance of the situation described was rated on a 7-point scale. By collapsing across the achievement-affiliation distinction, ASQ provides six sub scores, (internal, stable,

global) * (positive, negative), and two aggregate scores (composite style for good events and composite style for bad events).

Participants then completed the self-attribution task, in which they selected images of themselves they felt best matched the respective instructions. They also completed the trait-identifying task. Both the tasks were explained below.

5.2.1 Self-attribution task

The self-attribution task was set up using the participant's own photograph at the time of data collection. The data collection procedures for setting up the task included taking photograph of the participant, creating the image sequences and setting up the task. All the procedures were completed in a single session.

Photograph: A front facing portrait of each participant was taken using a Nikon D3000 camera, Nikon DX (AF-S Nikkor) 18-55 mm (1:3.5-5.6 G) lens, and Nikon SB-400 flash. The camera was placed on a tripod at an approximate height of 90 cm and participants seated approximately 215 cm away. The flash was turned 45° upwards facing the white ceiling, to provide soft/diffused lighting by bouncing light on to the subject. All other lightings were controlled. A full-face portrait taken, devoid of any make up or face tattoos and with a neutral expression (no expression), was used to set up the task.

Stimuli creation: The portraits taken in the first phase of the study were used to set up the self-attribution task. The portraits were cropped and rotated to present the correct pupil alignment along the transverse plane, to minimise differences due to posture or angle of the head. Portraits were cropped using Microsoft Photo Editor. Head rotation correction was done by aligning the midpoint of the eyes (iris) to the same temporal plane at 0° angle. These were then warped towards a pair of sexcongruent composite faces with high neuroticism and emotionally stable traits, respectively. Warping is a process of gradual change of the internal reference points of an individual face towards the respective reference points on the composite faces, as explained later. The composite face pairs of neuroticism were adopted from the study detailed in Chapter 4. The composites had accuracy of 69% for female pair and 77% for male pair, which was significantly better than chance.

Warping participant's photograph towards sex-congruent composite face pairs created the image sequences for the task. This was done using JPsychomorph (J. Chen & Tiddeman, 2010). In this process, 139 landmarks were identified on each photograph and then warped 100% towards the emotionally stable and the neurotic face composites, also accounting for their shape, colour and texture, to create 19 images. In the resultant Neurotic Face Scale, the original face was the mid-point of the scale and gradually changed with increasing emotionally stable facial appearance towards one end and neurotic facial appearance towards the other. The scores on the 19-point scale were from -9 (least neurotic) through 0 (original face) to +9 (most neurotic). Figure C.1 shows the graphical illustration of the warping process and the image sequences on the 19-point neurotic face scale. This is an implicit task because the participants were not aware of the underlying neurotic appearance of the scale.

Presentation: In the self-attribution task, the participant's own face images were presented using Matlab. The task presented with eight blocks (questions: ideal, actual, happy, emotionally stable, attractive, unhappy, anxious and least attractive) x 1 trial (self face) x 19 images (face warps). The blocks (questions) were randomly selected per presentation. The order of images (19 face warps) in the trial was randomly selected in each block. The 19 images (self-face warps) were presented (500x500 pixels) one at a time in the middle of a computer screen with instructions at the top, as shown in Figure 5.1. The images were presented one at a time in order of the sequence of the 19-point face scale and looped back and forth through the sequence to provide seamless increase and decrease of neurotic traits.

The instructions were to choose their actual ('Choose your actual face'), ideal ('Choose your ideal face'), positive self and negative self. There were three positive and negative self-attributions. The instructions for positive-self were, 'Make the face look most happy and content', 'Make the face look calm, stable and well-balanced' and 'Make the face look most attractive'. The instructions for negative-self were, 'Make the face look anxious and emotionally unstable' and 'Make the face look least attractive'.

The first image per presentation was randomly selected from the 19 images. When participants pressed either the right or left arrow keys, the images changed through a looped sequence in their order on the implicit neurotic face scale. This gave the impression of the presented face changing, as controlled by the participant. The presentation of looped sequence of images made it difficult for the observer to understand the lateral representation of the scale, and therefore its end points. Participants selected one image for each instruction by pressing spacebar. This task was not timed.



Figure 5.1. An illustration of a trial from the self and social attribution task as presented on a computer screen and viewed by the participants. When they press either the right or left arrow keys the presented face will appear to be changing. By continued pressing of either of the keys, will present the 19 images in a continuous looped sequence. Without a lateral representation, the end points of the scale were not obvious to the participants.

5.2.2 Trait identifying task

This task was used in all the attribution studies. The composites (male and female) of high neuroticism and emotionally stable traits, used as anchor points to create the sequence of images for the attribution tasks, were used in the trait-identifying task (two-alternative forced choice paradigm). The task had four presentations with 2 (questions) x 2 (sex-congruent neurotic face pair). The high-low neurotic pair that was also sex-congruent was presented at the same time with an instruction. The instructions read 'Who is more neurotic?' and 'Who is less neurotic?'. Descriptions for neuroticism such as 'experiencing frequent mood swings', 'getting upset easily', 'frequently tensed', 'feeling blue', as per Mini

International Personality Item Pool (Donnellan et al., 2006), were also provided. The results from this task confirmed the accuracy in identifying the neurotic traits from neutral looking composite faces.

5.3 Data Analysis

The primary outcome measures were the basic self-attributions (actual self, ideal self, positive self, and negative self) and the SIs. The positive self and negative self were computed as the average of three respective individual responses. The intercorrelations between the three individual responses are reported. We further report the correlations between the four basic self-attributions. The three SIs measured in this study include the SI of perceived actual self and perceived negative self (SI_{an}) measured self-negativity, the SI of perceived actual self and perceived positive self (SI_{ap}) measured self-positivity and the SI of perceived actual self and perceived ideal self (SI_{ai}) measured self-discrepancy. As explained previously, the inverse scales were reverse scored as required to ensure that increasing SI_{an}, SI_{ap} and SI_{ai} indicated increasing self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy respectively.

The secondary outcome measures were scores from IDS, FS, SPANE, ASQ and MIPIP. We use correlation analysis to identify associations between the primary and secondary measures. Reflecting on the predictors of depression discussed in Chapter 2, we will report and discuss the significant correlations of depression score, neuroticism and balanced wellbeing with the self-attribution measures. This will demonstrate the consistent picture of self-attribution in relation to mood state, trait and wellbeing. Self-attributions did not show significant correlations with FS, and showed differential associations with ASQ and the personality traits. The correlations that contribute towards demonstrating the quality of the self-attribution measures are briefly discussed in this chapter. We used trait-identifying task to measure participant's accuracy for the male and female composite faces. One sample *t*-test against the test value of 0.5 (50%) will identify better than chance accuracy in identifying traits from these composite faces, to confirm participant's accuracy. The bigger picture that emerges from all these results will be discussed.

5.4 Results

A total of 100 (69 female) participants with a mean age M = 20.41, SD = 4.725 and range = 18 – 56, participated in this study. The group had mean depression score M = 18.75, SD = 8.177, mean hedonic wellbeing score M = 9.320, SD = 7.768, and mean neuroticism score M = 2.822, SD = .885.

5.4.1 Trait identifying task

The one sample *t*-test against the test value 0.5 found significantly better than chance accuracy in identifying neurotic traits for female; 58%, t(99) = 2.264, p = .026, 95% *CI*(.009, .150) and male; 73%, t(99) = 7.697, p < .001, 95% *CI*(.174, .295) composite faces. This confirms participants' accuracy in judging neurotic traits from the composite faces. That is, the participants demonstrated an understanding of the neuroticism scale used to create the images, and accurately identified that one anchor appeared more neurotic than the other.

5.4.2 Exploring basic self-attributions

These are new measures of self-attribution and therefore we will explore the inter-reliability of the different measures. There are four basic self-attributions: actual self, ideal self, negative self and positive self. A score of zero indicates the participant's actual picture. Positive scores indicate the choice for the self-attribution

(e.g. actual self) was more neurotic in appearance; negative scores indicate the attribution was less neurotic in appearance.

5.4.2.1 Individual responses for positive and negative self-attributions: The positive self-attribution is an average of the responses for happy self, emotionally stable self and most attractive self. There were significant positive correlations between these three responses. Happy self correlated positively with emotionally stable self, r(100) = .400, p < .001 and attractive self, r(100) = .403, p < .001. Emotionally stable self also correlated positively with attractive self, r(100) = .528, p < .001. These correlations demonstrate consistency in participant's responses for the individual positive attributions.

The negative self-attribution was an average of the responses for unhappy self, anxious self and least attractive self. Again, there were significant positive correlations between the three responses. Unhappy self correlated positively with anxious self, r(100) = .228, p = .023 and least attractive self, r(100) = .236, p = .018. Anxious self also correlated positively with least attractive self, r(100) = .228, p = .023. Similar to the three correlations between the individual positive attributions, we demonstrate consistency in participant's responses for the individual negative attributions as well. These significant positive correlations between the respective individual responses substantiate the rationale for aggregating them to compute the positive and negative self-attributions.

5.4.2.2 Four basic self-attributions: Actual self correlated positively with ideal self, r(100) = .353, p < .001 and positive self, r(100) = .297, p = .003. This indicates that participant's perceived actual self concurred with their perceived ideal self and positive self. Ideal self correlated positively with positive self, r(100) = .695, p < .001

and negatively with negative self, r(100) = -.453, p < .001. A positive correlation indicates that those participants who identified more neurotic image as their positive self, also made similar attributions for their ideal self. Whereas, a negative correlation indicates that participants who identified more neurotic image as their negative self, attributed less neurotic images to their ideal self. These results show that perceived ideal self concurred with participant's perceived positive self and contrasted with their perceived negative self.

Positive self correlated negatively with negative self, r(100) = -.537, p < .001. This indicates participants who identified more neurotic images as their negative self, identified less neurotic images as their positive self. Here we see that 'perceived' positive and negative were distinctly differentiated in this task. We propose that 'perceived' positive and negative have influenced participants' attributions of their actual self in this study and relate to implicit distortions.

	Perceived	Perceived	Perceived	Perceived
	actual self	ideal self	positive self	negative self
Perceived actual self		.353**	.297*	084
Perceived ideal self			.695**	453**
Perceived positive self				537**
Perceived negative sel	f			

Table 5.1. Correlations between the basic self-attributions.

Note. Correlations are reported as Pearson's r, * p < .05, ** p < .001

One sample *t*-test against the test value of zero provided evidence for these influencing perceptions that were observed as basic positive and negative bias on the 19 point face scale. The mean positive self-attribution of -1.07 with *SD* of 3.64 was significantly more emotionally stable than original self-face, t(99) = 2.94, p = .004,

95% *CI*(-1.79, -0.35) and the mean negative self-attribution of 3.23 with *SD* of 4.43 was significantly neurotic than original self-face, t(99) = 7.29, p < .001, 95% *CI*(2.35, 4.11). These results suggest that on average there was positive bias for emotionally stable appearance and negative bias for neurotic appearance, which was consistent with the results discussed in Chapter 4. The interesting fact is, that despite having 19-point scale that allowed greater variance in responses, on average, such basic biases were maintained.

Overall, the results demonstrate that the basic self-attributions are correlated in the expected manner, and demonstrate basic biases. It also confirms participants' understanding of the task, and ability to use the scales in a consistent pattern of responding. Now we proceed to examine how participant's mood, wellbeing and neuroticism could affect their individualistic self-attributions more than their average positive and negative biases.

5.4.3 Self-attributions, depression, hedonic wellbeing and neuroticism

We examine whether self-attributions are revealing in the sense of being correlated with individual differences in traits related to depression, neuroticism and wellbeing. Neuroticism and hedonic wellbeing were significant predictors for depression, as reported in Chapter 2, and therefore we focus on their correlations with our measures of self-attributions (Table 5.2). Eudemonic wellbeing had nonsignificant correlations with self-attributions (see Table App.1 in the Appendix) and showed trends consistent with hedonic wellbeing. The correlations reported here demonstrate the consistent relation of the self-attribution measures with depression, wellbeing and neuroticism.

	Depression	Hedonic wellbeing	Neuroticism
Basic self-attributions			
Perceived actual self	.219*	140	.200*
Perceived ideal self	.182	011	.232*
Perceived positive self	.253*	124	.277**
Perceived negative self	138	.136	108
Separation Indices (me	ntal self-represe	entations)	
Self-discrepancy (SI _{ai})	.153	253*	.094
Self-positivity (SI _{ap})	055	.171	014
Self-negativity (SI _{an})	.263**	233*	.243*

Table 5.2. Correlations of self-attributions, including basic and discrepancies, with depression, wellbeing and neuroticism.

Note. Correlations are reported as Pearson's r, * p < .05, ** p < .001

5.4.3.1 Depression

Depression, as measured using IDS, correlated significantly with actual self, r = .219, p = .029 and positive self, r = .253, p = .011 and non-significantly with ideal self, r = .182, p = .070. This means participants with increasing severity of depressive symptoms, identified more neurotic images as their actual, positive and ideal selves. These associations demonstrate misattributions of self-facial appearance by individuals, with increasing depression scores. Figure 5.1 shows the two significant correlations of basic self-attributions of facial appearance with depression scores. The misattributions modulated by the severity of depressive state, were further explored using the SIs, which references two self-attributions providing an understanding of how different (separated) or similar (close) the two attributions were on the Neurotic Face Scale.



Figure 5.1. The graphs show the significant (only when including outliers) correlations of depression score with the basic self-attributions of a) perceived actual self and b) perceived positive-self. Neurotic images were identified as actual self and positive self with increasing severity of depression.

IDS score correlated with SI_{an} , r = .263, p = .008, as shown in Figure 5.2, indicating increasing self-negativity with increasing severity of depressive symptoms. This supports the misperception of self-facial appearance relating to depression, supporting classic self-negativity when experiencing depression. Here we have an explicit measure of visual self-negativity that is sensitive to mood state.



Figure 5.2. The graph shows the significant correlation of depression score with self-negativity, that is increasing depression relates to increasing self-negativity.

The graphs in Figure 5.1 and 5.2 shows two depression scores greater than 40, i.e. 'severely depressed'. Despite the two scores being closer to the median of IDS scores that range from 0 to 84, the two participants could be termed as outliers within this sample. After excluding these outliers, depression correlated non-significantly with actual self, r = .187, p = .06, positive self, r = .152, p = .13 and self-discrepancy (SI_{ai}), r = -.189, p = .06, but significantly with self-negativity (SI_{an}), r = .241, p = .02. Since the focus of this thesis is on individual differences and later analyses do not show the same outliers, no exclusions are imposed on later analyses.

5.4.3.2 Hedonic wellbeing

Balanced experience score is a robust measure of hedonic wellbeing, accounting for the frequency of both positive and negative experiences. Although hedonic wellbeing did not correlate significantly with the basic self-attributions, they correlated significantly with SI_{an}, r = -.233, p = .020 and SI_{ai}, r = -.253, p = .011. These correlations build a picture of decreasing hedonic wellbeing affecting increasing self-negativity and self-discrepancy respectively. These correlations are shown in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3. The graphs show the significant correlations of hedonic wellbeing (balanced experience). With decreasing balanced (more negative and less positive) experience there was increasing a) self-negativity (SI_{an}) and b) self-discrepancy (SI_{ai}).
Balanced experience had a non-significant correlation with SI_{ap} , r = .171, p =.089, suggesting increasing self-positivity with increasing hedonic wellbeing. These results show that greater balanced (more positive and fewer negative) experience related to decreasing self-negativity, self-discrepancy and enhancing self-positivity. The importance of participant's hedonic wellbeing in improving their adaptive behaviours is evident from these results.

5.4.3.3 Neuroticism

Neuroticism correlated positively with perceived positive self, r = .277, p = .005, perceived ideal self, r = .232, p = .020, and perceived actual self, r = .200, p = .046. Consistent with depression, neurotic traits of participants also related to misattribution of neurotic images as their positive, ideal and actual self as shown in Figure 5.4. Thus the misattributions to self-facial appearance are related to inherent neurotic trait as well.



a) Change in perceived positive self with neuroticism

Figure 5.4. The graph shows the significant correlation of neuroticism with positive self. The graphs continued in the next page.



Figure 5.4. The graphs show the significant correlations of neuroticism with self-attributions; positive, ideal and actual self. The 19-point neurotic face scale ranged +9 (most neurotic image), 0 (original face), -9 (least neurotic image). With increasing neuroticism, participants chose more neurotic images for positive, ideal and actual self.

The SI explained the quality of misattributions relating to neuroticism.

Neuroticism correlated with SI_{an} , r = .243, p = .015, indicating increasing neuroticism relating to increasing self-negativity, as shown in Figure 5.5. This is consistent with the existing literature that reports increased internalising of negativity with increasing neuroticism trait (Griffith et al., 2009; Lahey, 2009). This further qualifies our self-attribution task and SIs to be sensitive to underlying traits that mediates internalising disorders including depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, and PTSD.



Self-negativity (Sl_{an}) increases with neuroticism

Figure 5.5. The graph shows the significant correlation of neuroticism with self-negativity (SI_{an}) . SI scale ranged from 0 (no separation) to 19 (most separation). The graph shows increasing self-negativity with increasing neuroticism.

All the significant correlations reported thus far, indicate small to moderate effect size (i.e. 0.1 - 0.3), which is what we can expect to find with a sample size of 100 (i.e. $N \ge 85$) participants (Cohen, 1988). While we cannot take such

prescriptions too literally, our results demonstrate the correlations between participant's self-attributions and their depression, neuroticism and wellbeing scores, and quantify the degree of effect. From these correlations, we have an emerging picture that displays the consistencies and the dynamics of participant's selfattributions with their mood state, wellbeing state and inherent neuroticism trait. These demonstrate the overall quality of our self-attribution measures, especially the SIs (self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy) with its sensitivity and consistent relation to participant's transient state and inherent trait.

5.4.4 SIs distinguish maladaptive-adaptive behaviours relating to inherent traits

Previously we reported that neuroticism correlated positively with perceived positive self. Interestingly, agreeableness also correlated positively with perceived positive self, r = .246, p = .014 and perceived ideal self, r = .197, p = .049. This shows that similar to participants with increasing neuroticism, participants with increasing agreeableness also identified neurotic images as their positive self and ideal self. Despite the similar basic self-attributions, the SIs distinguished the trait related behaviours. Agreeableness correlated with SI_{ap}, r = .243, p = .015 and SI_{ai}, r = .206, p = .039 (see Figure 5.6). This shows that agreeableness relates to increasing self-positivity and decreasing self-discrepancy, both of which indicate adaptive behaviours. Thus, the SIs distinguish the increasing self-negativity relating to neuroticism indicating maladaptive behaviour, from increasing self-positivity and decreasing self-discrepancy relating to agreeableness indicating adaptive behaviour. This specifically highlights the sensitive quality of SIs compared to the basic attributions, which helps to better understand our self-attribution measures.



Figure 5.6. The graphs show the significant correlations of agreeableness with a) self-positivity and b) self-discrepancy. SI scale, 0 (no separation), 19 (most separation), shows that increasing self-positivity and decreasing self-discrepancy seen with increasing agreeableness.

5.5 Discussion

We investigated the influence of individual's depression, neuroticism and hedonic wellbeing on their self-attributions. Using our new self-attribution task that has an implicit Neurotic Face Scale, we measured self-attributions of facial appearance. The basic self-attributions included perceived actual, ideal, positive and negative selves and the SIs included self-negativity, self-positivity and selfdiscrepancy. Accuracy in identifying neurotic traits from faces was a pre-requisite for this investigation, which is confirmed by the significantly better than chance accuracy reported using the trait identifying task. Despite this accuracy, we observed misattributions of self-face, which could be due to the sensitivity of our 19-point scale that measure individual differences in attributions, compared to the two alternative forced choice paradigms. Furthermore, self-face processing appears to be modulated by mood state, neuroticism trait, and hedonic wellbeing. Prior studies reported that self-reference and internal inference impacts how individuals process face stimuli (Wisco & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2010), which was demonstrated in our study.

Associations between the basic self-attributions in this study suggest that neurotic trait signals from face, in conjunction with perceived positive and negative, modulated individual's responses. Perceived negative self contrasted with the rest of the three self-attributions, whilst the triad (actual, ideal, positive attributions) showed concurrence between each other. This confirmed that participants generally identified and differentiated the trait signals along the implicit neurotic face scale used in this study. One sample *t*-test confirmed that, on average, participants were displaying an underlying positive bias towards emotionally stable appearance and negative bias towards neurotic appearance on the Neurotic Face Scale; corroborating previous results reported in Chapter 4. Scott et al. (2013) also reported similar negative bias towards facial cues of depression. Such biases were observed even without factoring for participant's mood state or personality traits. Results from the current study, provide further evidence of how transient mood, wellbeing state and neuroticism personality modulate individual's attributions of self-facial appearance.

Self-attributions of positive self correlated with depression and neuroticism, while actual self correlated only with depression. It has to be noted that the correlations between depression and the basic self-attributions after excluding the two outliers were non-significant, however the positive correlation trend was maintained. Although the group mean depression score of the study sample does not fully represent the full range of severity of depression as by the IDS scale, it is clear that neurotic images were perceived as actual self, with increasing depression score. Although the original face of depressed individuals would have signalled their current mood state, they chose a more neurotic image as their self. Similarly, neurotic images were identified for positive self-attribution with increasing depression and neuroticism. This indicates exaggeration or negativity in their self-perception with increasing severity of depression, substantiating negative self-concept (Markus & Wurf, 1987; Markus, 1990) and negative bias (Beck, 2008; Gollan et al., 2008). Although, the positive correlation between the basic self-attributions of actual and positive selves indicate that in reality individuals chose the images they perceived as positive for their actual self. This indicates that the 'perceived' positive seems to be modulating perceptions of actual self. This similarity between positive and actual self-attributions could have been driven by individuals with greater agreeableness trait, as reported in the results. Whereas the shift in 'perceived' positive, i.e., perceiving more neurotic image as positive, could be directly related to distortions

due to depression. The SIs clarified such ambiguities relating to the basic selfattributions, to a greater extent.

Depression related self-negativity was substantiated by SI_{an}, a measure of selfnegativity of facial appearance, which increased with increasing depression and neuroticism, and decreasing hedonic wellbeing. It is exciting that the self-attribution measures consistently demonstrate the relation between depression and its predictors such as neuroticism and wellbeing. In previous studies, neuroticism was linked with self-negativity relating to low self-esteem (Robins, Tracy, Trzesniewski, Potter, & Gosling, 2001) and depressive symptoms (Frokjaer et al., 2010); substantiating the self-negativity found in our study. Studies on attributional style also reported greater self-negativity with depression (Ball et al., 2008; Seligman et al., 1979). Attributional style, by virtue of the measure, looks at attributions of conceptual scenarios, whereas this study reported negativity in visual perception of self. We found differential association between our self-attributions and ASQ measures (see Table App.1 in the Appendix). These could potentially be because they are targeting mental processes at different levels. It could be that the ASQ measures explicit attributions while our selfattribution task could be measuring more implicit processes because of the self-face stimuli and the implicit neurotic face scale. Both these approaches could, therefore, provide a holistic picture of depression related negativity. Other studies have also reported depression related negative bias and misreading signals from other-faces (LeMoult et al., 2009; Linden et al., 2011) and distorted reality (van Rossum et al., 2011).

Cohen and Sherman (2014) discussed the possibility of distortions being selfcreated by construing a situation in a manner that it renders less threatening to selfintegrity. This refers to reducing cognitive dissonance (Festinger, 1957; Stone & Cooper, 2001) through self-affirmation (Cohen & Sherman, 2014; Steele, 1988a) or self-consistency (Thibodeau & Aronson, 1992). Cognitive dissonance is explained as the psychological discomfort due to conflicting self-perceptions (Festinger, 1957). In this study, it would mean that depressed individual's perception of neurotic or negative image as actual self was used defensively to affirm self-consistency. For this to be true, we have to assume that individuals have a negative self-image and therefore chose a neurotic or negative image as their actual self. To support this, the perceived actual and negative selves should display a positive correlation showing concurrence. Similarly, the perceived actual and positive selves should display a negative correlation showing opposing perceptions. The results, however, show that the perceived actual self is not correlated with perceived negative self but is positively correlated with perceived positive self. This suggests that distortions are not selfcreated in this study, although it modulates individual's perception of actual self. Our study paradigm, using faces and an implicit neurotic face scale, may have relied on non-conscious processing of face signals (Axelrod et al., 2015) and therefore very unlikely that these distortions were consciously created. Imaging and ERP studies have reported the processing of emotionally salient facial appearance (Bryant et al., 2008; Faivre, Charron, Roux, Lehéricy, & Kouider, 2012; Thomas et al., 2014) and self-face (Laureys, Perrin, & Brédart, 2007; Pannese & Hirsch, 2011; Pannese & Hirsch, 2013), involves non-conscious neural processing. This implicates a process of non-conscious or implicit cognitive dissonance relating to distortions in depression but unrelated to explicit processes of self-affirmation or self-consistency.

Implicit cognitive dissonance could have new implications on existing theories of social withdrawal (Caldwell, Rudolph, Troop-Gordon, & Kim, 2004; Girard et al.,

2014; Rubin, Coplan, & Bowker, 2009) and helplessness (Klien, Fencil-Morse, & Seligman, 1976; Landgraf, Long, Der-Avakian, Streets, & Welsh, 2015; Maier & Watkins, 2005) with depression, which are currently explained as self-propagated. Previous research has demonstrated implicit cognitive dissonance using animal models (rats), when rats placed grater value on outcome for which they had to work harder (Lydall, Gilmour & Dwyer, 2010). We propose that if the self-attribution measures reflect non-conscious distortion of self-perceptions relating to depression, it explains individual's behaviour and resultant social dysfunction as unintentional rather than as individual's latent urge for withdrawal. This new insight could be fed into adapting related behavioural interventions to target and correct implicit misperceptions, with the aim of improving personal and social functioning.

Self-discrepancy theory posits that discrepancy of actual and ideal selves are associated to depression (Higgins et al., 1985; Higgins, 1989; Higgins, Vookles, & Tykocinski, 1992; Markus & Wurf, 1987), which we did not find in our study. We did, however, demonstrate significant decrease in self-discrepancy with increasing hedonic wellbeing, which is a predictor of depression as reported in Chapter 2. Increasing hedonic wellbeing (increasing positive and decreasing negative experiences) is often referred as increasing happiness (Ryan & Deci, 2001; Ryan et al., 2008). The results provide evidence that increasing happiness can reduce selfnegativity and self-discrepancy. Increasing happiness closely relate to improved mood, which understandably reduce self-negativity. Self-discrepancy theory proposes that actual-ideal self-discrepancies predict dejection and depression (Higgins et al., 1985; Higgins, 1989), which could explain the reverse pattern of reduced selfdiscrepancy with increasing happiness, found in our study. We are, however, unclear as to why depression itself was not related to self-discrepancy in this study. Ideal self has been strongly linked with self-esteem (Andrews, 1998; Bosson, Brown, Zeigler-Hill, & Swann, 2003; Moretti & Higgins, 1990), potentially affecting the perceptions of ideal self observed in our study. We, however, did not measure self-esteem or use diagnostic criteria to confirm depression, which are limitations of this study. The IDS measures the core symptoms of depression as discussed in the introduction, along with associated symptoms such as, anxiety and psychosomatic symptoms. By using diagnostic criteria to confirm clinical depression, we could have ensured that we are looking at the main influence of depressive state on selfattributions. Additionally, using a self-esteem measure would have provided greater understanding of its association with the measures of ideal and positive selves, allowing more meaningful interpretation of our results.

Some previous studies have investigated depression related positive selfschemata, with the co-existence of high implicit self-esteem and low explicit selfesteem (Creemers, Scholte, Engels, Prinstein, & Wiers, 2012; De Raedt, Schacht, Franck, & De Houwer, 2006; Dunn, Stefanovitch, Buchan, Lawrence, & Dalgleish, 2009; van Tuijl, de Jong, Sportel, de Hullu, & Nauta, 2014), however, the majority of studies on depression focused on the negative self-schemata (Beck, 2008; Bradley & Mathews, 1983; Evans, Heron, Lewis, Araya, & Wolke, 2005). In our study, selfnegativity and not self-positivity was related to depression. We think self-positivity might increase when self-negativity decreases in relation to improving mood. This could be investigated in future studies by monitoring improvements in mood longitudinally.

Besides measuring attributions relating to mood and wellbeing state, the SIs distinguished behaviours relating to traits. These are unique measures of mental self-

representations that are comparable to the subjective mental representations proposed by Markus and Wurf (1988), and are closely related to subjective mental health. In our study, individuals with high agreeableness trait chose more neurotic images as their positive and ideal selves, which was similar to the attributions made by individuals with high neuroticism trait. We could assign this similarity of misattributions to the underlying neurobiology relating to serotonin mechanisms that are closely related to neuroticism as well as agreeableness (Moskowitz, Pinard, Zuroff, Annable, & Young, 2001; Young, 2013). The measures of SIs, however, differentiated the behaviours relating to these two traits, despite the similarity in the basic self-attributions. Self-positivity increased with agreeableness in contrast to increasing self-negativity relating to the underlying maladaptive or adaptive traits that are more stable, whilst maintaining sensitivity to mood and wellbeing state that are more transient.

The self-attribution task developed in this study, provides a useful paradigm in measuring perception of 'self' in visual modality. This method provides perception of 'actual self' and referential perceptions of positive and negative selves. The measure of self-negativity is unique since it references 'current or actual self' to perceived negative self. 'Current self' by nature, should be transient with time, mood and hedonic wellbeing state; hence potentially a dynamic measure. Increasing self-negativity could be the early perceptual changes that are affected in depression and therefore a potential tracker for behaviour changes with remission. Prior studies have proposed implicit cognitions to represent the origin of depression (Chen et al., 2006; Haeffel et al., 2007), as well as a reliable predictor for past, present and future depressive episodes (Chang et al., 2011; Philippi & Koenigs, 2014; Phillips & Silvia,

2010b). The self-attribution task, especially with its measure of self-negativity, seems a promising tool to measure and monitor longitudinal behaviour changes in clinical population.

5.6 Conclusion

We conclude that depression, neuroticism and hedonic wellbeing affect attributions of self-facial appearance. Although participants were able to accurately discriminate the emotionally stable and neurotic "anchor" images used to create the image sequences, attributions to increasingly stable and neurotic self-appearances depended upon the individual's traits related to depression. In this study we quantified self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy in visual modality. We found that the severity of depression and neuroticism relates to greater self-negativity, while increasing hedonic wellbeing relates to decreasing self-negativity and selfdiscrepancy. Unlike the basic self-attributions, the SIs distinguishes maladaptive and adaptive behaviours relating to underlying traits. Self-negativity increased with neuroticism whilst self-positivity increased with agreeableness. This was identifiable due to the sensitivity of SIs to mood, wellbeing and traits, which validates their importance. The SI of self-negativity identified in this study, is promising a measure for future longitudinal studies on depressive disorder.

CHAPTER 6 – Looking through dark glasses: Social attributions

Abstract

Social attributions relates to making inferences of other individual's behaviours, which can be impaired due to psychological and psychiatric disorders. Social attribution of facial cues has been widely researched using emotional faces. We used our social attribution task, with an implicit neurotic face scale, that provided measures of social attributions that were comparable to the self-attribution measures. We propose that depression, wellbeing and neuroticism will relate to misattributions in social context, consistent with social projection. Increasing severity of depression and decreasing wellbeing were related to misattribution of more neurotic images as positive, consistent with the self-attributions. Unlike self-attributions, social attributions did not relate with neuroticism, suggesting social attributions are modulated by transient mood state rather than stable traits. We demonstrate social projection whilst making attributions to other-faces. The misattributions could also be related to common underlying cognitive and neural mechanisms that are impaired with depression.

6.1 Introduction

Social attributions refer to the processes of perception or inference of causal explanation for events or behaviours of others (Heider, 1958; Kelley & Michela, 1980). Kelley and Michela (1980) proposed a general model of the process of attribution that starts with antecedents (information, beliefs, motivation), leading to attributions (perceived causes) and ending with consequences (behaviour, affect, expectancy). When there is limited information about an individual or stimulus or situation, attributors make inferences to make sense of the ambiguous situation (Bradford, Jentzsch, & Gomez, 2015; Kelley & Michela, 1980) and make social projections. Social projection is explained as the process or set of processes by which people come to expect others to be similar to themselves (Robbins & Krueger, 2005). By inferring on self whilst making social attributions, individuals could be triggering automatic self-referential processes (Cho & Knowles, 2013; Krueger & Stanke, 2001; Mitchell et al., 2005) that are modulated by individual's current and past experiences (Van Boven & Loewenstein, 2003). In this manner, self-referential processes relate to a host of factors inherent to the person making the attribution, including mental and physical health, social and cultural background, and belief system (Markus & Wurf, 1987). Our self-attribution study (Chapter 5) demonstrated misattributions of self in relation to increasing depression, decreasing hedonic wellbeing, and greater neuroticism trait. Such maladaptive perceptions cause misinterpretation during social interactions (Park et al., 2016; Park, Lee, Kwak, Cha, & Jeong, 2013), thereby leading to social dysfunction (Markus & Wurf, 1987).

Social functioning is dependant on effective social communication, which includes accurate display and reading of social cues (Addington, Saeedi, & Addington, 2006; Corrigan, 2000). Facial cues form the basic and natural means of communication in a social context (Kramer & Ward, 2010). Prior studies have investigated impaired processing of facial emotions with psychiatric disorders (Anderson et al., 2011; Archer et al., 1992; Linden et al., 2011) and attributions of more subtle facial cues (Scott et al., 2013), using two alternative forced choice paradigms. In this chapter, I will discuss the next study in which the social attribution paradigm uses faces of unfamiliar individuals on the 19-point neurotic face scale to obtain more individualised social attributions similar to the self-attributions. This allows measurement of positive (happy, emotionally stable, attractive) and negative (unhappy, anxious, least attractive) social attributions of male and female faces that are comparable to the respective self-attributions measured in our self-attribution study (Chapter 5).

In Chapter 5, I discussed increasing misattributions of self-facial appearance with increasing depression, decreasing hedonic wellbeing, and increasing neuroticism. It would be interesting to investigate if such misattributions of facial-appearance are limited to self-face or are they indicative of a global misattribution as influenced by transient states, and stable traits. Misattributions of self-face extending into misattributions of other-faces will substantiate the social projection theory. In this study, we investigate whether participant's depressive and wellbeing states, and neuroticism trait will affect participant's attributions of other people's facial appearance. Reflecting on the social projection theory and inferring on the results of the self-attribution study, we propose that with increasing severity of depressive symptoms, individuals will identify more neurotic image of other-face for positive social attributions. That is, the positive attributions made to neurotic self-appearance will carry over to the neurotic appearance of others. If such misattributions reflect on the social projection theory, we would expect to see the attributions to be consistent across female and male faces. On this basis, we further propose that the positive and negative attributions of female and male faces will be consistent respectively.

6.2 Methods

All the participants from the self-attribution study participated in this study and the data was collected on the same day. This was essential to control for the participant's over all experience on that day, which could affect their perceptions of self and other. We used the social attribution task, which followed the same paradigm as the self-attribution task. A key difference was that the participants made attributions to faces of unfamiliar men and women. These faces were selected from an existing database.

The photographs in this database were taken at annual photo-shoot events conducted by the lab group at Bangor University. Although the event was open to all, the majority of the participants were Bangor University students. The photographs at the events were taken using Canon EOS 1100D DSLR camera with 18-55 mm lens, and diffused lighting. The criteria for the photographs were consistent with the selfattribution study. The social attribution task could be adapted depending on the study and its specific aims, by tailoring the selection criteria for the photographs. Since the focus of this study was to measure social attribution in relation to changes in individual's mood and wellbeing state, we endeavoured to control for observed individuals' depressive state. The selection criteria for this study therefore included individuals with IDS score less than 14, which is categorised as 'not depressed'. A total of 20 photographs were selected; 10 male and 10 female faces. General criteria of neutral facial expression, front facing, without make up, facial tattoos, facial piercing and facial hair applied. The procedures for creating stimuli for the underlying Neurotic Face Scale and the related scores were similar to self-attribution task, as explained in Chapter 5 and graphically shown in Figure C.1. Briefly, the selected faces were warped towards sex-congruent composite face pairs that displayed signals of neurotic and emotionally stable traits, to create 19 image sequences per face. These image sequences were presented as explained below.

Presentation: In the social attribution task, faces of unfamiliar men and women were presented using Matlab. The task presented with six blocks (questions: happy, emotionally stable, attractive, unhappy, anxious and least attractive) x 20 trials (identity: 10 male and 10 female faces) x 19 images (face warps). The blocks (questions) were randomly selected per presentation. The order of the trials (faces) was randomly selected in the first block, but maintained through rest of the blocks in the presentation. The first image of each trial (19 face warps) was presented randomly, but followed the order of sequence on the 19-point scale. The 19 images of each face (identity) were presented (500x500 pixels) one at a time in the middle of a computer screen, with instructions at the top. The images were presented one at a time in order of the sequence of the 19-point face scale and looped back and forth through the sequence to provide seamless increase and decrease of neurotic traits. This presentation was similar to self-attribution task, as explained in section 5.2.1 and shown in Figure 5.1, in Chapter 5. A key difference in the instructions related to the questions that can be sensibly asked. The instructions for social attribution task were limited to making the presented face look most positive and most negative. The instructions for most positive included, 'Make the face look most happy and content', 'Make the face look calm stable and well-balanced', and 'Make the face look most attractive'. The instructions for most negative included, 'Make the face look unhappy and least content', 'Make the face look anxious and emotionally unstable', and 'Make the face look least attractive'. The selected faces were presented in six blocks, with one instruction per block. The order of faces was random per block and maintained across all presentations in the respective block. The first image per presentation was randomly selected from the 19 image sequences. When participants pressed either the right or left arrow keys, the images changed through a looped sequence in their order

on the implicit neurotic face scale. This gave the impression of the presented face changing, as controlled by the participant. The presentation of looped sequence of images made it difficult for the participants to understand the lateral representation of the scale and therefore its end points. Participants selected one image for each instruction by pressing the spacebar. This task was not timed.

Consistent to the method of scoring positive and negative self-attributions, we averaged the three respective scores to create the positive and negative attributions of male and female faces. Thus, we had four attribution measures; positive and negative attributions of female faces, positive and negative attributions of male faces. We report the correlations between the respective attributions on male and female faces and average them to score positive and negative social attributions, which are therefore comparable to the respective self-attributions.

As explained in the self-attribution study, we used IDS to measure depression, FS to measure eudemonic wellbeing and SPANE to measure hedonic wellbeing, MIPIP to measure personality traits and ASQ to measure attributional style. We will maintain our focus here on the measures of depression, hedonic wellbeing and neuroticism in order to be consistent with the self-attribution study. This will help to explain the concept of social projection, whilst making social attributions in visual modality. Similar to the self-attributions, social attributions were differentially correlated with personality and attributional style.

6.3 Results

All the 100 participants from the self-attribution study completed the social attribution task. Both studies were completed in one session on the same day.

Therefore, the demographics and group mean of mood and trait measures are the same as in the self-attribution study.

6.3.1 Inter-correlations of social attributions of male and female faces

The participants made 12 attributions: three positive (happy, emotionally stable, attractive) and three negative (unhappy, anxious, least attractive) attributions to male and female faces. The three positive and negative measures were averaged to obtain respective attributions of female and male faces. In the first instance, we checked whether the attributions made of female and male faces were consistent, which would support our proposal that the attributions are driven by the implicit neurotic face scale rather then the faces being observed.

We found that the four social attribution measures significantly correlated with each other, as expected. The attributions of female and male faces correlated positively for positive, r = .524, p < .001 and negative, r = .376, p < .001 categories respectively. Positive attributions of female faces correlated negatively with negative attributions of female, r = -.694, p < .001 and male, r = -.249, p = .012 faces. Positive attributions of male faces correlated negatively with negative attributions of male faces correlated negatively with negative attributions of female, r = -.393, p < .001 and male, r = -.588, p < .001 faces.

These results, further confirm consistency in participant's attributions of male and female faces for both positive and negative categories, which shows that participants made attributions to male and female faces in a similar way. On this basis, the attributions made to male and female faces were averaged to obtain positive and negative social attribution scores, which were comparable to the self-attributions. Positive social attribution negatively correlated with negative social attribution, r = -.664, p < .001. Similar to reading signals from self-face, the positive and negative signals from other-faces were also differentiated by the participants and on average could project similar positive and negative biases.

One sample *t*-test against a test value of zero provides evidence for positive and negative biases, in social context. The mean positive social attribution of -0.82 with *SD* of 1.85, was significantly different from the original other-face, t(99) = -4.42, p < .001, 95% *CI*(-1.19, -0.45). The mean negative social attribution of 2.73 with *SD* of 2.10, was significantly different from the original other-face, t(99) = 12.97, p <.001, 95% *CI*(2.13, 3.15). These results indicate that on average, participants demonstrated positive bias towards emotionally stable appearance of others as well as negative bias towards neurotic appearance of others. This is similar to the average positive and negative bias of participants to self-appearance and therefore indicative of projection of bias.

We now have positive and negative social attributions that are comparable to self-attributions, which lead to our next question, whether the social attributions are affected by participant's depressive state, wellbeing state, and neuroticism in a way similar to self-attributions. The following results will focus on these measures in order to answer this question.

6.3.2 Depression and social attributions

Depression correlated positively with positive social attribution, r = .239, p = .017, as shown in Figure 6.1. A score of zero indicates the original image of otherfaces. Positive scores indicate that the image chosen was more neurotic in appearance and negative scores indicate emotionally stable image was chosen. The result, here, indicates that participants with increasing depression chose a more neurotic image for positive social attribution. This is similar to the correlation between positive selfattribution and depression scores, in the self-attribution study. In this study we provide evidence for participant's misattribution of others being modulated by participant's depressive symptoms, which is similar to misattributions of self, and therefore provide evidence for classic social projection. The significant correlation between depression and positive social attribution was not maintained when excluding the two outliers.



Change in perceived positive social attribution with depression

Figure 6.1. The graph shows the significant correlation of depression score with positive social attribution. The Neurotic Face Scale is from +9 (more neurotic) to -9 (less neurotic) and midpoint 0 (original other-face). Increasing scores indicate more neurotic images were chosen for positive social attribution with increasing depression.

Participant's negative social attribution did not correlate with their depression score, which is also similar to the results from self-attribution study. Thus, it is the positive attributions that are affected when experiencing depression, and the related misattributions of self are extended to social contexts, demonstrating classic social projection relating to mood state. Previously, we discussed with sufficient evidence the close association between depression and wellbeing, so the next analysis will look at the association between wellbeing and social attributions.

6.3.3 Wellbeing and social attributions

The balanced experiences (hedonic wellbeing) correlated negatively with positive social attribution, r = -.199, p = .047, as shown in Figure 6.2. This shows individuals with decreasing balanced experiences, chose a more neurotic image for positive social attribution and vice versa. Decreasing balanced experience score account for more negative experiences and fewer positive experiences, which related to decreasing hedonic wellbeing. Eudemonic wellbeing also had a non-significant association with positive social attribution, r = -.169, p = .093, indicating similarly increasing misattribution with decreasing eudemonic wellbeing.



Figure 6.2. The graph shows the significant correlation of hedonic wellbeing (balanced experience) correlated with positive social attribution. The Neurotic Face Scale is from +9 (more neurotic) to -9 (less neurotic) and midpoint 0 (original other-face). With decreasing hedonic wellbeing participants misattributed more neurotic images as positive and with increasing hedonic wellbeing they correctly attributed less neurotic images a positive.

In the self-attribution study, discussed in Chapter 5, it was observed that hedonic or eudemonic wellbeing had only weak negative correlation trends with the basic positive self-attribution (see Table App.1 in the Appendix). The associations of wellbeing with positive social-attributions, albeit weak, potentially highlight their greater importance towards social functioning. Wellbeing is closely associated with socialising, contact with family and friends, and community involvements (Dolan, Peasgood, & White, 2008; Taylor & Brown, 1988). This social quality of wellbeing might be highlighted through the attributions made in our study, thereby providing evidence of social projection relating to wellbeing state. The negative social attribution did not correlate with the wellbeing scores, which is consistent with negative self-attribution. So far, we have observed a consistent picture of greater misattributions relating to increasing depression and decreasing wellbeing in self and social contexts.

Third and final measure, that was relevant to depression as well as selfattribution, was neuroticism. There were, however, no significant correlations of social attributions with neuroticism, which deviates from the pattern of selfattributions. Neuroticism is strongly related to internalizing disorders including mood and anxiety disorders (Eysenck, 1991; Griffith et al., 2009), however, unlike mood state, it did not affect social attributions in this study. The social attribution measures might be differentiating the negative biases and internalizing qualities triggered by a transient mood state relating to depression, from those triggered by an inherent personality trait of neuroticism.

We propose, that these results display the sensitivity of our attribution tasks to self and social contexts, whilst also differentiating the stable traits of internalizing negativity from the transient states of generalized negativity or global bias towards negativity. In other words, individuals with stable neuroticism personality traits have a consistent internalizing feature of negativity towards self, which might be maintained or exaggerated with depression, whereas, individuals with transient depressive state might be displaying global negativity (i.e., self, others and generally to everything in life). Our self and social attribution tasks seem to be unpicking these differentiating characteristics of neuroticism traits, from what otherwise appears indistinguishable from depressed mood state.

The results so far provide an interesting picture of similar misattributions in self and social contexts, whilst differentiating those misattributions unique to self. This raises the next question, of how similar or dissimilar were the attributions the individuals made in self and social contexts, without accounting of their states and traits. The following analyses will focus on the same.

6.3.4 Correlations between self and social attributions

There is a specific difference between the self and social attribution measures. Unlike the self-attribution scores that are responses to a single face (self-face), the social attribution scores are an average of responses to 20 other faces. The following results, however, highlight their similarities.

Positive self-attribution correlated positively with positive social-attributions, r = .274, p = .006 whilst negative self-attribution correlated positively with negative social attributions, r = .244, p = .014, as shown in Figure 6.3. Both these associations confirm that similar cues from self and other faces were identified for positive and negative attributions respectively. In other words, individuals who chose less neurotic self-images for positive self-attribution also chose less neurotic other-face-images

similarly for positive social attribution. Likewise, similar choices were made for negative self and social attributions. Thus, when individuals had accurate perception of emotionally stable and neurotic facial cues as positive and negative respectively, it was observed consistently in both self and social contexts. Here we demonstrate remnants of classic social projection, specifically whilst making attributions to facial appearance of self and others.



Figure 6.3. The graphs show the significant correlations of positive self-attribution with positive social attribution and negative self-attribution correlates with negative social attribution. The Neurotic Face Scale is from +9 (more neurotic) to -9 (less neurotic) and midpoint 0 (original other-face). This shows consistency of positive and negative attributions of self and others supporting social projection theory.

From the evidence so far, it appears that individual's state of mood and wellbeing, and neuroticism traits, affect their perception of positive and negative facial cues. Our evidence also shows that mood and wellbeing affects global misperception, while neuroticism related misperceptions are limited to self.

6.4 Discussion

In this chapter, we investigated the relation of social attribution with individual's mood, wellbeing, and neuroticism trait. Consistent to the positive and negative self-attributions, we computed the positive and negative attributions for female and male faces. Based on the correlations between these four measures, the measures were averaged across sexes to obtain two basic social attributions, i.e. positive and negative. Similar to the self-attribution measures, the social attributions also have the 19-point neurotic face scale from +9 (most neurotic) to -9 (least neurotic) and midpoint 0 (original other-face). Increasing positive social attribution would mean that a more neurotic image was chosen as positive.

This study had results similar to that from the self-attribution study. We reported a positive association between positive social attribution and depression score, indicating that individuals with increasing depression identified more neurotic facial appearance as positive. The significant correlation was not maintained when excluding the two outliers with severe depression, a pattern that was also seen with self-attribution. This shows that individuals' mood state was mediating misattributions in the social context, in a way similar to the misattributions of self. This substantiates our proposition of social projection whilst making attributions of facial appearances. Misattribution has previously been identified as a cognitive vulnerability for depression (Beck et al., 1979; Beevers, 2005; Elliott, Zahn, Deakin, & Anderson, 2011; Fennell & Campbell, 1984), although it is not clear whether misattribution is a product of depression or the cause.

Our self and social attribution measures, appear to be differentiating misattributions driven by inherent traits and transient traits. We found depression related misattribution to self and others whilst neuroticism related misattribution was only observed to self. On this basis, our attribution task might be differentiating negativity at a global level from negativity limited to self. This clearly demonstrates cognitive vulnerability relating to depression and neuroticism, however, we cannot untangle whether misattribution to self precedes or follows misattribution to others or vice versa. As discussed earlier in the results section, the misattributions might be modulated by inaccurate perception of facial cues. Leppanen et al. (2004) reported that depressed patients were less accurate in identifying neutral faces than sad or happy faces. Additionally to this inaccuracy in perception, there is also evidence of exaggerated or caricatured perception relating to mood state. Patients made more misattribution errors of neutral and low arousal facial expressions in the direction of high arousal emotions (Csukly et al., 2009). Csukly et al. (2009) concluded that the inability to accurately recognize non-emotional or emotional facial expressions, along with the tendency for attributing towards the high arousal emotions, could represent two basic contributing factors to social dysfunction in patients experiencing depression.

In addition to misperceptions and exaggerated attributions relating to state and traits, there is also evidence for related negative bias and increased attention to negativity. One study identified deficiency in inhibiting attention to negative stimuli in depressed patients, that renders them unable to disengage from negative information (Feng et al., 2009). This could explain the negative perception or bias that causes the maintenance and development of depression (Feng et al., 2009). This could be one of the underlying mechanisms leading to misattributions. This study used neutral looking face stimuli, which in reality displayed neurotic traits. These subtle negative facial cues might be triggering similar mechanisms, whilst making attributions and therefore we were seeing misattributions in individuals with depressive symptoms. Such misattribution of self and others can lead to social dysfunction and reduce individuals' wellbeing.

We reported the association of participant's hedonic wellbeing with their positive social attribution. We found that, with increasing wellbeing individuals more accurately chose emotionally stable faces for positive attributions, where as with decreasing wellbeing more neurotic images were misattributed as positive. Consistent to this result, Taylor and Brown (1988) discussed how individuals' wellbeing affects perceptions of self, the world and their future. Reduced wellbeing is, however, closely associated with depression (Grant et al., 2013; Santos et al., 2013), making it difficult to disentangle the effects of depression and wellbeing on individual's behaviours. The key findings from the current study are consistent with the theory of social projection and depression related misattributions leading to social dysfunctions; the evidence for which was obtained by comparing attributions in self and social contexts.

6.5 Conclusion

We conclude that participant's social attributions were similar to their selfattributions. We found that individuals with increasing severity of depressive symptoms and decreasing wellbeing chose more neurotic images of other-faces whilst making positive social attribution. This echoed participant's self-attributions and substantiated social projection, whilst making attributions to facial appearances. Besides our social attribution measures might be differentiating misattributions driven by global negativity in relation to transient depressive state, from those misattributions driven by negativity focused on self in relation to neuroticism.

CHAPTER 7 – Triangulation of self, social, and observer attributions

Abstract

Attribution is the process of giving meaning to situations or behaviours, which could differ across individuals and contexts. Prior studies have found that positive attributions were made as dispositional (inherent) by actors, while observers saw it as situational (external) and the reverse for negative attributions. We investigated the association of observer's attributions of actors with actor's self-attribution, and actor's mood and wellbeing states, and neuroticism trait. In this study, we selected 70 actor's face image sequences from the self-attribution study, and 50 independent observers made attributions to each of these target faces. Actor's mood was associated with their positive attribution of self but dissociated with observer's attribution of the actors. The similarity between actors and observers was that they consistently displayed underlying positive and negative biases towards emotionally stable and neurotic appearances respectively. On average, this bias was maintained irrelevant of actor's transient mood or wellbeing state or inherent traits but appears to be affected in those experiencing depression, leading to their misattribution of neurotic appearance as positive.

7.1 Introduction

Attribution theories focus on the causal explanations that individuals construct for their own behaviour and the actions of others (Monson & Snyder, 1977). In the literature, the observed 'others' are generally referred to as 'actors'. The actorobserver literature predicts asymmetry between the attributions made by actors and observers because of informational differences (Jones & Nisbett, 1972). This differential access to information leads to the apparent dichotomy of dispositional and situational attributions (Monson & Snyder, 1977). Dispositional attribution refers to causality being internal factors where as situational attribution refers to causality being external or situational (Jones & Davis, 1965; Ross, 1977). By the complexity of social behaviours, these two types of attributions may sometimes lose the distinctive dichotomous classification and simply coexist as a combination of both external and internal factors (Monson & Snyder, 1977).

Jones and Nisbett (1972) suggested that an actor would optimize by constructing situational self-attributions and dispositional social attributions, although the counter argument suggests the interchangeable role of situational and dispositional factors. Situational attribution reflects on the impression that the situation is in control of the individual, whereas dispositional attribution of inherent traits, attitudes and desires could mean that the individual is in control (Monson & Snyder, 1977). In the opposing view of the latter, the individual could be perceived as being controlled by their traits and impulses (Monson & Snyder, 1977). The type of attribution would therefore depend on the intentions of the actors and the observers.

Attribution theorists posit that actors might alter self-attributions to protect or enhance their self-esteem (Heider, 1958; Kelley & Michela, 1980). Our previous results suggested no evidence of self-enhancing attributions. Instead, we found harsher self-attribution in relation to increasing severity of depression (Chapter 5). It has been previously proposed that people who are most generous in self-attributions (e.g., non-depressed actors in our self-attribution study) may be the harshest judges of others, while the harshest self-judges (e.g., depressed actors in our self-attribution study) may be the most generous in social-attributions (Anderson, 1985). Anderson (1985) however reported positive correlation between actor-observer attributions, which contradicted his own proposal. Our results from the previous studies reported similar positive correlation of self and social attributions (Chapter 6). The natural progression of our attribution studies would be to investigate the association of actor's self-attributions with attributions of actors made by unfamiliar observers. In other words, is there a difference in how we perceive ourselves from how other individuals perceive us. Another aspect of observer's attribution of actors is its association or disassociation with actor's transient mood and wellbeing state, and more inherent personality traits, which relates to stigma.

Previous research reported that observers perceived people experiencing depression as more dangerous than people without mental health disorder, people experiencing nonclinical stress, and people with eating disorders (Crisp, Gelder, Rix, Meltzer, & Rowlands, 2000; Link, Phelan, Bresnahan, Stueve, & Pescosolido, 1999; Phelan & Basow, 2007). This is classic evidence of observer's perception of actors, as well as social stigma towards mental health. Another study reported difference in attributions of depressed and not-depressed people, especially with more negative attributions towards depressed people (Sacco & Dunn, 1990). We utilise self and observer attribution studies to examine whether actor's mood state or inherent traits affect observer's attribution of them. Some of the participants who completed the self and social attribution study were selected to be observed and are referred to as 'actors' in this chapter. Whilst the self and social attributions of an individual provided a firstperson's perspective that could be modulated by their mood state and traits, the observer's attribution provided a third-person's perspective as illustrated in Figure C.2. Therefore, providing a unique opportunity to explore the consensus and contrasts in attributions relating to the different perspectives.

In this study, we investigate the association of observer's attributions with actor's depression, wellbeing, and neuroticism. We propose that actor's traits and states may not affect observer's basic attributions because of the lack of information available to observer's regarding the actors. The consistency or inconsistency of self-observer attributions will provide evidence of how first person's perspective relates to unfamiliar third person's perspectives. In addition, we triangulate the results from Chapter 5 and 6 to discuss the consistencies and disparities of the attributions measured in self, social, and independent observer contexts.

7.2 Methods

A total of 70 actors from the self-attribution study gave their full informed consent for their photographs to be used in future studies and to be observed by other future participants. These 70 faces were grouped into two groups of 20 and one group of 30, and used in three separate observer attributions tasks between a total of 150 independent observers. This was done in order to reduce the issues of fatigue and boredom that could compromise observer's attributions. Thus, 50 independent observers viewed each of the actors.

Participants were undergraduate students from Bangor University and the study adhered to School of Psychology and Bangor University research and ethics guidelines. After participation students were debriefed and provided with information regarding available psychological support.

7.2.1 Observer attribution task

The observer's attribution was measured by adapting the social attribution task using the photographs of the actors who completed the self and social attribution tasks. The sequence of 19 images relating to each of the 70 actors, which was used in the self-attribution study, was used to set up the observer attribution task. This ensured consistency of the images viewed, that is, the observers in this study viewed the same images viewed by the actors in the self-attribution study.

The presentation and the instructions were similar to the social attribution task and are described in Chapter 6. The independent observers made positive (happy, calm, most attractive) and negative (sad, anxious, least attractive) attributions of the actors' facial appearance on the Neurotic Face Scale. The observer's positive and negative attributions thus measured were comparable to the measures of actor's selfattributions.

7.3 Results

A total of 70 (45 female) actors were selected, with age, M = 20.51, SD = 5.32, and range = 18 -56; IDS, M = 19.07, SD = 8.089; FS, M = 44.63, SD = 6.43; balanced experience, M = 10.01, SD = 6.98; neuroticism, M = 2.74, SD = 0.86.

The basic measures of observer's positive and negative attributions were negatively correlated, r = -.545, p < .001, indicating that the observers differentiated the contrasting facial cues. This also confirms that observers differentiated the positive and negative appearance on the implicit neurotic face scale, suggestive of bias in observer's attributions that is similar to actor's underlying bias irrespective of their mood state. One sample *t*-test against a test value of zero provided evidence for observer's positive and negative bias. The mean observer's positive attribution of -1.88 with *SD* of 1.09 was significantly more emotionally stable than actor's original face, t(69) = -14.3, p < .001, 95% *CI*(-2.14, -1.61). Similarly, the mean observer's negative attribution of 3.88 with *SD* of 0.87 was significantly more neurotic than actor's original face, t(69) = 37.53, p < .001, 95% *CI*(3.68, 4.09). These results suggest that, on average, observers demonstrate positive bias towards emotionally stable appearance of actors and negative bias towards neurotic appearance of actors. This is consistent with the average bias of actors found in self and social contexts.

The consistent picture of positive and negative biases demonstrated in all the three contexts of self, social, and observer suggests that even without factoring for individual's transient state or inherent traits, there are basic underlying concepts of positive and negative attributes. Our study in Chapter 4, demonstrated such biases by using a two alternative choice paradigm that allows only dichotomous response. Such biases are maintained even when using a scale that allows greater variance in response. This evidence supports the underlying positive-negative bias towards emotionally stable-neurotic appearance respectively, which is largely suggestive of social concepts such as stereotyping and social stigma relating to facial appearances. The results discussed in Part C, corroborate the evidence from previous studies demonstrating social stigma relating to facial appearances of depression (Scott et al., 2013), physical and mental health (Kramer & Ward, 2010). Now that we have established an underlying bias in observer's attributions, it is intriguing whether this bias will be modulated by actor's transient state or stable traits.
7.3.1 Attributions relating to actor's mood, wellbeing, neuroticism

7.3.1.1 Actor's Depression

We firstly confirm that the subset of 70 actors, taken from the self-attribution study, showed the same pattern of correlation of depression with positive self- (r = .236, p = .049) and social- (r = .145, n.s.) attributions. This meant that, from among the actors being rated by observers in this experiment, those with greater depressive experience chose a more neurotic image as their positive self and that of others, suggesting mood modulated misattributions.

The main focus in this study was to investigate whether observer's attributions could be modulated by actor's transient state or inherent traits. The results demonstrate that observers' positive attribution of actors was dissociated from actor's depression score, r = -056, p = .654 (see Figure 7.1), unlike actor's positive self-attribution. This means that on average, the preferences of external observers were not influenced by the actors' depressive state. The appearance preferences seen in the self-attributions, therefore, do not reflect the preferences of the larger group. The dissociations are observed despite the underlying bias in observer's positive and negative attributions reported earlier.



Figure 7.1. The graph shows the dissociation of observers' positive attributions of actors' facial appearance with the actors' depression scores.

Visually analysing the graph it is clear that actor's mood is not modulating observer's attributions, however, it is also clear that on average observer's chose a less neurotic image of actors whilst making positive attributions of the actors. The Neurotic Face Scale ranges from -9 (emotionally stable) to +9 (neurotic) with the original face as the midpoint represented as zero. This reinstates bias of the observers in identifying emotional stability as a positive attribute. Similar results were reported in Chapter 4 and discussed earlier. These results demonstrated observer's preference for emotionally stable composite faces as positive and neurotic composite faces as negative. Scott et al. (2013) used faces warped towards varying degrees of depressive facial cues, to force a choice by presenting two faces. Their results demonstrated a bias for milder depressive facial cues as positive. In our current study, we demonstrate similar bias despite using a 19-point scale that allows greater variation in responses and therefore provides stronger evidence for this positive bias. This bias of observers

is in stark contrast with the bias of actors making self-attributions. The actors demonstrated mood modulated negative bias of choosing a more neurotic face for positive self-attributions.

7.3.1.2 Actor's Wellbeing

We did not find significant correlations of actors' hedonic and eudemonic wellbeing with observers' positive or negative attributions, which is similar to the above results. In the social attribution study in Chapter 6, hedonic wellbeing correlated negatively with positive social attribution, suggesting increased misattribution of others with decreasing wellbeing. This subset from self-social attribution study, did not show significant correlation of actor's self and social attribution with their wellbeing. By pulling together the results of self and social attributions from the previous two studies (Chapter 5 and 6), the result here reiterates those reported earlier in this study that unlike actor's self and social attributions, observer's attribution of actors was not modulated by actor's wellbeing.

7.3.1.3 Actor's Neuroticism

Neuroticism was positively correlated with positive self-attribution, r = .279, p = .019, maintaining the results from the self-attribution study. This means that actors with greater neuroticism chose a more neurotic image for positive self-attribution. However, observers' positive and negative attributions of actors did not correlate significantly with actors' neuroticism showing a pattern similar to the results reported here previously.

The results so far provide a consistent picture, that observer's attributions were not modulated by actor's transient mood state or inherent neuroticism trait. It therefore appears that observers' attributions were driven by their own underlying biases. Similar underlying bias was observed for actors as well. This naturally leads to the question of how similar or dissimilar are observer's attributions of actors to actor's self-attributions, without accounting for actor's mood state? Our next analysis provides evidence towards this actor-observer consistency or inconsistency.

7.3.2 Basic attributions in self and observer's context

The actors' positive self-attribution correlated significantly with observers' positive attribution, r = .297, p = .012, but not the negative attributions (see Figure 7.2). The significant positive correlation demonstrates that when not accounting for actor's mood state, there is some consistency between actor's positive self-attribution and observer's positive attribution of the actors. A different picture emerges, however, when visually analysing the graphs in Figure 7.2.



Figure 7.2. The graphs show a positive correlation of observer's positive attribution with actor's positive self-attribution but a similar correlation was not observed for negative attributions. The underlying bias of observer's positive attribution towards emotionally stable appearance and negative attribution towards neurotic appearance is obvious here. Similar underlying bias of actors is observed mainly for negative attribution towards neurotic appearance. Otherwise, actor's attributions are dispersed along the emotionally stable-neurotic scale indicative of state- and trait-modulated misattributions.

Despite the consistency of actor-observer positive attributions suggested by the positive correlation, the differentiating biases are apparent. The observers' attributions are clearly driven by their positive bias towards emotionally stable facial appearance, because their responses on the graph are gathered more towards the emotionally stable part of the scale, with scores ranging between 2 and -4. In contrast, the actors display varying attribution biases with their responses scattered across the full scale between scores of 8 and -9. There are clearly some actors who demonstrate positive bias towards emotionally stable cues similar to the observers; however, there are some actors who exhibit negative bias. Reflecting on the result from the selfattribution study in Chapter 5, we can say that the actors with increasing depression demonstrated the misattributions relating to negative bias of self-exaggeration towards more neurotic appearance. Actors with increasing depression would have displayed facial cues of neuroticism or depression on their original image; however, they chose an image that displayed more neurotic appearance than their original image. Previous studies have reported exaggerated perception of self in individuals with depression (Chen et al., 2006; Kohler, Hoffman, Eastman, Healey, & Moberg, 2011; Liu et al., 2012) and other psychotic disorders (Uono et al., 2015). In addition to self-exaggeration, the results also indicate distorted perception (Bilderbeck et al., 2011; Blackwood et al., 2003) relating to negative bias with depression.

Observer's negative attribution of actors was not significantly correlated with actor's negative self-attribution. When visually analysing the graph however, it is clear that observer's demonstrated a negative bias for neurotic facial appearance because their responses were gathered towards the neurotic part of the scale between the scores of 2 and 6. Majority of actors displayed similar negative bias but some actors again displayed varying attribution biases.

By comparing actor-observer attributions, we have gained insight into their complex relationship. Despite appearing to have consistency between positive attributions of actors and observers, there are obvious inconsistencies. While actor's depressed mood state modulated their positive self-attribution, it was emotionally stable – neurotic appearance on the Neurotic Face Scale that modulated the observer's attribution of actors. In Chapter 6, we reported the consistency between actor's positive attributions of self and others, which was also modulated by actor's depressed mood state. By triangulating self, social, and observer attributions provides a better picture of mood, affecting self and social attributions but not observers' attribution of actors.

7.4 Discussion

In this chapter, I discuss the association of observers' attribution with actors' mood, wellbeing, and neuroticism as well as actors' self and social attributions. A total of 50 independent observers rated each of the 70 selected actors. Observers' individual responses for positive and negative attributions were averaged to obtain attributions that were comparable with respective self and social attributions. Observers' positive attributions were negatively associated with their negative attribution indicating contrasting facial cues of high and low neuroticism were well differentiated.

The main question in this study was whether actor's mood state, wellbeing state, and neuroticism trait would modulate observer's attribution of the actors. Previous evidence supports observer's attributions being influenced by actor's mood state (Crisp et al., 2000; Link et al., 1999). Our results show that unlike self and social attributions, observer's attributions were not modulated by actor's mood state, wellbeing state, or neuroticism trait. It therefore appeared that observers did not stigmatize actors on the basis of their depression; however, observer's attributions were, in actuality, modulated by the neurotic appearance of actor's face. The results demonstrated observer's positive bias of emotionally stable appearance and negative bias of neurotic appearance on the Neurotic Face Scale, which suggests stigma associated with mental health as previously reported (Link et al., 1999; Phelan & Basow, 2007; Scott et al., 2013).

As with any cognitive processes, stigma exists at implicit and explicit levels (Monteith & Pettit, 2011). Existing evidence highlights the importance of using explicit and implicit paradigms to measure observer's attributions, because they can tap into the different mechanisms (Monteith & Pettit, 2011). Monteith and Pettit (2011) reported more negative attitudes about depression compared to physical illness on implicit but not explicit measures. Our measures demonstrate implicit signs of stigma associated with neurotic facial appearance, although we did not measure explicit stigma.

The correlations between the attributions across the three contexts highlighted interesting findings. We found that actors' positive self-attribution was positively correlated with their positive social attribution as well as observers' positive attribution of actors. From visually analysing the graph, however, it was clear that unlike actors, observers chose less neurotic images for positive attribution for majority of the actors demonstrating positive bias for emotionally stable appearance. Whilst making positive attributions some actors, especially those experiencing depression, chose more neurotic image of self and others for positive attribution, of whom observers made positive attributions by choosing the image closer to the actor's original face. It therefore appears that actor's facial appearance on the Neurotic Face Scale does affect observer's attributions to some extent. The results here imply that despite the positive correlation between actor-observer positive attributions, the observers did not show the misattribution shown by those actors experiencing depression. From the self and social attribution studies, we have provided evidence that actors with greater depressive symptoms displayed greater misattributions of self and other's facial cues indicating negative bias. Prior research reported that individuals with current or past depressive experiences needed greater intensities of expression to recognise happy emotion accurately, which indicated negative attention bias relating to depression (LeMoult et al., 2009). The results from the first two attribution studies corroborate this evidence because we demonstrated depressionmodulated misattributions mainly affecting positive attributions. The positive cues from a neutral looking face may be more ambiguous than the negative cues relating to high neuroticism.

Prior studies have reported dissociation of observer-actor attributions on the basis of the available information and differential salience between the actors and the observers (Jones & Nisbett, 1972; Jones, Worchel, Goethals, & Grumet, 1971). Jones and Nisbett (1972) proposed that actors tend to make situational attribution to their behaviour, while observers attribute it to stable behaviours of the actors. This study did not investigate situational or dispositional attributions, instead we focused on understanding the dynamics of attributions in self, social and observer context. We found observers' and actors' positive and negative attributions were differentially correlated, with significant positive correlation only for positive attributions. This differential correlation could be related to a lack of information available whilst

making attribution of unfamiliar individuals as reported in previous studies (Jones & Nisbett, 1972).

We could also explain the differential correlation on the basis that actors' positive attribution in self and social contexts had greater variance along the Neurotic Face Scale, a moderation of which was also seen in observers' attributions. The negative attribution of actors and observers, however, were similarly biased towards neurotic facial appearance. Each observer's attribution is in actuality an average of 50 responses and therefore on average they represent a generally accepted bias. On this basis, actor-observer consistency for negative bias provides evidence for actors' negative attributions to be more consistent with the generally observed negative bias than their positive attributions. This further supports the evidence that misattributions displayed by actors experiencing depression were specifically for positive attributions, whilst maintaining negative attributions consistent with observers. It appears that underlying bias and self-inference modulate positive attributions, and hence dependant on state or trait of the observing individuals, whilst negative attributions are more consistent because they are modulated largely by the underlying bias. In other words, actors experiencing depression were accurate for negative cues in self and social contexts indicating negative attention bias and misattribution of positive cues indicating misperceptions, which is consistent with existing evidence (Platt, Murphy, & Lau, 2015). Our attribution tasks were sensitive enough to measure these negative biases and misattributions relating to depressive disorder, corroborating previous evidence (Bourke, Douglas, & Porter, 2010; LeMoult et al., 2009; Maniglio et al., 2014; Webb & Ayers, 2015).

So far, our studies provide specific evidence of the negative facial cues of self and others being misconstrued as positive with increasing depression. The misperceptions observed in this study, may be limited to neurotic appearance of face but this perforates into social interactions and malign social functioning. Park et al. (2016) reported how mood modulated misperceptions affected the perceived quality of social communications on social media, which is a snap shot of how misperceptions translate into dysfunctions in real life. On this basis, we propose that developing interventions to target re-training, correcting or realigning positive perceptions, would be greatly beneficial to individuals exhibiting negative bias.

7.5 Conclusion

We conclude that actors' mood, wellbeing and neuroticism were associated with their self and social attributions but were dissociated with observers' attributions. With increasing depression, actors chose neurotic facial cues as positive in self and social contexts, but actor's depression did not affect observers' attributions. Both actors and observers, however, showed consistent underlying positive and negative bias towards emotionally stable and neurotic facial appearance respectively. The results also support that with increasing depression actors' negative attributions were more consistent with the observer's negative attributions, unlike actor's positive attributions with greater variance demonstrating misattribution. Future interventions could target to re-train and reduce the overly negative perception affecting misattributions and to increase positive perception.

PART D – The clinical application of self-attributions of facial appearance

In Chapter 1, I discussed the neurocognitive model of depression that explained the series of neurobiological and behavioural changes that precede the experience of depressive mood state. This provided the rationale for developing a new attribution task to target implicit cognitive processes in order to measure the subtle behaviour changes that could be early predictors of change in depression. In Part B and Part C of this thesis, I discussed the development of our attribution task using face stimuli, and how it was adapted to measure self, social and observer attributions. I further discussed the relation of self, social, and observer attributions with severity of actor's depressive state, wellbeing and neuroticism.

Having demonstrated, in particular, the sensitivity of self-attribution to depressive state in a non-clinical sample, I want to extend my investigation with a clinical population. A longitudinal study can assess the dynamic relation between selfattribution and depression. I will discuss this clinical study, its results and its future implications in Chapter 8.

CHAPTER 8 – Self-attributions of facial appearance: An early predictor and monitor of reducing depression

Abstract

Neurocognitive model of depression suggests that neurobiological changes can produce behavioural changes in individuals, before they experience a mood change. On this basis, we propose that subtle behavioural changes could predict intervention response. Using the self-attribution task, we investigate the behavioural changes that could be early predictors of mood change. Individuals with current experience of depressive symptoms, but without manic or psychotic symptoms, participated in this study. In this longitudinal study, with five time points across 11 weeks, we found gradual changes in self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy. In addition, decrease in self-negativity and increase in self- positivity in the first week, were significant predictors of depression score at Week 11, indicating early behavioural predictors of intervention response.

8.1 Introduction

Neurocognitive model of depression explain how changes in neurobiology affects changes in cognitive abilities. Tryptophan depletion paradigms are based on this model and provide evidence of changes in tryptophan levels affecting imminent changes in cognitive abilities, even before individuals experience any changes in mood (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016; (Harmer & Cowen, 2013; Hornboll et al., 2013; Passamonti et al., 2012). This evidence indicates potential behavioural predictors of mood change that could be harnessed to predict intervention response for depression. Such predictors can help to identify effective interventions faster and reduce the trial and error period. The trial and error period is consequential because there is no single medication or treatment for depression that is effective for all; hence having to go through a period of trials to identify the intervention that works for each individual.

Clinical trials such as Texas Medication Algorithm Project and STAR*D tried to identify processes to reduce this trial and error period. The resultant advice from these trials included, bi-weekly monitoring using Quick Inventory for Depressive Symptomology – self report or Patient Health Questionnaire – 9 (PHQ-9) and reviewing treatment plan, if PHQ-9 scores were greater than or equal to nine at the start of week four (Thase, Entsuah, & Rudolph, 2001; Thase, 2014). These reports suggest at least three weeks to confirm treatment response for depression. It also shows that, the traditional methods of interviews and self-reports are effective in confirming symptoms of depression and remission, but limited in identifying early behavioural changes or making early prognosis.

Patient reported data from STAR*D, were later used to gather the variables that were most predictive of antidepressants-treatment outcomes. Through a machine learning approach, this study identified a model with 25 variables. This model was, however, limited to predicting outcomes of citalopram after two weeks of treatment (Chekroud et al., 2016). Another study investigating leukocyte mRNA expression levels of genes belonging to glucocorticoid receptor, reported to have identified a biomarker for antidepressant response (Cattaneo et al., 2012). Screening for such a marker could be an important pre-emptive measure for improving treatment plans and thereby reducing the trial and error period for antidepressants, but leaves the gap in identifying response to other interventions. The PReDICT randomised controlled trial proposed, in their study protocol, to explore an array of potential predictors of remission, including demographics, personality, functional neuro-connectivity, neuroendocrine function, immune markers and DNA. These would be entered into complex algorithms to identify predictors of treatment(s) and recurrence or remission (Dunlop et al., 2012). Their results are yet to be published. Evidently, there is a lack of understanding regarding early predictors and how we might measure them.

Neural imaging studies provide evidence of early behavioural changes relating to changes in neurobiology (Hornboll et al., 2013; Passamonti et al., 2012). Tryptophan depletion studies demonstrate increased emotional bias (Hornboll et al., 2013) and reduced accuracy for face signals of emotion (Harmer et al., 2003b) and traits (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016), prior to experiencing change in mood. Such biases seem to be modulated by wider neural networks involved in attention (parietal cortex, visual cortex, fusiform gyrus), self-referential processing (medial PFC, precuneus) and memory (hippocampus) (Harmer & Cowen, 2013; Lemogne et al., 2010; Lemogne et al., 2012). Even though the neurobiological bases of depression appear to be very broad, some evidence converges on the prefrontal functions.

Changes in prefrontal signals, after one week of antidepressant treatments, were consistently related to response and remission in depression (Cook, Espinoza, & Leuchter, 2014; Harmer, 2014; Leuchter et al., 2010). Similarly, changes in prefrontal activations were associated with improvements in mood following psychological therapies including cognitive behaviour therapy (Roiser et al., 2012; Yoshimura et al., 2014). The fronto-limbic networks were also consistently associated with changes in cognitive and emotional biases following improvements in mood (Elliott et al., 2011; Fossati, 2008; Tahmasian et al., 2013). It would, therefore, be useful to target those behaviours that rely on prefrontal networks, in order to measure the changes following wider range of medical and psychosocial interventions. Evidence supports the prefrontal activations being linked to self-referential processes (Keenan et al., 2000; Nejad, Fossati, & Lemogne, 2013; Tahmasian et al., 2013). By targeting changes in the self-referential processing, we might be able to measure the early changes in the prefrontal networks: providing an early behavioural marker.

The self-attribution task is an ideal candidate to measure subtle self-referential processing. Using this task, we previously measured individual differences in self-attributions that were sensitive to subjective mood, wellbeing and traits (Chapter 5). Furthermore, we measured participant's own mental self-representations, which were referred to as separation indices (SIs). The SIs were measured as the magnitude of discrepancy between two basic self-attributions, details of which are explained in the self-attribution study (Chapter 5). These measures were sensitive to mood and wellbeing, and even differentiated behaviour patterns relating to neuroticism and agreeableness.

In our self-attribution study (Chapter 5), we measured SIs relating to selfnegativity, self- positivity and self-discrepancy. We demonstrated that self-negativity increased with increasing severity of depression. Self-negativity is a measure of individual's distinction between perceived actual self and perceived negative self. The 'current self' and negative self, has the potential to change over time because mood and perception about self might change over time. From the self-attribution study, we found the pattern of increasing self-negativity and self-discrepancy with increasing depression and decreasing wellbeing. We were also able to identify greater self-positivity as an adaptive behaviour relating to increasing hedonic wellbeing and agreeableness. Such changes in biases towards self could have a predictive quality. Evidence suggests early increase in positive bias could predict the ultimate improvement in depressive symptoms (Gollan et al., 2015; Gollan et al., 2016; Warren et al., 2015). Thus, the SIs might be the ideal measures to tap into the selfreferential processes as well as the shifting biases towards self, in relation to mood change.

In this study, we investigate self-attributions of individuals with depression and its dynamics over time. We focus on individual's mental representations of selffacial appearance, that is, SIs referring to self-negativity, self-positivity and selfdiscrepancy. We hypothesis that decreasing self-negativity and self-discrepancy, as well as increasing self-positivity, will overlap decreasing severity of depressive symptoms, over the study period. We further investigate, whether a change in these behavioural measures in the first week can predict reduced depression score at the final time-point. That is, changes in self-representation will precede and predict mood changes. On the basis of the neurocognitive theory, we propose an early reduction in self-negativity and increase in self-positivity would predict mood. Reduced depression at the final follow up will be taken as the proxy measure for intervention response.

8.2 Methods

We recruited 29 individuals who were experiencing depression through selfreferrals and referrals from General Practitioners (GPs) and mental health professionals, of which 17 (11 females) participants completed the study with mean age 27.94±14.59. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee at School of Psychology, Bangor University and the North Wales Research Ethics Committee and the Research & Development Office, Betsi Cadwaldr University Health Board [IRAS ref. 115281, MREC ref. 13/WA/0197].

All potential participants were provided with Participant Information Sheet, and those who gave informed consent were screened before entering into the study. After the first session, the participants were provided with information regarding medical and psychological support available in North Wales. In case of any risk during the study, the risk protocol prepared for the study was to be followed. Depending on the imminence of risk, the support would be available from the G.P., or a Consultant Psychiatrist or the emergency services. All participants were debriefed at the end of the study.

8.2.1 Inclusion criteria: Individuals currently experiencing depression were included in the study. We did not provide or control for the interventions received for depression; details of which are provided later. Participant's ability to see faces and read from a computer screen was confirmed. The measures and behavioural task used in this study were presented only in English, and therefore participant's consent to communicate in English was also confirmed.

8.2.2 Exclusion criteria: Individuals experiencing manic-depressive symptoms and symptoms of psychotic disorder were excluded from the study.

Participants were initially screened for both inclusion and exclusion criteria. The semi-structured interview using Structured Clinical Interview for DSM VI (SCID) for Axis I disorders (First et al., 2002), confirmed both inclusion (current depression) and exclusion (manic-depression and psychotic disorders) criteria. **8.2.3 Study design**: This was a longitudinal study over 11-12 weeks period, with five time-points. Once confirmed eligible and entered in the study, the participants were seen at baseline and four follow-ups (Week 1, Week 3, Week 5-6 and Week 11-12). An extensive SCID interview was conducted only at baseline for confirming diagnosis, but Module A of SCID that focus on mood disorder was repeated at the last two time-points. The 14-Item Resilience Scale (RS-14) (Damásio, Borsa, & da Silva, 2011) and a demographic questionnaire were used only at baseline.

RS-14 contains five items referring to "self-reliance", three items referring to "meaningfulness", two items referring to "equanimity", two items referring to "perseverance", and two items referring to "existential aloneness". The response scale was from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The sum of the responses gave the total score that ranged from 14 to 98 with low resilience scoring 73 or below and high resilience scoring 91 or above.

Patient Health Questionnaire – 9 items (PHQ-9) (Kroenke, Spitzer, & Williams, 2001), Hamilton Depression Rating Scale -17(HDRS) (Hamilton, 1960), EQ visual analogue scale (EQ VAS) (Oppe, Devlin, & Szende, 2007; Rabin & Charro, 2001), IDS (Zimmerman, Sheeran, & Young, 2004), FS, SPANE (Diener et al., 2010), and the self and social attribution tasks, were repeated at all time-points. Three different measures of depression were used to investigate the sensitivity of the self-attributions to depression, measured by different inventories.

The IDS was used for continuity from our previous studies. The HDRS was rated by the interviewer and provided a proxy measure of depression. It has 17 items relating to depressive symptoms with responses from 0 (none) to 4 (maximum symptom) for nine items; 0 (none) to 3 (maximum symptom) for two items related to weight gain or loss, of which only one should be answered; and 0 (none) to 2 (maximum symptoms) for seven items. A sum of these responses provided the total score that ranged from 0 to 52. Depression severity was rated as follows; 0-7 as None, 8-16 as Mild, 17-23 as Moderate, and 24-52 as Severe (Hamilton, 1960; Zimmerman et al., 2004).

The PHQ-9 was recommended for routine monitoring to aid treatment plan review (Thase et al., 2001; Thase, 2014). In the UK, the GPs commonly use PHQ-9 (Cameron, Crawford, Lawton, & Reid, 2007) and therefore our investigation focused on the association of the SIs with this self-rated measure. In addition, PHQ-9 focuses on the key depressive symptoms providing depression specific scores, unlike the IDS and the HDRS that include associated anxiety and somatic symptoms as well. The PHQ-9 has nine items relating to occurrence of depressive symptoms in the seven days prior to the assessment; with responses from zero (Not at all) to three (Nearly every day). The sum of the responses gave the total score that ranged from 0 to 27. Depression severity was assessed accordingly; 0-4 as None, 5-9 as Mild, 10-14 as Moderate, 15-19 as Moderately severe, 20-27 as Severe (Kroenke et al., 2001).

The EQ VAS measured participant's self-rated health on a vertical, visual analogue scale with endpoints of 100 labelled as 'Best imaginable health state' and 0 as 'Worst imaginable health state'. This measure helped to understand the participant's own feeling about their overall health, at each time-point.

The self-attribution task is explained in Chapter 5, in Part C. To explain briefly, the self-attribution task was set up using individual's own photograph. A series of 19 images created using their photographs, changed in gradual increments from emotionally stable face to high neurotic face. The images were presented one at a time, in the middle of a computer screen. When participants pressed either the right or left arrow keys, the images changed through a looped sequence, back and forth, in their order on the implicit neurotic face scale. This gave the impression of the presented face changing, as controlled by the participant. The presentation of looped sequence of images made it difficult for the observer to understand the lateral representation of the scale. Participants selected one image for each instruction by pressing the spacebar.

The instructions were to choose their actual ('Choose your actual face'), ideal ('Choose your ideal face'), positive self and negative self. The instructions for positive self were, 'Make the face look most happy and content', 'Make the face look calm stable and well-balanced', and 'Make the face look most attractive'. The instructions for negative self were, 'Make the face look unhappy and least content', 'Make the face look anxious and emotionally unstable', and 'Make the face look least attractive'.

The social attribution task is adopted from the social attribution study; the procedures and presentation is explained in Chapter 6. To briefly explain, faces of unfamiliar 'others' were used to set up the task and the instructions were limited to those appropriate whilst making attributions of others. Hence, the instructions were limited to basic positive (happy, calm, attractive) and negative (unhappy, anxious, least attractive) attributions.

8.3 Data Analysis

The method for measuring SIs is explained in the self-attribution study (Chapter 5). We measured self-negativity (SI_{an}), self-positivity (SI_{ap}), and selfdiscrepancy (SI_{ai}). Self-negativity referenced perceived actual self against perceived negative self, self-positivity referenced perceived actual self against perceived positive self, and self-discrepancy referenced perceived actual self against perceived ideal self. All the measures except self-discrepancy had inverse scales, that is, greater scores of SI_{an}, SI_{ap}, indicated lesser negativity and positivity respectively. These inverse scales were reverse scored to reflect increasing scores relating to increasing self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy. We explored the longitudinal dynamics of the SIs using graphs. The SIs with increasing or decreasing linear trends was further analysed.

In further analysis, the changes of SIs in the first week were computed as the difference (subtraction) of the respective SIs at baseline and Week 1. The scores ranged between -20 and 20. Since this was a measure of difference (baseline – Week 1), a score of zero meant no difference in the individual's mental representation in the first week. A negative score meant lesser self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy at Week 1 compared to baseline. While a positive score meant greater self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy at Week 1 compared to baseline. While a positive score meant greater self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy at Week 1 compared to baseline. Thus, they reflected the quality of change in the first week; for example, decrease or increase in self-negativity at Week 1 compared to baseline. Correlations of these behavioural changes in the first week with depression score at final time point were assessed, to identify potential early behavioural predictors. Finally using regression analysis, we identified the changes in SIs in the first week that predicted the PHQ-9 score at Week 11 and the change in the PHQ-9 score from baseline to Week 11.

The basic positive and negative social attributions were also explored visually, to understand the longitudinal changes. This provides evidence of changes in attribution in the social context that overlaps with changes in self-attribution.

8.4 Results

A total number of 45 participants had telephone discussions about the study, of which 29 completed the initial screening. A total of 21 participants entered the study. Three participants were excluded after completing the SCID because of meeting exclusion criteria. One participant withdrew at Week 5 due to ill health. A total of 17 (11 female) participants completed the study. One participant missed the third follow up, but completed the final follow up which was delayed by two weeks. The group had mean age, M = 27.94, SD = 14.59, age range = 19 – 63, and mean resilience, M = 52.35, SD = 12.46. The group mean scores of the rest of the measures, changed over the five time points and are given in Table 8.1. The mean scores at each time point indicate gradually decreasing depression, improving wellbeing and perceived physical health. Importantly, the severity of depression measured using PHQ-9 decreased across the five time points, as shown in Figure 8.1. This was despite participants receiving some or no interventions.

8.4.1 Interventions

All the participants who completed the study were experiencing depression (for the past 2 weeks). At the beginning of the study, 11 participants received antidepressants (two participants started their treatment more than one week prior to the baseline), one participant received therapy and five participants received no interventions. Through the 11 weeks, three participants receiving antidepressants also received therapy, and from those with no intervention, one participant received antidepressants and two participants received therapy.

	Baseline	Week1	Week 3	Week 5-6	Week 11-12
IDS	42.82 (11.41)	36.24 (14.73)	29.65 (15.74)	29.75 (17.96)	22.59 (15.97)
PHQ-9	18.18 (5.31)	14.59 (5.36)	11.71 (5.84)	11.62 (6.41)	8.59 (6.54)
HDRS	21.82 (7.99)	18.24 (9.39)	11.41 (7.68)	12.31 (8.32)	6.94 (5.33)
EQ VAS	46.35 (16.14)	45.41 (19.95)	50.00 (21.83)	49.06 (21.68)	64.65 (20.81)
FS	28.35 (7.95)	28.53 (8.66)	30.65 (10.06)	31.69 (11.54)	36.18 (10.45)
SPANE					
Positive	12.82 (2.86)	14.35 (4.11)	14.82 (5.13)	15.50 (5.56)	18.18 (5.81)
Negative	22.65 (3.62)	20.41 (4.70)	20.53 (4.90)	18.19 (5.17)	17.41 (4.50)
Balanced	-9.82 (5.39)	-6.06 (8.26)	-5.71 (9.65)	-3.69 (10.00)	0.76 (9.80)

Table 8.1. Mean and standard deviation of all the measures across the five time-points.

Note. Descriptive statistics are reported as mean (standard deviation). IDS, Inventory of Depressive Symptomology; PHQ-9, Patient Health Questionnaire-9; HDRS, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; EQ VAS, EuroQol Visual Analogue Scale; FS, Flourishing Scale; SPANE, Scale of Positive and Negative Experiences



Reduction in depression (PHQ-9) over 11 weeks (1 se error bars)

Figure 8.1. The graph shows the group mean depression scores decreasing across the five time points. PHQ-9, Patient Health Questionnaire - 9

8.4.2 Dynamics of SIs (self-attribution) over time

The group means of the SIs were used graphically, to visualise the trends across the five time points. The three graphs are shown in Figure 8.2, and they demonstrate the gradual changes in self-negativity, self-positivity and selfdiscrepancy. To be more precise, the group had decreasing self-negativity and selfdiscrepancy, as well as increasing self-positivity across the five time points. In Figure 8.1, we have already demonstrated an overlapping decrease in the group's depression score over the same period. Together, these results demonstrate decreasing depression related to decreasing self-negativity and self-discrepancy, as well as increasing selfpositivity. This further validates the self-attribution task and its relationship to depression, within a small longitudinal study.



Figure 8.2. The graphs show a) Decrease in SI_{an} , b) Increase in SI_{ap} , and c) Decrease in SI_{ai} , across the five time-points in 11 weeks. The group had decreasing self-negativity, increasing self-positivity and decreasing self-discrepancy that overlapped with decreasing depression scores (Figure 8.1).

8.4.3 Correlations of the change in SIs in the first week

We next sought to see whether changes in self-attribution measures might predict future changes in depression. For this, changes in the three SIs during the first week, were computed as a difference of the respective scores at Week 1 and baseline. A score of zero meant no change in the individuals' mental self-representation, in the first week. A negative score meant lesser self-negativity, self-positivity, and selfdiscrepancy at Week 1 compared to baseline; while a positive score meant greater self-negativity, self-positivity, and self-discrepancy at Week 1 compared to baseline.

Change in self-negativity in the first week was negatively correlated with changes in self-positivity in the first week, r = -.553, p = .02. This shows that in the first week a decrease in self-negativity was related to increase in self-positivity, displaying an inverse relationship between the two self-attributions.

The key results showed that changes in self-negativity during Week 1, related to participants' mental state at Week 11. Decreases in self-negativity in the first week were correlated with PHQ-9 (depression) at Week 11, r = .551, p = .02 and FS (eudemonic wellbeing) at Week 11, r = .491, p = .04. Decrease in self-negativity in the first week also had a non-significant correlation with balanced experience (hedonic wellbeing) at Week 11, r = .419, p = .094. Consistent with these results, changes in self-positivity during Week 1 were associated with the participants' mental state at Week 11. Increases in self-positivity in the first week were significantly correlated with depression, r = .520, p = .03, and eudemonic, r = .542, p = .02 and hedonic, r = .541, p = .02 wellbeing at Week 11. Changes in self-discrepancy during Week 1, however, did not correlate significantly with depression (r = .246, p = .34) or wellbeing (eudemonic, r = .398, p = .11; hedonic, r = .248, p = .34) at Week 11.

A partial correlation analysis controlling for change in depression in the first week (computed as the difference in depression score between baseline and Week 1) showed changes in self-negativity in the first week maintained the significant correlation with depression at Week 11, r = .650, p = .009 and eudemonic wellbeing at Week 11, r = ..615, p = .01. Similarly, changes in self-positivity in the first week maintained the significant correlations with eudemonic wellbeing at Week 11, r =.571, p = .03 and hedonic wellbeing at Week 11, r = .523, p = .04. These results suggest that changes in self-attributions in the first week were significantly associated with mood and wellbeing state of individuals at Week 11, even after controlling for the change in mood in the first week.

Besides the above correlations, the changes in self-attribution in the first week correlated with changes in depression and hedonic wellbeing across the study period; computed as the difference between scores at baseline and Week 11. Changes in self-negativity in the first week was positively correlated with changes in depression, r = .506, p = .046, whereas changes in self-positivity in the first week was correlated with changes in hedonic wellbeing, r = .507, p = .038. These correlations show that decrease in self-negativity in the first week related to decrease in depression over 11 weeks, and increase in self-positivity in the first week related to increase in hedonic wellbeing over 11 weeks.

No other significant correlations were found between changes in selfattribution and changes in depression or wellbeing within the first week. Interestingly, even the change in depression in the first week did not correlate significantly with change in depression over 11 weeks, r = .383, p = .143, highlighting the potential sensitivity of early changes in self-attributions over early changes in depression or wellbeing as predictors of mood.

Beyond mood and wellbeing, we found other measures that correlate with the early changes in self-attribution. Increasing age was correlated with decreases in self-negativity, r = -.526, p = .03 and positively with increases in self-positivity, r = .474, p = .05 (non-significantly) in the first week. Similar trends were observed for resilience; decreases in self-negativity, r = .481, p = .05, and increases in self-positivity, r = .418, p = .09. No other significant correlations were found.

8.4.4 Change in SIs in the first week as predictors of mood

In the next analysis, the changes in self-negativity and self-positivity in the first week were used in regression models, to predict PHQ-9 at Week 11. In the linear regression analyses, PHQ-9 at Week 11 was the dependent variable. The independent predictor variable in Model 1 was change in self-negativity and in Model 2 was change in self-positivity. Both models were significant predictors of PHQ-9 at Week 11: self- negativity, $R^2 = .304$, F(1, 15) = 6.55, p = .02, and self-positivity, $R^2 = .270$, F(1, 15) = 5.56, p = .03. This meant that changes in self-negativity and self-positivity in the first week could independently predict depression at Week 11. The results show that, decreasing self-negativity, $\beta = .551$, t(16) = 2.56, p = .02, or increasing self-positivity, $\beta = .520$, t(16) = -2.36, p = .03, in the first week predicted depression at Week 11 (see Figure 8.3).



Reduced self-negativity (SI_{an}) in the 1st week predict depression at week 11

Increased self-positivity (SI_{ap}) in the 1st week predict depression at week 11



Figure 8.3. The graphs show the change self-negativity (SI_{an}) and self-positivity (SI_{ap}) in the first week as predictors of Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) in the final follow up at week 11. The score below 0 on the y-axis indicate decrease in self-negativity and self-positivity in the first week and scores below 9 on the x-axis indicate mild to not depressed state.

Additional regression analysis followed the significant positive correlation between change in self-negativity in the first week and change in depression across the study period. Change in self-negativity in the first week was a significant predictor of change in depression across the study (difference between baseline and Week 11), $R^2 = .256$, F(1, 15) = 4.81, p = .046. The result shows that a decrease in selfnegativity in the first week, $\beta = .506$, t(16) = 2.19, p = .046, predicted decrease in depression over 11 weeks. However, change in self-negativity in the first week did not predict change in depression during the first week, r = .330, p = .196, suggesting that changes in self-attribution could be preceding changes in mood.

The group mean depression scores at the five time-points could be explored to understand the extent of the change. Although there is a significant difference in the group mean depression in the first week, t(16) = 3.34, p = .004, the mean score of 14.59 at Week 1 range between 'moderate' to 'moderately severe' depression according to PHQ-9 classification of depression severity. This shows that the significant decrease in mean depression in the first week does not actually account to improved mood-state, which would otherwise be classified as 'not depressed' or 'mildly depressed'. Only the group mean depression of 8.59 at Week 11 meets the classification of 'mildly depressed'. All the results so far suggest that changes in selfattributions in the first week might be more sensitive to intervention response and hence a better predictor of mood change.

This is interesting because the study was not controlled for interventions. Some participants received mono or combination treatments of antidepressants and psychological therapies, while some received no treatments at all. Those who did not receive any treatments were also among the participants who showed increased selfpositivity and decreased self-negativity in the first week. The early changes in attribution could therefore be related to other protective factors, which predict decreasing depressive experience at Week 11. These protective factors could include resilience and changing cognitive and emotional biases relating to self.

8.4.5 Change in SIs in the first week as predictors of wellbeing

The models used in the previous analyses to predict depression at Week 11, were also used to predict wellbeing at Week 11. As might be expected, we saw similar patterns of results. Change in self-negativity, $R^2 = .241$, F(1, 15) = 4.77, p = .04, and self-positivity, $R^2 = .294$, F(1, 15) = 6.24, p = .02, in the first week were significant predictors of eudemonic wellbeing at Week 11. The results showed that decreasing self-negativity, $\beta = .491$, t(15) = -2.18, p = .04, and increasing self-positivity, $\beta = .542$, t(15) = 2.49, p = .02, in the first week, predicted improved eudemonic wellbeing at Week 11. Hedonic wellbeing was, however, related only with self-positivity. Change in self-positivity, $R^2 = .292$, F(1, 15) = 6.19, p = .02, in the first week was a significant predictor of hedonic wellbeing at Week 11. Consistent with the pattern so far, increasing self-positivity in the first week ($\beta = .541$, t(15) = 2.49, p = .02), predicted hedonic wellbeing at Week 11. Therefore, changes in self-attribution predict wellbeing as well as depression at a later time.

Change in self-positivity, $R^2 = .257$, F(1, 15) = 5.19, p = .038, in the first week was a significant predictor of change in hedonic wellbeing over 11 weeks. This result shows that increasing self-positivity in the first week ($\beta = .507$, t(15) = 2.28, p = .038) predicted increasing hedonic wellbeing over 11 weeks.

8.4.6 Changes in social attribution over 11 weeks

Participant's positive and negative basic social attributions were also observed to change over the 11 weeks, as illustrated in Figure 8.4. As explained previously, the neurotic face scale ranged from -9 (emotionally stable) through 0 (original face) to +9 (neurotic). The graph shows decreasing scores for positive attribution, indicating that more emotionally stable images were being identified as positive, over the 11 weeks. Similarly, increasing scores for negative attribution indicates that more neurotic images are being identified as negative, over the 11 weeks. The results here indicate, increasing alignment of positive and negative biases with emotionally stable traits and neurotic traits respectively, which is consistent with the results in Chapter 4. We could therefore explain, that with improving mood and wellbeing, participants' attributions align more accurately with the respective traits. Further analysis, however, showed that changes in positive or negative social attributions did not predict depression at Week 11.



Figure 8.4. The graphs show a) Decrease in positive social attribution, and b) Increase in negative social attribution across the five time-points in 11 weeks. On average the group had increasingly positive bias for emotionally stable traits and negative bias for neurotic traits over 11 weeks.

8.4.6 Supplementary information

All participants reported having a white ethnic background. Of the 17 participants, two were married (one going through marriage break up), two were divorced (one living with partner), one participant was living with partner and the rest were single. Three participants had dependent children. Five participants were employed; two participants were on benefits and the rest were on student loan. Four participants were educated at postgraduate level, two at diploma level and the rest were current degree students, four of whom were mature students returning after a period of employment. Eight participants spoke more than one language.

Seven participants experienced childhood trauma from infancy (earliest memories) to 15 years; this relating to issues of physical, mental, sexual and financial nature. One participant experienced homelessness in the past. Fourteen participants experienced comorbidities along with current depression, which between them included anxiety, social phobia, panic attacks, self-harm, alcohol misuse, compulsive disorder, body-dismorphia and post traumatic stress disorder. Two participants had multiple past depressive episodes, which one described as 'too many to count' and the other as 'since the age of 29'. Other's experience varied from a single episode to maximum of five episodes. The age of first onset of depression ranged from seven to 28 years, with an early onset for the majority. Four participants had onset before they were aged 10, seven had onset before they were aged 16, four had onset before they were aged 19.

All participants reported experiencing reduced severity of depression, improved wellbeing and health state, at the final time point of the study. Some participants had PHQ-9 scores below 10 at Week 11, indicating they were either 'not depressed' or 'mildly depressed', regardless of their intervention types. Majority in this group did not express improved mood at an early time point, although two participants expressed 'feeling better' by the third time point. All participants reported having positive experience with the study and some even suggested this making a difference in their experience of depression. The extensive SCID interview conducted at baseline was especially appreciated. We could explain this positive experience of participants, as a factor for reducing depression during the study period, which was observed even in those who were not receiving any intervention. The in-depth interview and longitudinal monitoring could have emulated a feeling of being cared about, however, we do acknowledge this is only anecdotal evidence.

8.5 Discussion and conclusion

In this longitudinal study running over a period of 11 weeks, we used our selfattribution task to investigate the changes in self-perceptions of individuals who were clinically depressed. This was the first study to use the self and social attribution tasks in a longitudinal study with clinical population. The focus here is on the separation indices (SIs) of self-attributions. The SIs referred to the magnitude of separation between two basic self-attributions, on the Neurotic Face Scale and relates to the participant's mental representation of self-facial appearance.

The three SIs, i.e. self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy, changed across the 11 weeks. During this period, self-negativity and self-discrepancy decreased while self-positivity increased. These changes in SIs overlapped with decreasing severity of depression and increasing wellbeing. This substantiates our hypothesis for changes in mental representations of self-facial appearance, in response to changes in depressive symptoms.

So far, we have consistently demonstrated the association between selfnegativity and severity of depression. In the self-attribution study (Chapter 5), we discussed depressive symptoms correlating with negative self-representation at a single time point. The current study, demonstrates similar relation between depressive symptoms and self-representation over multiple time points. Such consistency emphasises the quality of the Neurotic Face Scale.
The longitudinal changes in self-representation, in the current study, include increasing self-positivity and decreasing self-negativity, which overlapped with decreasing depressive symptoms. These changes highlight the shift in positive and negative perceptions relating to improving mood state. This is consistent with previous reports of increased positive bias and decreased negative bias, following antidepressant treatment for depression (Capitão, Murphy, Browning, Cowen, & Harmer, 2015; Chen et al., 2014; Warren et al., 2015). Imaging studies have previously, provided evidence for the underlying neural networks associated with such changes in perception. Fronto-limbic networks were shown to have increased activation whilst processing positive information and decreased activation whilst processing negative information, post treatment (Jaworska, Yang, Knott, & MacQueen, 2015; Ma et al., 2014; Outhred et al., 2014).

It has been proposed that early increase in positive and decrease in negative biases have predictive value for ultimate improvement in depressive symptoms (Anderson et al., 2011; Gollan et al., 2015; LeMoult et al., 2009; LeMoult, Ordaz, Kircanski, Singh, & Gotlib, 2015; Münkler et al., 2015; Roiser, Elliott, & Sahakian, 2011a; Warren et al., 2015). Corroborating such propositions, in the current study we demonstrated that decrease in self-negativity and increase in self-positivity in the first week predicted reduced depression at Week 11. These predictive values were observed, despite controlling for the change in depression in the first week. Furthermore, decrease in self-negativity in the first week was a significant predictor of the change in depression across the eleven weeks. These results highlight the sensitivity of the changes in self-attribution as an early predictor of mood. It should be noted that, this predictive quality exists even when not controlling for the interventions received by our participants or ensuring their consistent commencement. This could be considered as a limitation of this study or interpreted as the sensitivity of the SIs in monitoring behavioural changes regardless of the intervention. The key point however, is the change in individual's perception preceded their subjective experience of improved mood state, i.e. mean depression score was not in the 'not depressed or mildly depressed' range. This is consistent with previous results, showing tryptophan depletion affecting changes in perception prior to experiencing changes in mood (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016; Harmer et al., 2003b; Harmer et al., 2003). Thus, confirming the sensitivity of the self-attribution task to early behavioural changes, as described by the neurobiological model of depression.

Consistent with previous studies, our results also showed gradual changes in social attributions: with increasing positive bias towards emotionally stable images and negative bias towards neurotic images. This result suggests appropriate realigning of biases with improving mood, and gives a glimpse of how these changes might improve social interactions (Taylor & Brown, 1994; Taylor & Brown, 1988). Unlike self-attributions, however, the changes in social attributions did not predict depression at Week 11. We could therefore be looking at the time series of behavioural changes in response to mood change. The first change occurring in self-perceptions that gradually seeps into social attributions and therefore improving social functioning in due course. This concurs with the cognitive model of depression and relates to how changes in cognitive bias could transfer between self and social contexts (Beck et al., 1979; Beck, 2008; Beck & Bredemeier, 2016). This concept shows the therapeutic potential for cognitive modification trainings (Adams, Penton-Voak, Harmer, Holmes,

& Munafo, 2013; Blackwell et al., 2015; Browning, Holmes, & Harmer, 2010; Browning, Holmes, Charles, Cowen, & Harmer, 2012; Dunlop et al., 2012; Heeren, De Raedt, Koster, & Philippot, 2013; Murphy et al., 2015).

The key limitation of this study is the small sample size. The results based on a small sample risks loosing validity and reliability, although our longitudinal data does replicate similar associations at different time-points and those observed in the self-attribution study (Chapter 5). However, they do demonstrate the potential for applications in real world, if it can be replicated with bigger samples. Another aspect of the study is that, we only controlled for comorbidities of manic-depression and psychotic symptoms. This could be considered as a limitation, or as a demonstration of the sensitivity of the self-attribution task. The consistent results of changes in attribution relating to changes in depressive symptoms were demonstrated, despite the comorbidities.

To conclude, we demonstrated that early increases in self-positivity and decreases in self-negativity were predictors of reducing depression and improving wellbeing. This predictive quality of the self-attribution measures could have useful implications. Early predictors would be useful tools to identify effective interventions, which currently is identified through trial and error. By identifying early response to interventions, we can reduce the prolonged trial and error period, and improve quality of life faster. Finally, from a cost effective perspective, this can reduce the cost of treating depression as well as the total disease burden of depression on the National Health Service and society at large.

CHAPTER 9 – General discussion

In this section, I discuss the interesting outcomes from the previous experimental chapters, and their underpinnings on the wider theoretical frameworks. I further discuss some of the potential behavioural and clinical applications of selfattribution of facial appearance for future research.

The overarching focus of my thesis was to investigate attributions of facial appearance, how these are affected when experiencing depression and how changes in attribution could be used to predict improvements in mood. The idea of using subtle behaviours to predict mood change was driven by the neurocognitive model of depression, which suggests that neurobiology can effect early behavioural/cognitive changes prior to experiencing a change in mood.

9.1 Attributions of facial appearance with neurobiological change

Tryptophan depletion (TD) studies, including our previous study (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016), provided evidence for early behaviour change following TD; supporting the neurocognitive model of depression. Previous TD studies have demonstrated reduced accuracy for facial expressions of emotions as evidence of early behavioural change (Harmer et al., 2009; Merens et al., 2008). Interestingly, the most consistent effect of TD occurred on reduced accuracy for facial expression of fear (Harmer et al., 2003b; Merens et al., 2008). We, however, used composite faces of personality traits and showed reduced accuracy only for neurotic facial cues following TD, which indicates overlapping face signals of fear like characteristics with traits of neuroticism.

9.2 Attributions of neurotic traits as fearful characteristics

The second study discussed in Chapter 4 (Part B) confirms the overlapping face signals of fear-related characteristics with neuroticism trait. The neurotic face composites used in this study were different to the pair used in our previous TD study (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016). However, the systematic perception of neurotic traits as fear-related characteristics support our proposal of some overlapping face signals. It is natural to query why neurotic facial cues might be perceived as fearrelated characteristics. We could relate this to the strong association of neuroticism trait with depressive and anxiety disorders (Eysenck, 1991; Roelofs, Huibers, Peeters, & Arntz, 2008), the facial cues of which would also be displayed on the composite faces. Depressive mood is consistently comorbid with anxiety (Arborelius, Owens, Plotsky, & Nemeroff, 1999; Mineka, Watson, & Clark, 1998), which is strongly linked to the 'fear of fear' relating to physical sensations associated with anxious arousal in all anxiety disorders and anxiety about the experience of sadness in depressive disorders (Liverant, Brown, Barlow, & Roemer, 2008; S. Taylor & Rachman, 1991; Taylor, 2014; Williams, Chambless, & Ahrens, 1997). Consistent with this account, the high neurotic composite face created from a number of faces selected on the basis of self-reported neuroticism displayed facial cues of fear-related characteristics as well, as demonstrated in Chapter 4. It is likely that this perception of fear-related characteristics on high neurotic face composites could also have mediated the consistent negative (anxious, unhappy and unattractive) attributions made to them, as observed in the first study discussed in Chapter 4. These negative attributions of the high neurotic cues were maintained in the neurotic face scale, as confirmed by the results of the pilot study discussed in Chapter 3, and further demonstrated in the key

experimental studies investigating self, social and observer's attributions as discussed in Chapter 4, 5, and 6 in Part C of this thesis.

9.3 Attributions on the neurotic face scale trigger systematic biases relating to depression

In Part C, we found systematic misattribution of neurotic images as positive by individuals (actors) experiencing depression. Such misattribution by actors was observed for self (Chapter 5) and others (Chapter 6), confirming depression driven misattribution and classic social projection respectively. Moreover, such misattributions were not found when others observed the actors, suggesting that the misattributions displayed by depressed actors were mood driven and not an artefact of the neurotic face scale. These results are interesting on two accounts. Firstly, we measure attributions made by an individual to self (self-attribution), others (socialattribution) and the attributions others make to this individual. This provides evidence of individual differences in attributions made to self, others, as well as when perceived by others. The respective three studies were designed to allow the triangulation of these three perspectives (self, social and observer) for each individual participant. Secondly, the self and social attributions were sensitive to the mood- and wellbeing- state of each participant, thus further demonstrating individual differences. The quality of our neurotic face scale could be related to the display of a neutral expression with the undertones of neurotic traits and fear-related characteristics.

I propose that the misattributions of self-facial appearance could be related to cognitive dissonance at an implicit level. Cognitive dissonance is explained as the psychological discomfort due to conflicting self-perceptions (Festinger, 1957; Steele, 1988a; Stone & Cooper, 2001). The results from the self-attribution study showed that

perceived actual-self and perceived positive-self were positively correlated, indicating processes of self-affirmation and self-preservation (Cohen & Sherman, 2014) at an implicit level. That is, *this is my actual image and it is similar to my perceived positive self.* It therefore appears that individuals experiencing depression perceive themselves as neurotic but attribute their actual self as positive, potentially because they have a positive self-perception at an implicit level. Such positive perceptions at an implicit level could be associated with implicit high self-esteem. Using our separation index (SI) of self-positivity, we could also be measuring the implicit high self-esteem because self-positivity shows the similarity or dissimilarity between perceived actual self and perceived positive self. Positive self-esteem, however, is seen as a protective factor that contributes to better health and positive social behaviour through its role as a buffer against the impact of negative influences (Mann, Hosman, Schaalma, & de Vries, 2004; Mikulincer, 1995; Murphy et al., 2015; Papakostas & Fava, 2008). So how can individuals experiencing depression display positive self-esteem, albeit at an implicit level?

Cognitive-experiential self-theory and such other dual-process models integrate the cognitive and the experiential systems by assuming the existence of two parallel, yet interacting modes of information processing (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013; Epstein, 1994; Epstein, 1998; Smith & DeCoster, 2000; Wilson, Lindsey, & Schooler, 2000). Explicit self-esteem is largely a product of the cognitive system, which is based to some extent on logical analyses of self-relevant feedback and information, whereas implicit self-esteem has its origins in the experiential system, and be derived primarily from the overlearned and holistic processing of affective experiences (Bosson et al., 2003; Epstein, Pacini, Denes-Raj, & Heier, 1996; Zeigler-Hill, 2006a). This suggests that even though individuals experience the self as unitary, it is possible that multiple sub-systems are operating simultaneously (Epstein, 1994; Epstein & Morling, 1995; Kuhl, 2011; Martin & Tesser, 2013; Martin et al., 1986; Zeigler-Hill, 2006b). Implicit high self-esteem when co-existing with explicit low self-esteem, is known to mediate depressive experience (Creemers et al., 2012; Franck, De Raedt, Dereu, & Van den Abbeele, 2007) and predict its recurrence (Franck, Raedt, & Houwer, 2007; Leeuwis, Koot, Creemers, & van Lier, 2015). Thus, the misattribution of neurotic images as positive, by those individuals experiencing depression in the self-attribution study, could be due to their implicit high self-esteem. Future research could investigate implicit and explicit self-esteem in relation to selfattribution of facial appearance.

Another interesting point is that the systematic misattribution of neurotic facial cues as positive, as observed in our studies (Chapter 4 & 5), could potentially explain the reduced accuracy for low intensity facial cues when experiencing depression or following TD. Studies have shown reduced accuracy for neutral or ambiguous emotion expressions when experiencing depression (Beevers, Wells, Ellis, & Fischer, 2009; Bouhuys, Bloem, & Groothuis, 1995; Harmer et al., 2002). Consistent with this pattern, studies have shown that when experiencing depression or following TD, an exaggerated or high intensity emotional expressions, including fear, had greater accuracy (Anderson et al., 2011; Harmer et al., 2003b; Merens et al., 2008; Stuhrmann et al., 2011). Our neurotic face scale display subtle cues of neuroticism gradually increasing from one end of the scale to the other, and therefore making attributions of them would have been difficult for those experiencing depression. We could equate the low intensity fearful expression to the more neurotic facial cues in our study, however, positive attributions of low intensity fearful expression would be inconsistent with an explicit task for fear recognition, and highlights the limitation of

such tasks being sensitive to mood-state. Thus the results discussed in Parts C and D of this thesis, provide evidence that the self-attribution task trigger responses that are more sensitive to a depressive mood-state compared to the emotional face tasks used in previous studies.

9.4 Clinical application of the self-attribution task

Following the results of the self-attribution study, showing greater sensitivity of the SIs (self-negativity, self-positivity, & classic self-discrepancy) to depression, we used them to assess longitudinal changes when experiencing clinical depression. As demonstrated in Chapter 8, self-negativity decreased and self-positivity increased with decreasing depression over an 11-week period; such changes were previously proposed as potential effects of antidepressants (Dunn et al., 2009; Harmer, 2014; Roiser et al., 2012). This longitudinal change in self-attribution could be reflecting the improvement in implicit high self-esteem, as well as the realignment of implicit and explicit self-esteem with improving mood.

Prior studies have reported reduced negative bias relating to reduction of depressive symptoms (Anderson et al., 2011; LeMoult et al., 2009; Münkler et al., 2015; Roiser, Elliott, & Sahakian, 2011b), and proposed their predictive value. Further evidence suggested the predictive quality of early increase in positive bias and decrease in negative bias (Gollan et al., 2015; LeMoult et al., 2009; Pringle, Browning, Cowen, & Harmer, 2011; Warren et al., 2015), which was demonstrated in our clinical study. The greater sensitivity of the SIs were demonstrated by their predictive value relating to behavioural change in the first week, with increasing selfpositivity and decreasing self-negativity, to predict reduced depression at Week 11 and the change in depression across the study period. This relationship was maintained even after controlling for changes in depression in the first week. The predictive value was observed, despite not controlling for interventions or their commencement, thus confirming the sensitivity of our measures specifically to subtle behavioural changes rather than specific effect of interventions. This shows the potential of our measures for wider application and adaptability across interventions.

9.5 Predictive value of behavioural measures

It is interesting that the same set of stimuli used in our clinical study was perceived differently with change in mood, and brings up the questions why we observe related changes in attribution, and how these stimuli were sensitive enough to be able to predict improvements in mood. Prior studies have used a variety of measures to predict mood improvement. Bouhuy et al. (2006) proposed greater risk for recurrence of depression when there is a coupling of high level of cortisol secretion and altered fear perception, while Chan et al. (2009) proposed enhanced neural response to fearful expressions as risk factor for depression. Consistent to this, reduced accuracy for neurotic facial traits (Ward, Sreenivas & Rogers, 2016) and fearful expression (Harmer et al., 2003b) was observed following TD, and improved accuracy for fearful expression after selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor treatment (Bhagwagar et al., 2004). These interesting results demonstrate that early but subtle changes in cognitive processes have the potential for predictive quality, however, fall short of providing a sensitive behavioural predictor irrespective of the treatments for depression. This limitation could be because the commonly used behavioural tasks explicitly measure accuracy for facial emotions, but have little explicit relevance to self-facial appearance or evaluation of the current mood-state through selfattributions. Another drawback could be related to the limited variance in the scale

used to measure responses. By allowing greater variance in responses, there is greater possibility of accounting for individual differences and therefore measures could feature greater sensitivity.

From the results of the clinical study in this thesis, it is evident that selfattributions changed across the study period and were sensitive to mood improvements, however, social attributions changed only non-significantly over the same period of time. We could infer a time-series of behavioural changes starting initially with self-perception, and later spreading into the social context, which echoes Beck's cognitive triad (Beck, 2008; Beck & Bredemeier, 2016). Such a behavioural time series could explain why the self-attributions measured in our study were sensitive to early implicit changes prior to mood improvement; unlike the tasks using emotional faces or faces of others'. The self-attribution task could be measuring the early changes in the self-negativity, which is a core symptom of depression, thus explaining the early changes observed in our clinical study. The fact that the predictive values of these measures were despite not controlling for interventions indicates its sensitivity for wider cognitive and neurobiological processes.

The predictive value of measures relating to early improvement in mood is not very commonly demonstrated. I propose the predictive quality of the self-attribution measures from our study is underpinned by a few factors. Firstly, we used individualised stimuli using self-face that would have inevitably warranted selfreferential and self-evaluating processes, which is affected when experiencing depression. Secondly, our face stimuli combined ambiguous neutral expression with the subtle under tones of neurotic traits that were attributed to fear-like characteristics; the cognitive processing of which is affected when experiencing depression. Thirdly, by using face stimuli, we would be tapping into the broad range of social processes, and thereby having the benefit of measuring changes in the related cognitive functions. Finally, all the three factors discussed here rely, to some extent, on the fronto-limbic network, which is closely associated with depression (Frye, Schaefer, & Alexander, 2007; Harmer, 2014; Keenan et al., 2000; Lemogne et al., 2012; Mayberg, 1997; Platek, Keenan, Gallup Jr., & Mohamed, 2004; Sheline, 2003; Warren et al., 2015). We might have measured the early behavioural changes reflecting the changes in this neural network in relation to early intervention response. The sensitivity of the self-attributions therefore, underpins its potential for future clinical applications.

9.6 Potential clinical and research implications of the self-attribution task

Innovative techniques are being introduced as interventions to modify maladaptive cognitions relating to affective disorders (Adams et al., 2013). Techniques such as emotion recognition or cognitive modification trainings are used to reduce cognitive biases, with the intention to improve adaptive behaviour, and consequently impact mood (Adams et al., 2013; Blackwell et al., 2015; Browning et al., 2010; Browning et al., 2012; Cisler & Koster, 2010; Heeren et al., 2013; Murphy et al., 2015). Various methods are used to target cognitive modification, and improve positive bias. One method is to present emotional faces, and to provide corrective feedback when the perceptions are inaccurate (Adams et al., 2013). Another method is to present positive and negative emotional faces or words immediately followed by dot probes appearing in the place of the positive stimuli to improve attention to positive cues (Hallion & Ruscio, 2011). A recent study compared the effects of cognitive modification paradigm using emotional faces, with the adaptation of the same using composite faces showing more naturalistic emotional expressions, and reported greater generalizability of emotion recognition after using the latter (Dalili, Schofield-Toloza, Munafò, & Penton-Voak, 2016). Consistent with the theme of this thesis, it was proposed that cognitive modification training using composite faces could be used to reduce the negative cognitive biases affecting the perception of ambiguous faces, which is widely related to mental health disorders (Dalili et al., 2016).

On the basis of the evidence, I suggest that the self-attribution task could be adapted for cognitive modification training with corrective feedback to reduce self-negativity and improve self-positivity, as a complimentary therapy alongside the mainstream treatments. Besides, as demonstrated in this thesis, the early behavioural changes appear to originate from self before extending into the social domain, and therefore the potential for using self-stimuli could be rationalised. I further propose that, by completing the self-attribution task, individuals could have potentially experienced therapeutic effects, because the process of evaluating a series of self-images could realign self-perception through the natural process of self-evaluation. The neurotic face scale displays a series of self-images on a continuum that increase in neuroticism across the scale; explicitly giving a visual distinction of how one might look when experiencing emotional instability from when experiencing emotional calmness. Such stark visual distinctions of self could be a reminder to aim for greater emotional calmness or a reassurance, that *I could have been in a worse emotional state than my current self*.

The direct clinical implications of the results so far include, monitoring and predictive qualities of our self-attribution measures. The versatility of the attribution task opens up new avenues for developing potential applications that could directly impact the real world. The process of setting up the self-attribution task could be automated to the level of individuals' selfie taken on their smartphone being used to automatically create the 19 images, and set up the task for self-administering as a phone app. Such a proposition is not impossible, and could mean the health care teams could remotely monitor the changes in self-attribution and manage interventions in real-time. Unlike the functional imaging techniques, using the selfattribution task could be cost effective yet ensure an individualised method of monitoring and predicting behavioural changes. Thus the sensitivity of the selfattribution task to subtle behavioural changes could be utilised extensively to benefit and improve quality of life by developing pragmatic applications.

Another potential for the self-attribution task is its application to improve social functioning of individuals with developmental disorders. Individuals within the autism spectrum are known to have social dysfunctions due to misreading of social cues (Frith, 1994). One of the behavioural interventions is to explicitly learn social cues including facial signals (Baron-Cohen, Golan, & Ashwin, 2009; Bellini & Peters, 2008). It is also proposed that self-perception will be altered in this population (Uddin, Kaplan, Molnar-Szakacs, Zaidel, & Iacoboni, 2005; Uddin et al., 2007), and therefore self and social attribution tasks could be adapted as social learning tools, as an alternative using natural looking facial cues to the widely used explicit emotions.

I have so far discussed, the potential use of our attribution task in providing assessments, monitoring, predicting mood-improvement, and utilising the self-face properties for devising complimentary therapies. Given these interesting findings so far, further research using self-attribution task is recommended to appreciate its full potential. It could be used to investigate other social and mental health issues. Behavioural issues relating to body image, including the changes in physical appearance due to accidents, disease or side effects of treatments seem obvious topics that could be investigated using this paradigm. Social behaviours relating to interpersonal relationship could be investigated to understand change in partners' perception and its association with the quality of their relationship. Self-esteem, with implication for individual's adaptive behaviours and success, could similarly be investigated. To give a flavour of future research potential using the self-attribution task, I will briefly discuss two pilot studies to investigate the change in selfattributions following mindfulness practice, and a period of stress.

9.6.1 Changes in self-positivity with mindfulness practice and stress

We conducted two small pilot studies to investigate whether mindfulness practice improves self-attribution as measured using our self-attribution task, and whether stress can bring about an opposing change in self-attribution. Mindfulness practice adopts self-referential process to reduce judgmental thoughts about self in order to enhance positive self-perception (Kabat-Zinn, 2003; Kemeny et al., 2012). Stress, on the other hand, could have the opposite effect on self (Kubota et al., 2014).

In these studies, 10 (7 females) individuals who attended the eight weeks mindfulness course at Bangor University and 6 (4 females) university students who had exams within a period of eight weeks consented and participated. Consistent with the procedures of the self-attribution study (Chapter 5) we measured the basic selfattributions and computed the SIs (self-negativity, self-positivity and selfdiscrepancy) before and after the eight weeks of mindfulness practice, and exam period in the respective studies. We measured depression (Rush et al., 1996), wellbeing (Diener et al., 2010) and neuroticism (Donnellan et al., 2006) at both timepoints of the two studies. We further used Five Facets Mindfulness Questionnaire (Baer et al., 2008) and Experience questionnaire (Fresco et al., 2007) to measure mindfulness, and Undergraduate Stress Questionnaire (Crandall, Preisler, & Aussprung, 1992) to measure stress in the respective studies. Using paired samples *t* test, we compared the measures across the two time-points.

We found a significant increase in self-positivity after eight weeks of mindfulness practice, t(9) = 2.314, p = .046. Over the same period there was a significant decrease in depression and neuroticism, and increase in hedonic wellbeing and mindful behaviour. It was interesting to find reduced neuroticism after mindfulness practice. Neuroticism refers to the reactive behaviours, such as being moody, emotionally unstable and anxious, and is considered as a stable trait. Barnhofer, Duggan and Sriffith (2011) reported that mindfulness moderates the relation between neuroticism and depressive symptoms, which could explain the reduced depression score observed in our study, even though none of the participants were experiencing clinical depression. Thus, our results show that individuals were able to better control their emotional reactivity and anxiety, after eight weeks of mindfulness practice, which could be indicative of the related therapeutic effect.

In the other pilot study, self-attribution was not significantly different between the two time points, but interestingly neither was stress. Other measures including depression and wellbeing were also not significantly different across the two timepoints. This null result is interesting because it shows that when there is no significant change in the mental state of individuals, their self-attribution does not change significantly either. The results of these pilot studies, albeit with small sample size, further demonstrate the quality of our self-attribution task. Firstly, our self-attribution measures are sensitive to mood but remain unchanged if there was no significant change in mood and stress. Secondly, the changes in self-attribution are related to subtle changes in mood and wellbeing, and not just clinical symptoms. Finally, the change in self-attribution is not a natural by-product or artefact of time. Thus the quality of our self-attribution task with the neurotic face scale, is further confirmed and is recommended for future research.

9.7 Conclusion

I will conclude my discussion with a final reminder of the key aspects from this thesis. The main goals were to develop a behavioural task that provides individualised measures, which are sensitive to depression, wellbeing and neuroticism, and have monitoring and predictive values relating to depression.

The research presented herein, has succeeded in these goals by successfully developing an attribution task for measuring attributions of facial appearance in self, social and observer contexts. In Chapters 5, 6 and 7 we demonstrated the sensitivity of the attribution measures to individual's depression, wellbeing and neuroticism. Furthermore, the mental self-representation measures of self-negativity, self-positivity and self-discrepancy were especially sensitive to individual's transient mood and wellbeing state, but also had the quality to distinguish maladaptive and adaptive behaviours relating to the personality traits of neuroticism and agreeableness respectively. These studies also demonstrated classic social projection, with moodstate driving consistent misattributions in self and social context. The highlight of the three main experimental chapters in Part C was the attribution measures of self, social, and observers' for each participant, demonstrating individual differences.

The monitoring and predictive values of mental self-representation measures were demonstrated in the clinical study discussed in Chapter 8. Specifically, we demonstrated decrease in self-negativity and increase in self-positivity, overlapping with decreasing depression, and increasing wellbeing longitudinally. Besides this monitoring quality, changes in these measures were found to be early predictors of reducing severity of depressive symptoms, which highlights its potential to identify early intervention response for depression.

Furthermore, results from the pilot studies demonstrated the sensitivity of our self-attribution measures to subtle changes in mental state, and not just clinical symptoms of depression. Increasing self-positivity after mindfulness practice substantiates the sensitivity of our measures to adaptive behavioural change, while no difference in attributions without change in stress levels or depression shows that the changes are not an artefact of time. Additionally, the work here demonstrates novel information regarding a complex nexus of mood, wellbeing and personality traits affecting individual's attributions of facial appearance. Our self-attribution task could, therefore, be used creatively to investigate other psychological disorders.

The self-attribution task has the potential in not just monitoring and predicting intervention response for depression, but also to improve visual attributions of self. This task could be adapted for assessing the response to treatments for depression at earlier time points than is currently the case. It could potentially confirm whether a treatment will be successful or otherwise, thus improving recovery time frame and quality of life. Supplementary interventions to reduce negative bias to self, relating to affective disorders or similar paradigms could be adapted for training individuals with developmental disorders, to understand subtle facial cues.

– The End –

Appendix

Supplementary results

Self-attribution study

Table App.1. The correlations of individual's self-attributions with measures of depression, wellbeing, personality traits and attributional style

	Depression	Wellbeing				Bi	ig five p	ersona	ts	Attributional style								
	D opi cooron	Eudemonic	Hedonic									Positive	style		Negative style			
		FS	PE	NE	BE	А	С	Е	N	0	Interna	Stable	Global	СР	Internal	Stable	Global	CN
Basic self-attributions	6																	
Perceived actual self	.219*	036	084	.188	140	.089	.006	014	.200*	.051	054	.038	018	016	.021	.081	059	.011
Perceived ideal self	.182	084	.053	.087	011	.197*	.083	.047	.232*	118	067	054	122	102	.146	041	.001	.052
Perceived positive self	.253*	110	071	.169	124	.246*	014	016	.277**	042	120	067	069	104	.075	165	069	061
Perceived negative self	138	.106	.142	110	.136	.002	.084	.149	108	.032	.052	.100	.147	.123	010	.204*	.105	.123
Separation Indices (mental self-representations)																		
Self-discrepancy (SI _{ai})	.153	128	282**	.182	253*	206*	193	.006	.094	117	012	088	064	064	.082	.017	018	.035
Self-positivity (SI _{ap})	055	026	.190	123	.171	.243*	.069	.059	014	.138	045	.039	005	005	.021	087	.035	005
Self-negativity (SI _{an})	.263**	121	165	.282**	233*	-079	036	057	.243*	134	091	122	130	130	.192	.034	.017	.109

Note. Pearson's *r* is reported here. ** *p* < 0.01; * *p* < 0.05. FS, flourishing score; PE, positive experience; NE, negative experience; BE, balanced experience; A, agreeableness; C, conscientiousness; E, extraversion; N, neuroticism; O, openness; CP, composite score of positive attributional style; CN, composite score of negative attributional style

Social-attribution study

Table App.2. The correlations of individual's social-attributions with measures of depression, wellbeing, personality traits and attributional style

	Denression	Wellbeing				Big five personality traits					Attributional style							
	Depression	Eudemonic	Hedonic								Positive style				Negative style			
		FS	PE	NE	BE	A	С	Е	N	0	Internal	Stable	Global	СР	Internal	Stable	Global	CN
Basic social-attributi	ons																	
Perceived positive	.239*	169	176	.199*	199*	.164	075	071	.065	088	015	072	102	078	.117	063	.134	.096
Perceived negative	134	.085	.057	092	078	113	.190	032	.022	130	.050	.039	.076	.069	212*	.059	147	148

Note. Pearson's r is reported here. * p < 0.05. FS, flourishing score; PE, positive experience; NE, negative experience; BE, balanced experience; A, agreeableness; C, conscientiousness; E, extraversion; N, neuroticism; O, openness; CP, composite score of positive attributional style; CN, composite score of negative attributional style

References

- Adams, S., Penton-Voak, I., Harmer, C. J., Holmes, E., & Munafo, M. (2013). Effects of emotion recognition training on mood among individuals with high levels of depressive symptoms: Study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials*, 14(1), 161. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-14-161
- Addington, J., Saeedi, H., & Addington, D. (2006). Influence of social perception and social knowledge on cognitive and social functioning in early psychosis. *Br J Psychiatry*, *189*(4), 373-378. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.105.021022
- Akinci, C., & Sadler-Smith, E. (2013). Assessing individual differences in experiential (intuitive) and rational (analytical) cognitive styles. *International Journal of Selection* and Assessment, 21(2), 211-221. doi:10.1111/ijsa.12030
- Allen, H., Brady, N., & Tredoux, C. (2009). Perception of 'Best likeness' to highly familiar faces of self and friend. *Perception*, *38*(12), 1821-1830. doi:10.1068/p6424
- Allen-Walker, L., & Beaton, A. A. (2015). Empathy and perception of emotion in eyes from the FEEST/ekman and friesen faces. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 72, 150-154. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2014.08.037
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed., text rev.). Washington, DC: Author.
- Amodio, D. M., & Frith, C. D. (2006). Meeting of minds: The medial frontal cortex and social cognition. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 7(4), 268-277. doi:10.1038/nrn1884
- Andersen, S. M., Tuskeviciute, R., Przybylinski, E., Ahn, J. N., & Xu, J. H. (2015).
 Contextual variability in personality from Significant–Other knowledge and relational selves. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *6*, 1882. doi:<u>10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01882</u>
- Anderson, C. A. (1985). Actor and observer attributions for different types of situations:
 Causal-structure effects, individual differences, and the dimensionality of causes. *Social Cognition*, *3*(4), 323. doi:<u>10.1521/soco.1985.3.4.323</u>

- Anderson, I. M., Juhasz, G., Thomas, E., Downey, D., McKie, S., Deakin, J. F. W., & Elliott,
 R. (2011). The effect of acute citalopram on face emotion processing in remitted
 depression: A pharmacoMRI study. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21(1), 140-148. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.06.008
- Anderson, I. M., Shippen, C., Juhasz, G., Chase, D., Thomas, E., Downey, D., . . . Deakin, J.
 F. W. (2011). State-dependent alteration in face emotion recognition in depression. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 198(4), 302-308. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.110.078139
- Andrews, B. (1998). Self-esteem. The Psychologist, 11(7), 339-342. doi:10.1.1.612.3102
- Andric, S., Maric, N. P., Knezevic, G., Mihaljevic, M., Mirjanic, T., Velthorst, E., & van Os, J. (2016). Neuroticism and facial emotion recognition in healthy adults. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *10*(1), 160-164. doi:<u>10.1111/eip.12212</u>
- Arborelius, L., Owens, M. J., Plotsky, P. M., & Nemeroff, C. B. (1999). The role of corticotropin-releasing factor in depression and anxiety disorders. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 160(1), 1-12. doi:10.1677/joe.0.1600001
- Archer, J., Hay, D. C., & Young, A. W. (1992). Face processing in psychiatric conditions. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 31(1), 45-61. doi:<u>10.1111/j.2044-</u> 8260.1992.tb00967.x
- Axelrod, V., Bar, M., & Rees, G. (2015). Exploring the unconscious using faces. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 19(1), 35-45. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2014.11.003
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Lykins, E., Button, D., Krietemeyer, J., Sauer, S., . . . Williams, J. M. (2008). Construct validity of the five facet mindfulness questionnaire in meditating and nonmeditating samples. *Assessment*, 15(3), 329-342.

doi:10.1177/1073191107313003

- Bainbridge, W. A., Isola, P., & Oliva, A. (2013). The intrinsic memorability of face photographs. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 142(4), 1323-1334. doi:10.1037/a0033872
- Ball, H. A., McGuffin, P., & Farmer, A. E. (2008). Attributional style and depression. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 192(4), 275-278. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.107.038711

- Barker, E. & Bornstein, M. (2010). Global Self-Esteem, Appearance Satisfaction, and Self-Reported Dieting in Early Adolescence. J Early Adolesc, 30(2), 205–224. doi:10.1177/0272431609332936
- Barnhofer, T., & Chittka, T. (2010). Cognitive reactivity mediates the relationship between neuroticism and depression. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48(4), 275-281. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2009.12.005
- Barnhofer, T., Duggan, D. S., & Griffith, J. W. (2011). Dispositional mindfulness moderates the relation between neuroticism and depressive symptoms. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 51(8), 958-962. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2011.07.032
- Baron-Cohen, S., Golan, O., & Ashwin, E. (2009). Can emotion recognition be taught to children with autism spectrum conditions? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 364*(1535), 3567-3574. doi:10.1098/rstb.2009.0191
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1-48. doi:10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beauregard, M., Paquette, V., & Le`vesque, J. (2006). Dysfunction in the neural circuitry of emotional self-regulation in major depressive disorder. *NeuroReport*, 17(8), 843-846. doi:10.1097/01.wnr.0000220132.32091.9f
- Beck, A. T. (2008). The evolution of the cognitive model of depression and its neurobiological correlates. *Ajp*, *165*(8), 969-977. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.08050721
- Beck, A. T., & Bredemeier, K. (2016). A unified model of depression: Integrating clinical, cognitive, biological, and evolutionary perspectives. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 4(4), 596-619. doi:<u>10.1177/2167702616628523</u>
- Beck, A. T., Rush, A. J., Shaw, B. F., & Emery, G. (1979). Cognitive therapy of depression. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Garbin, M. G. (1988). Psychometric properties of the beck depression inventory: Twenty-five years of evaluation. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 8(1), 77-100. doi:10.1016/0272-7358(88)90050-5

- Beddington, J., Cooper, C. L., Field, J., Goswami, U., Huppert, F. A., Jenkins, R., . . .
 Thomas, S. M. (2008). The mental wealth of nations. *Nature*, 455(7216), 1057-1060.
 doi:10.1038/4551057a
- Bediou, B., Brunelin, J., d'Amato, T., Fecteau, S., Saoud, M., Hénaff, M., & Krolak-Salmon,
 P. (2012). A comparison of facial emotion processing in neurological and psychiatric conditions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*, 98. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00098
- Beevers, C. G. (2005). Cognitive vulnerability to depression: A dual process model. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 25(7), 975-1002. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2005.03.003
- Beevers, C. G., Wells, T. T., Ellis, A. J., & Fischer, K. (2009). Identification of emotionally ambiguous interpersonal stimuli among dysphoric and nondysphoric individuals. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 33(3), 283-290. doi:10.1007/s10608-008-9198-6
- Bellini, S., & Peters, J. K. (2008). Social skills training for youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 17(4), 857-873. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2008.06.008
- Bennett, J. (2013). Mona lisa by jay livingston and ray evans analysis of a co-write. Retrieved on 27/01/2016 from Joebennett.Net/2013/08/08/Mona-Lisa-by-Jay-Livingstonand-Ray-Evans-Analysis-of-a-Co-Write/,
- Bentall, R. P., Kinderman, P., & Kaney, S. (1994). The self, attributional processes and abnormal beliefs: Towards a model of persecutory delusions. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 32(3), 331-341. doi:10.1016/0005-7967(94)90131-7
- Bhagwagar, Z., Cowen, P. J., Goodwin, G. M., & Harmer, C. J. (2004). Normalization of enhanced fear recognition by acute SSRI treatment in subjects with a previous history of depression. *Americal Journal of Psychiatry*, 161(1), 166-168.

doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.161.1.166

Bilderbeck, A. C., McCabe, C., Wakeley, J., McGlone, F., Harris, T., Cowen, P. J., & Rogers,
R. D. (2011). Serotonergic activity influences the cognitive appraisal of close intimate
relationships in healthy adults. *Biological Psychiatry*, 69(8), 720-725.

doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.038

- Blackwell, S. E., Browning, M., Mathews, A., Pictet, A., Welch, J., Davies, J., . . . Holmes, E.
 A. (2015). Positive imagery-based cognitive bias modification as a web-based treatment tool for depressed adults: A randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 3(1), 91-111. doi:10.1177/2167702614560746
- Blackwood, N. J., Bentall, R. P., ffytche, D. H., Simmons, A., Murray, R. M., & Howard, R. J. (2003). Self-responsibility and the self-serving bias: An fMRI investigation of causal attributions. *NeuroImage*, 20(2), 1076-1085. doi:10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00331-8
- Bodenhausen, G. V., & Morales, J. R. (2013). Social cognition and perception. In I. Weiner (Ed.), *Handbook of psychology* (2nd ed., Vol. 5 ed., pp. 225-246). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Booij, L., & Van der Does, A. J. W. (2011). Emotional processing as a predictor of symptom change: An acute tryptophan depletion study in depressed patients. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21(5), 379-383. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.09.007
- Booij, L., Van der Does, W. A. J., Haffmans, J. P. M., Spinhoven, P., & McNally, R. J. (2005). Acute tryptophan depletion as a model of depressive relapse: Behavioural specificity and ethical considerations. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *187*, 148-154. doi:10.1192/bjp.187.2.148
- Bosson, J. K., Brown, R. P., Zeigler-Hill, V., & Swann, W. B. (2003). Self-enhancement tendencies among people with high explicit self-esteem: The moderating role of implicit self-esteem. *Self and Identity*, 2(3), 169-187. doi:10.1080/15298860309029
- Bouchard, T. J. (1994). Genes, environment, and personality. Science, 264(5166), 1700-1701.
- Bouchard, T. J. J., & Loehlin, J. C. (2001). Genes, evolution and personality. *Behavior Genetics*, *31*(3), 243-273. doi:10.1023/A:1012294324713
- Bouhuys, A. L., Bloem, G. M., & Groothuis, T. G. G. (1995). Induction of depressed and elated mood by music influences the perception of facial emotional expressions in healthy subjects. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 33(4), 215-226. doi:10.1016/0165-0327(94)00092-N

- Bourke, C., Douglas, K., & Porter, R. (2010). Processing of facial emotion expression in major depression: A review. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 44(8), 681-696. doi:10.3109/00048674.2010.496359
- Bradford, E. E. F., Jentzsch, I., & Gomez, J. C. (2015). From self to social cognition: Theory of mind mechanisms and their relation to executive functioning. *Cognition*, 138(0), 21-34. doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2015.02.001
- Bradley, B., & Mathews, A. (1983). Negative self-schemata in clinical depression. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 22(3), 173-181. doi:<u>10.1111/j.2044-8260.1983.tb00598.x</u>
- Brennan, A. M., Harris, A. W. F., & Williams, L. M. (2014). Neural processing of facial expressions of emotion in first onset psychosis. *Psychiatry Research*, 219(3), 477-485. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.06.017
- Browning, M., Holmes, E. A., Charles, M., Cowen, P. J., & Harmer, C. J. (2012). Using attentional bias modification as a cognitive vaccine against depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 72(7), 572-579. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.04.014
- Browning, M., Holmes, E. A., & Harmer, C. J. (2010). The modification of attentional bias to emotional information: A review of the techniques, mechanisms, and relevance to emotional disorders. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 10*(1), 8-20. doi:10.3758/CABN.10.1.8
- Bryant, R. A., Kemp, A. H., Felmingham, K. L., Liddell, B., Olivieri, G., Peduto, A., . . .
 Williams, L. M. (2008). Enhanced amygdala and medial prefrontal activation during nonconscious processing of fear in posttraumatic stress disorder: An fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 29(5), 517-523. doi:10.1002/hbm.20415
- Bush, S. I., Ballard, M. E., & Fremouw, W. (1995). Attributional style, depressive features, and self-esteem: Adult children of alcoholic and nonalcoholic parents. *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 24(2), 177-185. doi:10.1007/BF01537148
- Bushnell, I. W. R. (1982). Discrimination of faces by young infants. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 33(2), 298-308. doi:10.1016/0022-0965(82)90022-4

- Buss, A. H., & Perry, M. (1992). The aggression questionnaire. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *63*(3), 452-459. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.63.3.452
- Caldwell, M. S., Rudolph, K. D., Troop-Gordon, W., & Kim, D. (2004). Reciprocal influences among relational self-views, social disengagement, and peer stress during early adolescence. *Child Development*, 75(4), 1140-1154. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00730.x
- Cameron, I. M., Crawford, J. R., Lawton, K., & Reid, I. C. (2007). Psychometric comparison of PHQ-9 and HADS for measuring depression severity in primary care. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 58(546), 32-36. doi:10.3399/bjgp08X263794
- Canli, T. (2004). Functional brain mapping of extraversion and neuroticism: Learning from individual differences in emotion processing. *Journal of Personality*, *72*(6), 1105-1132. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00292.x
- Capitão, L. P., Murphy, S. E., Browning, M., Cowen, P. J., & Harmer, C. J. (2015). Acute fluoxetine modulates emotional processing in young adult volunteers. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(11), 2295-2308. doi:10.1017/S0033291715000240
- Carroo, A. W. (1986). Other race recognition: A comparison of black american and african subjects. *Perceptual and Motor Skills, 62*(1), 135-138. doi:10.2466/pms.1986.62.1.135
- Cattaneo, A., Gennarelli, M., Uher, R., Breen, G., Farmer, A., Aitchison, K. J., . . . Pariante, C. M. (2012). Candidate genes expression profile associated with antidepressants response in the GENDEP study: Differentiating between baseline †Predictors' and longitudinal †Targets'. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 38(3), 377-385. doi:10.1038/npp.2012.191
- Cellerino, A., Borghetti, D., & Sartucci, F. (2004). Sex differences in face gender recognition in humans. *Brain Research Bulletin, 63*(6), 443-449. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2004.03.010
- Chang, Y., Xu, J., Shi, N., Pang, X., Zhang, B., & Cai, Z. (2011). Dysfunction of preattentive visual information processing among patients with major depressive disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 69(8), 742-747. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.024

- Chekroud, A. M., Zotti, R. J., Shehzad, Z., Gueorguieva, R., Johnson, M. K., Trivedi, M. H., .
 . . Corlett, P. R. (2016). Cross-trial prediction of treatment outcome in depression: A machine learning approach. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *3*(3), 243-250. doi:<u>10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00471-X</u>
- Chen, C. H., Lennox, B., Jacob, R., Calder, A., Lupson, V., Bisbrown-Chippendale, R., . . .
 Bullmore, E. (2006). Explicit and implicit facial affect recognition in manic and depressed states of bipolar disorder: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Biological Psychiatry*, 59(1), 31-39. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.06.008
- Chen, J., & Tiddeman, B. (2010). Multi-cue facial feature detection and tracking under various illuminations. *International Journal of Robotics and Automation*, *25*(2)
- Chen, Y., Zhong, Y., Zhou, H., Zhang, S., Tan, Q., & Fan, W. (2014). Evidence for implicit self-positivity bias: An event-related brain potential study. *Experimental Brain Research*, 232(3), 985-994. doi:10.1007/s00221-013-3810-z
- Cheng, H., & Furnham, A. (2003). Personality, self-esteem, and demographic predictions of happiness and depression. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(6), 921-942. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00078-8
- Chinthapalli, K., Bartolini, E., Novy, J., Suttie, M., Marini, C., Falchi, M., . . . Sisodiya, S. M. (2012). Atypical face shape and genomic structural variants in epilepsy. *Brain*, 135(10), 3101-3114. doi:10.1093/brain/aws232
- Cho, J. C., & Knowles, E. D. (2013). I'm like you and you're like me: Social projection and self-sterotyping both help explain self-other correspondence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 104(3), 444-456. doi:10.1037/a0031017
- Christoff, K., Cosmelli, D., Legrand, D., & Thompson, E. (2011). Specifying the self for cognitive neuroscience. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 15(3), 104-112. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2011.01.001
- Cisler, J. M., & Koster, E. H. W. (2010). Mechanisms of attentional biases towards threat in anxiety disorders: An integrative review. *Clin Psychol Rev*, 30 doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.003

- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioural sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, R. A., Grieve, S., Hoth, K. F., Paul, R. H., Sweet, L., Tate, D., . . . Williams, L. M. (2006). Early life stress and morphometry of the adult anterior cingulate cortex and caudate nuclei. *Biological Psychiatry*, *59*(10), 975-982.
 doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.12.016
- Cohen, G. L., & Sherman, D. K. (2014). The psychology of change: Self-affirmation and social psychological intervention. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 65(1), 333-371. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115137
- Cook, I. A., Espinoza, R., & Leuchter, A. F. (2014). Neuromodulation for depression:
 Invasive and noninvasive (deep brain stimulation, transcranial magnetic stimulation, trigeminal nerve stimulation). *Neurosurgery Clinics of North America*, 25(1), 103-116.
 doi:10.1016/j.nec.2013.10.002
- Corning, A. F. (2002). Self-esteem as a moderator between perceived discrimination and psychological distress among women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology, 49*(1), 117.
- Corrigan, P. W. (2000). Mental health stigma as social attribution: Implications for research methods and attitude change. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 7(1), 48-67. doi:10.1093/clipsy.7.1.48
- Couture, S. M., Penn, D. L., & Roberts, D. L. (2006). The functional significance of social cognition in schizophrenia: A review. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *32*(1), S44-S63. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbl029
- Crandall, C. S., Preisler, J. J., & Aussprung, J. (1992). Measuring life event stress in the lives of college students: The undergraduate stress questionnaire (USQ). *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 15(6), 627-662. doi:10.1007/BF00844860
- Creemers, D. H. M., Scholte, R. H. J., Engels, R. C. M. E., Prinstein, M. J., & Wiers, R. W. (2012). Implicit and explicit self-esteem as concurrent predictors of suicidal ideation, depressive symptoms, and loneliness. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 43(1), 638-646. doi:10.1016/j.jbtep.2011.09.006

- Cremers, H., Aleman, A., Demenescu, L. R., Renken, R., van Tol, M. J., van der Wee, N. J., .
 . . Roelofs, K. (2009). Neuroticism modulates amygdala medial prefrontal cortex connectivity in response to negative emotional facial expressions. *NeuroImage, 47, Supplement 1*, S191. doi:10.1016/S1053-8119(09)72143-3
- Crisp, A. H., Gelder, M. G., Rix, S., Meltzer, H. I., & Rowlands, O. J. (2000). Stigmatisation of people with mental illnesses. *Br J Psychiatry*, *177*(1), 4-7. doi:10.1192/bjp.177.1.4
- Crocker, J., & Luhtanen, R. (1990). Collective self-esteem and ingroup bias. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58(1), 60-67. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.58.1.60
- Crockett, M. J., & Fehr, E. (2014). Social brains on drugs: Tools for neuromodulation in social neuroscience. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 9(2), 250-254. doi:10.1093/scan/nst113
- Csukly, G., Czobor, P., Szily, E., Takács, B., & Simon, L. (2009). Facial expression recognition in depressed subjects: The impact of intensity level and arousal dimension. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 197*(2), 98-103. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181923f82
- Cunningham, M. R. (1986). Measuring the physical in physical attractiveness: Quasiexperiments on the sociobiology of female facial beauty. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *50*(5), 925-935. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.50.5.925
- Dalili, M. N., Schofield-Toloza, L., Munafò, M. R., & Penton-Voak, I. (2016). Emotion recognition training using composite faces generalises across identities but not all emotions. *Cognition and Emotion*, , 1-10. doi:<u>10.1080/02699931.2016.1169999</u>
- Daly, E., Deeley, Q., Hallahan, B., Craig, M., Brammer, M., Lamar, M., . . . Murphy, D. (2010). Effects of acute tryptophan depletion on neural processing of facial expressions of emotion in humans. *Psychopharmacology*, *210*(4), 499-510. doi:<u>10.1007/s00213-010-1850-7</u>
- Damásio, B. F., Borsa, J. C., & da Silva, J. P. (2011). 14-item resilience scale (RS-14):
 Psychometric properties of the brazilian version. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 19(3), 131-145. doi:10.1891/1061-3749.19.3.131

Davidson, R. J., Pizzagalli, D., Nitschke, J. B., & Putnam, K. (2002). Depression:
Perspectives from affective neuroscience. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 53(1), 545-574.
doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135148

- De Raedt, R., Schacht, R., Franck, E., & De Houwer, J. (2006). Self-esteem and depression revisited: Implicit positive self-esteem in depressed patients? *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 44(7), 1017-1028. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2005.08.003
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Facilitating optimal motivation and psychological wellbeing across life's domains. *Canadian Psychology*, 49(1), 14-23. doi:<u>10.1037/0708-</u> <u>5591.49.1.14</u>
- Decker, R. J. (1985). On the devalued self and implications for treatment. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, *15*(2), 172-189. doi:<u>10.1007/BF00946136</u>
- Delle Fave, A., Massimini, F., & Bassi, M. (2011). Psychological selection and optimal experience across cultures. *Social empowerment through personal growth*. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Devue, C., Collette, F., Balteau, E., Degueldre, C., Luxen, A., Maquet, P., & Brédart, S.
 (2007). Here I am: The cortical correlates of visual self-recognition. *Brain Research*, *1143*(0), 169-182. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2007.01.055
- Diener, E., & Lucas, R. E. (1999). Personality and subjective well-being. In D. Kahneman, E.Diener & N. Schwarz (Eds.), *Well-being: Foundations of hedonic psychology*. NewYork: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Diener, E., Wirtz, D., Tov, W., Kim-Prieto, C., Choi, D., Oishi, S., & Biswas-Diener, R.
 (2010). New measures of well-being: Short scales to assess flourishing and positive and negative feelings. *Social Indicators Research*, *97*(Social Indicators Research Series 39), 143-156. doi:10.1007/s11205-009-9493-y
- Disner, S., Beevers, C., Haigh, E. & Beck, A. (2011). Neural mechanisms of the cognitive model of depression. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 12(8), 467-77. doi:10.1038/nrn3027.
- Dobson, K. S., & Shaw, B. F. (1981). The effects of self-correction on cognitive distortions in depression. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 5(4), 391-403. doi:10.1007/BF01173691

- Dolan, P., Peasgood, T., & White, M. (2008). Do we really know what makes us happy? A review of the economic literature on the factors associated with subjective well-being. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 29(1), 94-122. doi:10.1016/j.joep.2007.09.001
- Donnellan, M. B., Oswald, F. L., Baird, B. M., & Lucas, R. E. (2006). The mini-IPIP scales: Tiny-yet-effective measures of the big five factors of personality. *Psychological Assessment*, 18(2), 192-203. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.18.2.192
- Doty, T. J., Japee, S., Ingvar, M., & Ungerleider, L. G. (2013). Fearful face detection sensitivity in healthy adults correlates with anxiety-related traits. *Emotion*, 13(2), 183-188. doi:10.1037/a0031373
- Dunlop, B. W., & Aaron, M. H. (2010). Response to treatment with placebo, medication or psychotherapy in severe non-psychotic major depressive disorder. *Current Psychiatry Reviews*, 6(1), 28-45. doi:10.2174/157340010790596526
- Dunlop, B. W., Binder, E. B., Cubells, J. F., Goodman, M. M., Kelley, M. E., Kinkead, B., . .
 Mayberg, H. S. (2012). Predictors of remission in depression to individual and combined treatments (PReDICT): Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, *13*, 106. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-13-106
- Dunn, B. D., Stefanovitch, I., Buchan, K., Lawrence, A. D., & Dalgleish, T. (2009). A reduction in positive self-judgment bias is uniquely related to the anhedonic symptoms of depression. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *47*(5), 374-381.
 doi:10.1016/j.brat.2009.01.016
- Easterbrook, M. A., Kisilevsky, B. S., Muir, D. W., & Laplante, D. P. (1999). Newborns discriminate schematic faces from scrambled faces. *Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 53(3), 231-241. doi:10.1037/h0087312
- Ebner, N., Johnson, M. & Fischer, H. (2012). Neural Mechanisms of Reading Facial Emotions in Young and Older Adults. *Front Psychol*, 3, 223. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00223

- Ekman, P., Rolls, E. T., Perrett, D. I., & Ellis, H. D. (1992). Facial expressions of emotion:
 An old controversy and new findings and discussion. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences*, 335(1273), 63-69. doi:10.1098/rstb.1992.0008
- Elliott, R., Zahn, R., Deakin, J. F. W., & Anderson, I. M. (2011). Affective cognition and its disruption in mood disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *36*(1), 153-182.
 doi:10.1038/npp.2010.77
- Epley, N., & Whitchurch, E. (2008). Mirror, mirror on the wall: Enhancement in self-recognition. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(9), 1159-1170.
 doi:10.1177/0146167208318601
- Epstein, S. (1994). Intergration of the cognitive and the psychodynamic unconscious. *American Psychologist, 49*(8), 709-724. doi:<u>10.1037/0003-066X.49.8.709</u>
- Epstein, S., & Morling, B. (1995). Is the self motivated to do more than enhance and/or verify itself? In M. H. Kernis (Ed.), *Efficacy, agency, and self-esteem*. (pp. 9-29). New York, NY: Plenum Press.
- Epstein, S. (1998). Cognitive-experiential self-theory. *Advanced personality* (pp. 211-238) Springer.
- Epstein, S., Pacini, R., Denes-Raj, V., & Heier, H. (1996). Individual differences in intuitive– experiential and analytical–rational thinking styles. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71(2), 390-405. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.71.2.390
- Evans, J., Heron, J., Lewis, G., Araya, R., & Wolke, D. (2005). Negative self-schemas and the onset of depression in women: Longitudinal study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 186(4), 302-307. doi:10.1192/bjp.186.4.302
- Eysenck, H. J. (1991). Neuroticism, anxiety, and depression. *Psychological Inquiry*, 2(1), 75-76. doi:10.1207/s15327965pli0201_17
- Faivre, N., Charron, S., Roux, P., Lehéricy, S., & Kouider, S. (2012). Nonconscious emotional processing involves distinct neural pathways for pictures and videos. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(14), 3736-3744. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.10.025

- Farid, M. F., Akhtar, M., & Qamar, S. (2014). Relationship between causal attributions and self-esteem. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 32(3), 386-391.
 doi:10.5829/idosi.wasj.2014.32.03.1010
- Felger, J. C., & Lotrich, F. E. (2013). Inflammatory cytokines in depression: Neurobiological mechanisms and therapeutic implications. *Neuroscience*, 246, 199-229. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.04.060
- Felisberti, F. M., & Musholt, K. (2014). Self-face perception: Individual differences and discrepancies associated with mental self-face representation, attractiveness and selfesteem. *Psychology & Neuroscience*, 7(2), 65-72. doi:10.3922/j.psns.2014.013
- Feng, W., Luo, W., Liao, Y., Wang, N., Gan, T., & Luo, Y. (2009). Human brain responsivity to different intensities of masked fearful eye whites: An ERP study. *Brain Research*, 1286, 147-154. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.06.059
- Feng, Z., Wang, X., Liu, K., Liu, X., Wang, L., Chen, X. & Dai, Q. (2015). The Neural Mechanism of Negative Cognitive Bias in Major Depression — Theoretical and Empirical Issues. *Major Depressive Disorder - Cognitive and Neurobiological Mechanisms*, Intech. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/59374</u>
- Fennell, M. J. V., & Campbell, E. A. (1984). The cognitions questionnaire: Specific thinking errors in depression. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 23(2), 81-92. doi:10.1111/j.2044-8260.1984.tb00631.x
- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L. J., & Lawton, J. M. (1989). The relationships between neuroticism and depressive symptoms. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 24(6), 275-281. doi:10.1007/BF01788029

Festinger, L. (1957). A theory of cognitive dissonance. Evanston, Ill: Peterson, Row.

Fink, B., Neave, N., Manning, J. T., & Grammer, K. (2006). Facial symmetry and judgements of attractiveness, health and personality. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 41(3), 491-499. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2006.01.017

- First, M. B., Spitzer, R. L., Gibbon, M., & Williams, J. B. W. (2002). Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV-TR axis I disorders, research version, patient edition. (SCID-I/P). *New York: Biometrics Research, New York State Psychiatric Institute*,
- Fossati, P. (2008). Neural signatures of cognitive and emotional biases in depression. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience, 10*(3), 358-361.
- Fox, A. S., & Davidson, R. J. (2010). Subgenual prefrontal cortex activity predicts individual differences in hypothalamic-pituitary- adrenal activity across different contexts. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(2), 175-181. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.07.039
- Fox, E., Ridgewell, A., & Ashwin, C. (2009). Looking on the bright side: Biased attention and the human serotonin transporter gene. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 276*, 1747-1751. doi:10.1098/rspb.2008.1788
- Franck, E., De Raedt, R., Dereu, M., & Van den Abbeele, D. (2007). Implicit and explicit self-esteem in currently depressed individuals with and without suicidal ideation. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 38(1), 75-85. doi:10.1016/j.jbtep.2006.05.003
- Franck, E., Raedt, R., & Houwer, J. (2007). Implicit but not explicit self-esteem predicts future depressive symptomatology. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 45(10), 2448-2455. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2007.01.008
- Fresco, D. M., Moore, M. T., van Dulmen, M. H., Segal, Z. V., Ma, S. H., Teasdale, J. D., & Williams, J. M. G. (2007). Initial psychometric properties of the experiences questionnaire: Validation of a self-report measure of decentering. *Behavior Therapy*, *38*(3), 234-246. doi:10.1016/j.beth.2006.08.003
- Frith, C. D., & Frith, U. (2006a). How we predict what other people are going to do. *Brain Research, 1079*(1), 36-46. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2005.12.126
- Frith, C. D., & Frith, U. (2006b). The neural basis of mentalizing. *Neuron*, *50*(4), 531-534. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.05.001
- Frith, C. D., & Frith, U. (2008). Implicit and explicit processes in social cognition. *Neuron*, 60(3), 503-510. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2008.10.032

- Frith, C., & Frith, U. (2010). Learning from others: Introduction to the special review series on social neuroscience. *Neuron*, 65(6), 739-743. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2010.03.015
- Frith, U. (1994). Autism and theory of mind in everyday life. *Social Development*, *3*(2), 108-124. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9507.1994.tb00031.x
- Frith, U., & Frith, C. D. (2003). Development and neurophysiology of mentalizing. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 358(1431), 459-473. doi:10.1098/rstb.2002.1218
- Frokjaer, V. G., Vinberg, M., Erritzoe, D., Baare, W., Holst, K. K., Mortensen, E. L., ... Knudsen, G. M. (2010). Familial risk for mood disorder and the personality risk factor, neuroticism, interact in their association with frontolimbic serotonin 2A receptor binding. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(5), 1129-1137. doi:10.1038/npp.2009.218
- Frye, C. J., Schaefer, H. S., & Alexander, A. L. (2007). Individual differences in amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex activity are associated with evaluation speed and psychological well-being. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19(2), 237-248. doi:10.1162/jocn.2007.19.2.237
- Girard, J. M., Cohn, J. F., Mahoor, M. H., Mavadati, S. M., Hammal, Z., & Rosenwald, D. P. (2014). Nonverbal social withdrawal in depression: Evidence from manual and automatic analyses. *Image and Vision Computing*, *32*(10), 641-647. doi:10.1016/j.imavis.2013.12.007
- Girard, J. M., Cohn, J. F., Mahoor, M. H., Mavadati, S., & Rosenwald, D. P. (2013). Social risk and depression: Evidence from manual and automatic facial expression analysis. *Proceedings of the ...International Conference on Automatic Face and Gesture Recognition.International Conference on Automatic Face and Gesture Recognition*, , 1-8. doi:10.1109/FG.2013.6553748

Golarai, G., Grill-Spector, K., & Reiss, A. L. (2006). Autism and the development of face processing. *Clinical Neuroscience Research*, 6(3), 145-160. doi:10.1016/j.cnr.2006.08.001
- Golby, A. J., Gabrieli, J. D. E., Chiao, J. Y., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2001). Differential responses in the fusiform region to same-race and other-race faces. *Nature Neuroscience*, 4(8), 845-850. doi:10.1038/90565
- Golin, S., Sweeney, P. D., & Shaeffer, D. E. (1981). The causality of causal attributions in depression: A cross-lagged panel correlational analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 90(1), 14-22. doi:10.1037//0021-843X.90.1.14
- Gollan, J. K., Hoxha, D., Hunnicutt-Ferguson, K., Norris, C. J., Rosebrock, L., Sankin, L., & Cacioppo, J. (2015). The negativity bias predicts response rate to behavioral activation for depression. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, *52*, 171-178. doi:10.1016/j.jbtep.2015.09.011
- Gollan, J. K., Hoxha, D., Hunnicutt-Ferguson, K., Norris, C. J., Rosebrock, L., Sankin, L., & Cacioppo, J. (2016). Twice the negativity bias and half the positivity offset: Evaluative responses to emotional information in depression. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 52, 166-170. doi:10.1016/j.jbtep.2015.09.005
- Gollan, J. K., Pane, H., McCloskey, M., & Coccaro, E. F. (2008). Identifying differences in biased affective information processing in major depression. *Psychiatry Research*, 159(1-2), 18-24. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2007.06.011
- Gonda, X., Fountoulakis, K., Juhasz, G., Rihmer, Z., Lazary, J., Laszik, A., . . . Bagdy, G.
 (2009). Association of the allele of the 5-HTTLPR with neuroticism-realted traits and temperaments in a psychiatrically healthy population. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 259, 106-113. doi:<u>10.1007/s00406-008-0842-7</u>
- Goodwin, R. D., & Friedman, H. S. (2006). Health status and the five-factor personality traits in a nationally representative sample. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *11*(5), 643-654. doi:10.1177/1359105306066610
- Grant, F., Guille, C., & Sen, S. (2013). Well-being and the risk of depression under stress. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), e67395. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0067395
- Green, M. & Malhi, G. (2006). Neural mechanisms of the cognitive control of emotion. *Acta Neuropsychiatrica*, 18: 144–153. doi:10.1111/j.1601-5215.2006.00149.x

- Griffith, J. W., Zinbarg, R. E., Craske, M. G., Mineka, S., Rose, R. D., Waters, A. M., & Sutton, J. M. (2009). Neuroticism as a common dimension in the internalizing disorders. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(7), 1125-1136. doi:10.1017/S0033291709991449
- Groenewold, N. A., Opmeer, E. M., de Jonge, P., Aleman, A., & Costafreda, S. G. (2013). Emotional valence modulates brain functional abnormalities in depression: Evidence from a meta-analysis of fMRI studies. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(2), 152-163. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.11.015
- Haddad, J. J., Saadé, N. E., & Safieh-Garabedian, B. (2002). Cytokines and neuro–immune– endocrine interactions: A role for the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal revolving axis. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 133(1–2), 1-19. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(02)00357-0
- Haeffel, G. J., Abramson, L. Y., Brazy, P. C., Shah, J. Y., Teachman, B. A., & Nosek, B. A. (2007). Explicit and implicit cognition: A preliminary test of a dual-process theory of cognitive vulnerability to depression. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 45(6), 1155-1167. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2006.09.003
- Hagan, C., Hoeft, F., Mackey, A., Mobbs, D. & Reiss, A. (2007). Aberrant neural function during emotion attribution in female subjects with fragile X syndrome. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(12), 1443-354.
 doi:10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181886e92
- Hall, L. M. J., Klimes-Dougan, B., Hunt, R. H., Thomas, K. M., Houri, A., BA, E. N., . . .
 Cullen, K. R. (2014). An fMRI study of emotional face processing in adolescent major depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 168*, 44-50. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2014.06.037
- Hallion, L. S., & Ruscio, A. M. (2011). A meta-analysis of the effect of cognitive bias modification on anxiety and depression. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*(6), 940-958. doi:10.1037/a0024355
- Hamilton, M. (1960). A rating scale for depression. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 23*, 56-62. doi:<u>10.1136/jnnp.23.1.56</u>
- Hammond, P., Hannes, F., Suttie, M., Devriendt, K., Vermeesch, J. R., Faravelli, F., . . . Quarrell, O. (2012). Fine-grained facial phenotype-genotype analysis in wolf-hirschhorn

syndrome. *European Journal of Human Genetics : EJHG, 20*(1), 33-40. doi:<u>10.1038/ejhg.2011.135</u>

- Harmer, C. J., Goodwin, G. M., & Cowen, P. J. (2009). Why do antidepressants take so long to work? A cognitive neuropsychological model of antidepressant drug action. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 195, 102-108. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.108.051193
- Harmer, C. J., Rogers, R. D., Tunbridge, E., Cowen, P. J., & Goodwin, G. M. (2003b).
 Tryptophan depletion decreases the recognition of fear in female volunteers. *Psychopharmacology*, *167*(4), 411-417. doi:10.1007/s00213-003-1401-6
- Harmer, C. J., Shelley, N. C., Cowen, P. J., & Goodwin, G. M. (2004). Increased positive versus negative affective perception and memory in healthy volunteers following selective serotonin and norephinephrine reuptake inhibition. *Americal Journal of Psychiatry*, 161(7), 1256-1263. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.161.7.1256
- Harmer, C. J., Bhagwagar, Z., Perrett, D. I., Vollm, B. A., Cowen, P. J., & Goodwin, G. M.
 (2002). Acute SSRI administration affects the processing of social cues in healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 28(1), 148-152. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300004
- Harmer, C. J. (2014). Neural predictors of treatment response in depression. *Current Behavioral Neuroscience Reports, 1*(3), 125-133. doi:10.1007/s40473-014-0021-2
- Harmer, C. J., & Cowen, P. J. (2013). "It's the way that you look at it" a cognitive neuropsychological account of SSRI action in depression. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 368*(1615), 20120407.
 doi:10.1098/rstb.2012.0407
- Harmer, C. J., Hill, S. A., Taylor, M. J., Cowen, P. J., & Goodwin, G. M. (2003). Toward a neuropsychological theory of antidepressant drug action: Increase in positive emotional bias after potentiation of norepinephrine activity. *Ajp*, *160*(5), 990-992. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.160.5.990
- Harmer, C. J., Mackay, C. E., Reid, C. B., Cowen, P. J., & Goodwin, G. M. (2006).
 Antidepressant drug treatment modifies the neural processing of nonconscious threat cues. *Biological Psychiatry*, *59*(9), 816-820. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.10.015

- Harvey, P., Madison, K., Martinko, M., Crook, T. R., & Crook, T. A. (2014). Attribution theory in the organizational sciences: The road traveled and the path ahead. *The Academy of Management Perspectives*, 28(2), 128-146. doi:10.5465/amp.2012.0175
- Hayward, G., Goodwin, G. M., Cowen, P. J., & Harmer, C. J. (2005). Low-dose tryptophan depletion in recovered depressed patients induces changes in cognitive processing without depressive symptoms. *Biological Psychiatry*, *57*(5), 517-524.
 doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.11.016
- Heeren, A., De Raedt, R., Koster, E. H., & Philippot, P. (2013). The (neuro) cognitive mechanisms behind attention bias modification in anxiety: Proposals based on theoretical accounts of attentional bias. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *7*, 119. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00119

Heider, F. (1958). The psychology of interpersonal relations. New York: Wiley.

- Heim, C., & Binder, E. B. (2012). Current research trends in early life stress and depression:
 Review of human studies on sensitive periods, gene–environment interactions, and
 epigenetics. *Experimental Neurology*, 233(1), 102-111.
 doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.10.032
- Heller, A. S., van Reekum, C. M., Schaefer, S. M., Lapate, R. C., Radler, B. T., Ryff, C. D.,
 & Davidson, R. J. (2013). Sustained striatal activity predicts eudaimonic well-being and cortisol output. *Psychological Science*, *24*(11), 2191-2200.
 doi:10.1177/0956797613490744
- Henderson, N. D. (1982). Human behaviour genetics. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 33, 403-440. doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.33.020182.002155
- Higgins, E. T. (1989). Self-discrepancy theory: What patterns of self-beliefs cause people to suffer? Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 22, 93-136. doi:10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60306-8
- Higgins, E. T., Klein, R., & Strauman, T. (1985). Self-concept discrepancy theory: A psychological model for distinguishing among different aspects of depression and anxiety. *Social Cognition*, 3(1), 51-76. doi:10.1521/soco.1985.3.1.51

- Higgins, E. T., Vookles, J., & Tykocinski, O. (1992). Self and health: How" patterns" of selfbeliefs predict types of emotional and physical problems. *Social Cognition*, 10(1), 125-150. doi:10.1521/soco.1992.10.1.125
- Hong, K. W., Weiss, A., Morimura, N., Udono, T., Hayasaka, I., Humle, T., . . . Inoue-Murayama, M. (2011). Polymorphism of the tryptophan hydroxylase 2 (TPH2) gene is associated with chimpanzee neuroticism. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(7), e22144. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022144
- Hooker, C., Verosky, C., Miyakawa, A., Knight, T. & D'Esposito, M. (2008). The influence of personality on neural mechanisms of observational fear and reward learning. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(11), 2709-2724. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.05.005
- Hooker, K. (2002). New directions for research in personality and aging: A comprehensive model for linking levels, structures, and processes. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 36(4), 318-334. doi:10.1016/S0092-6566(02)00012-0
- Hornboll, B., Macoveanu, J., Rowe, J., Elliott, R., Paulson, O. B., Siebner, H. R., & Knudsen, G. M. (2013). Acute serotonin 2A receptor blocking alters the processing of fearful faces in the orbitofrontal cortex and amygdala. *Journal of Psychopharmacology, 27*(10), 903-914. doi:10.1177/0269881113494106
- Hotard, S. R., McFatter, R. M., McWhirter, R. M., & Stegall, M. E. (1989). Interactive effects of extraversion neuroticism and social relationships on subjective well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(2), 321-331. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.57.2.321
- Huppert, F. A. (2009). Psychological well-being: Evidence regarding its causes and consequences? *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 1(2), 137-164. doi:10.1111/j.1758-0854.2009.01008.x
- Ikegami, T. (2002). The role of state self-esteem in positive mood effects on person impression: When does a positive mood lead to a favorable view of others? *Japanese Psychological Research*, 44(1), 20-33. doi:10.1111/1468-5884.00006

- Isaac, L., Vrijsen, J. N., Rinck, M., Speckens, A., & Becker, E. S. (2014). Shorter gaze duration for happy faces in current but not remitted depression: Evidence from eye movements. *Psychiatry Research*, 218(1–2), 79-86. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.04.002
- James, W. (1884). What is an emotion? *Mind*, *9*(34), 188-205. doi:<u>10.1093/mind/os-IX.34.188</u>
- Jan-Emmanuel De Neve. (2011). Functional polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) in the serotonin transporter gene is associated with subjective well-being: Evidence from a US nationally representative sample. *Journal of Human Genetics*, (56), 456 -459. doi:10.1038/jhg.2011.39
- Jaworska, N., Thompson, A., Shah, D., Fisher, D., Ilivitsky, V., & Knott, V. (2010). Electrocortical effects of acute tryptophan depletion on emotive facial processing in depression-prone individuals. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 20(7), 473-486. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.03.002
- Jaworska, N., Yang, X., Knott, V., & MacQueen, G. (2015). A review of fMRI studies during visual emotive processing in major depressive disorder. *The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry*, 16(7), 448-471. doi:10.3109/15622975.2014.885659
- Johnson, S. L., Joormann, J., & Gotlib, I. H. (2007). Does processing of emotional stimuli predict symptomatic improvement and diagnostic recovery from major depression? *Emotion (Washington, D.C.)*, 7(1), 201-206. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.7.1.201
- Johnstone, T., Somerville, L. H., Alexander, A. L., Oakes, T. R., Davidson, R. J., Kalin, N. H., & Whalen, P. J. (2005). Stability of amygdala BOLD response to fearful faces over multiple scan sessions. *NeuroImage*, *25*(4), 1112-1123. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.12.016
- Joiner, T. E. (2000). Depression's vicious scree: Self-propagating and erosive processes in depression chronicity. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 7(2), 203-218. doi:<u>10.1093/clipsy.7.2.203</u>

- Jones, E. E., & Davis, K. E. (1965). From acts to dispositions: The attribution process inperson perception. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 2 ed., pp. 219-266). New York: Academic Press.
- Jones, E. E., & Nisbett, R. E. (1972). The actor and the observer: Divergent perceptions of the causes of behavior. In E. E. Jones, D. E. Kanouse, H. H. Kelley, R. E. Nisbett, S. Valins & B. Weiner (Eds.), *Attribution: Perceiving the casues of behaviour* (pp. 79-94). Morristown, NJ: General Learning Press.
- Jones, A. L., Kramer, R. S. S., & Ward, R. (2014). Miscalibrations in judgements of attractiveness with cosmetics. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 67(10), 2060-2068. doi:10.1080/17470218.2014.908932
- Jones, B. C., Little, A. C., Penton-Voak, I. S., Tiddeman, B. P., Burt, D. M., & Perrett, D. I. (2001). Facial symmetry and judgements of apparent health: Support for a "good genes" explanation of the attractiveness–symmetry relationship. *Evolution and Human Behavior, 22*(6), 417-429. doi:10.1016/S1090-5138(01)00083-6
- Jones, D., & Hill, K. (1993). Criteria of facial attractiveness in five populations. *Human Nature*, *4*(3), 271-296. doi:10.1007/BF02692202
- Jones, E. E., Worchel, S., Goethals, G. R., & Grumet, J. F. (1971). Prior expectancy and behavioral extremity as determinants of attitude attribution. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 7(1), 59-80. doi:10.1016/0022-1031(71)90055-2
- Joormann, J., Gilbert, K., & Gotlib, I. H. (2010). Emotion identification in girls at high risk for depression. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *51*(5), 575-582.
 doi:<u>10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02175.x</u>
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: Past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 10*(2), 144-156. doi:<u>10.1093/clipsy.bpg016</u>
- Kaiser, J., Bledowski, C. & Dietrich, J. (2014). Neural correlates of chemotherapy-related cognitive impairment. *Cortex*, 54, 33-50.

doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2014.01.010

- Kappesser, J., & de C. Williams, A. C. (2002). Pain and negative emotions in the face: Judgements by health care professionals. *Pain 99*, , 192-206. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(02)00101-X
- Keenan, J. P., Wheeler, M. A., Gallup Jr, G. G., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2000). Self-recognition and the right prefrontal cortex. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 4(9), 338-344.
 doi:10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01521-7
- Kehoe, E. G., Toomey, J. M., Balsters, J. H., & Bokde, A. L. W. (2011). Personality modulates the effects of emotional arousal and valence on brain activation. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 7(7), 858-870. doi:10.1093/scan/nsr059
- Kelley, H. H., & Michela, J. L. (1980). Attribution theory and research. Annual Review of Psychology, 31(1), 457-501. doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.31.020180.002325
- Kemeny, M. E., Foltz, C., Cavanagh, J. F., Cullen, M., Giese-Davis, J., Jennings, P., . . .
 Wallace, B. A. (2012). Contemplative/emotion training reduces negative emotional behavior and promotes prosocial responses. *Emotion*, *12*(2), 338-350.
 doi:10.1037/a0026118
- Kendler, K. S., & Baker, J. H. (2007). Genetic influences on measures of the environment: A systematic review. *Psychological Medicine*, 37, 615-626. doi:10.1017/S0033291706009524
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Koretz, D., Merikangas, K. R., . . . Walters, E. E. and Wang, P.S. (2003). The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: Results from the national comobidity survey replication (NCS-R). *Jama, 289*(23), 3095-3105. doi:10.1001/jama.289.23.3095
- Killgore, W. D. (2000). Sex differences in identifying the facial affect of normal and mirror-reversed faces. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 91(2), 525-530.
 doi:10.2466/pms.2000.91.2.525
- Killgore, W. & Yurgelun-Todd, D. (2004). Activation of the amygdala and anterior cingulate during nonconscious processing of sad versus happy faces. *Neuroimage*, 21(4), 1215-23. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.12.033

- Kim, S. H., Kook, J. R., Kwon, M., Son, M. H., Ahn, S. D., & Kim, Y. H. (2015). The effects of laughter therapy on mood state and self-esteem in cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy: A randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 21(4), 217-222. doi:10.1089/acm.2014.0152
- Kircher, T. T. J., Senior, C., Phillips, M. L., Benson, P. J., Bullmore, E. T., Brammer, M., . . . David, A. S. (2000). Towards a functional neuroanatomy of self processing: Effects of faces and words. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 10(1–2), 133-144. doi:<u>10.1016/S0926-</u> 6410(00)00036-7
- Kircher, T. T. J., Senior, C., Phillips, M. L., Rabe-Hesketh, S., Benson, P. J., Bullmore, E. T.,
 ... David, A. S. (2001). Recognizing one's own face. *Cognition*, 78(1), B1-B15.
 doi:10.1016/S0010-0277(00)00104-9
- Klien, D., C, Fencil-Morse, E., & Seligman, M, E, P. (1976). Learned helplesness, depression and the attribution of failure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 33(5), 508-516. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.33.5.508
- Klingner, J., Tversky, B., & Hanrahan, P. (2011). Effects of visual and verbal presentation on cognitive load in vigilance, memory, and arithmetic tasks. *Psychophysiology*, 48(3), 323-332. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01069.x
- Kohler, C. G., Hoffman, L. J., Eastman, L. B., Healey, K., & Moberg, P. J. (2011). Facial emotion perception in depression and bipolar disorder: A quantitative review. *Psychiatry Research*, 188(3), 303-309. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.04.019
- Komori, M., Kawamura, S., & Ishihara, S. (2009). Effect of averageness and sexual dimorphism on the judgment of facial attractiveness. *Vision Research*, 49(8), 862-869. doi:10.1016/j.visres.2009.03.005
- Kong, F., Liu, L., Wang, X., Hu, S., Song, Y. & Liu, J. (2015). Different neural pathways linking personality traits and eudaimonic well-being: a resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci*, 15(2):299-309. doi: 10.3758/s13415-014-0328-1.

- Kontsevich, L. L., & Tyler, C. W. (2004). What makes mona lisa smile? *Vision Research*, 44(13), 1493-1498. doi:10.1016/j.visres.2003.11.027
- Kramer, R., & Ward, R. (2010). Internal facial features are signals of personality and health. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 63(11), 2273-2287. doi:10.1080/17470211003770912
- Kramer, R. S. S., Jones, A. L., & Sharma, D. (2013). Sequential effects in judgements of attractiveness: The influences of face race and sex. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), e82226.
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. W. (2001). The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *16*(9), 606-613. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Krueger, J. I., & Stanke, D. (2001). The role of self-referent and other-referent knowledge in perceptions of group characterisitics. *Society for Personality and Social Psychology*, 27(7), 878-888.
- Kubota, J. T., Mojdehbakhsh, R., Raio, C., Brosch, T., Uleman, J. S., & Phelps, E. A. (2014).
 Stressing the person: Legal and everyday person attributions under stress. *Biological Psychology*, *103*, 117-124. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.07.020
- Kuhl, J. (2011). Adaptive and maladaptive pathways of self-development: Mental health and interactions among personality systems. *Psychologia Rozwojowa (Polish Journal of Developmental Psychology)*, 16, 9-31. doi:10.4467/20843879PR.11.021.0194
- Lahey, B. B. (2009). Public health significance of neuroticism. *The American Psychologist*, 64(4), 241-256. doi:10.1037/a0015309
- Landgraf, D., Long, J., Der-Avakian, A., Streets, M., & Welsh, D. K. (2015). Dissociation of learned helplessness and fear conditioning in mice: A mouse model of depression. *PLoS ONE*, 10(4), e0125892. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125892
- Lange, C. G., & Haupt, I. A. (1922). *The emotions*. In C. G. Lange W. James (Ed.). Baltimore, MD, US: Williams & Wilkins Co. doi:<u>10.1037/10735-002</u>
- Langlois, J. H., & Roggman, L. A. (1990). Attractive faces are only average. *Psychological Science*, *1*(2), 115-121. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.1990.tb00079.x

- Laureys, S., Perrin, F., & Brédart, S. (2007). Self-consciousness in non-communicative patients. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 16(3), 722-741. doi:10.1016/j.concog.2007.04.004
- Leeuwis, F. H., Koot, H. M., Creemers, D. H. M., & van Lier, Pol A. C. (2015). Implicit and explicit self-esteem discrepancies, victimization and the development of late childhood internalizing problems. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 43(5), 909-919. doi:10.1007/s10802-014-9959-5
- Lemogne, C., Delaveau, P., Freton, M., Guionnet, S., & Fossati, P. (2012). Medial prefrontal cortex and the self in major depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 136(1–2), e1e11. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2010.11.034
- Lemogne, C., Mayberg, H., Bergouignan, L., Volle, E., Delaveau, P., Lehéricy, S., . . .
 Fossati, P. (2010). Self-referential processing and the prefrontal cortex over the course of depression: A pilot study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *124*(1–2), 196-201. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2009.11.003
- LeMoult, J., Joormann, J., Sherdell, L., Wright, Y., & Gotlib, I. H. (2009). Identification of emotional facial expressions following recovery from depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 118(4), 828-833. doi:10.1037/a0016944
- LeMoult, J., Ordaz, S. J., Kircanski, K., Singh, M. K., & Gotlib, I. H. (2015). Predicting first onset of depression in young girls: Interaction of diurnal cortisol and negative life events. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 124(4), 850-859. doi:10.1037/abn0000087
- Leppänen, J. M., Milders, M., Bell, J. S., Terriere, E., & Hietanen, J. K. (2004). Depression biases the recognition of emotionally neutral faces. *Psychiatry Research*, 128(2), 123-133. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2004.05.020
- Leppänen, J. M., & Nelson, C. A. (2006). The development and neural bases of facial emotion recognition. *Advances in Child Development and Behavior*, 34, 207-246. doi:10.1016/S0065-2407(06)80008-X
- Leuchter, A. F., Husain, M. M., Cook, I. A., Trivedi, M. H., Wisniewski, S. R., Gilmer, W. S., . . . Rush, A. J. (2010). Painful physical symptoms and treatment outcome in major

depressive disorder: A STAR*D (sequenced treatment alternatives to relieve depression) report. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(02), 239-251. doi:10.1017/S0033291709006035

Li, H., Chan, R. C. K., Zhao, Q., Hong, X., & Gong, Q. (2010). Facial emotion perception in chinese patients with schizophrenia and non-psychotic first-degree relatives. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 34(2), 393-400.

doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.01.007

- Li, Y., Li, M., Wei, D., Kong, X., Du, X., Hou, X., Sun, J. & Qiu, J. (2017). Self-referential processing in unipolar depression: Distinct roles of subregions of the medial prefrontal cortex. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 263, 8-14. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2017.02.008
- Licht, C., de Geus, E., Zitman, F., Hoogendijk, W., van Dyck, R. & Penninx, B. (2008).
 Association Between Major Depressive Disorder and Heart Rate Variability in the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety (NESDA). *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 65(12), 1358-1367. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.65.12.1358
- Linden, S. C., Jackson, M. C., Subramanian, L., Healy, D., & Linden, D. E. J. (2011). Sad benefit in face working memory: An emotional bias of melancholic depression. *Journal* of Affective Disorders, 135(1-3), 251-257. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2011.08.002
- Link, B. G., Phelan, J. C., Bresnahan, M., Stueve, A., & Pescosolido, B. A. (1999). Public conceptions of mental illness: Labels, causes, dangerousness, and social distance. *American Journal of Public Health*, 89(9), 1328-1333.
- Little, A. C., Jones, B. C., Penton-Voak, I. S., Burt, D. M., & Perrett, D. I. (2002). Partnership status and the temporal context of relationships influence human female preferences for sexual dimorphism in male face shape. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 269*(1496), 1095-1100. doi:10.1098/rspb.2002.1984
- Little, A. C., & Hancock, P. J. B. (2002). The role of masculinity and distinctiveness in judgments of human male facial attractiveness. *British Journal of Psychology*, 93(4), 451-464. doi:10.1348/000712602761381349

- Little, A. C., Jones, B. C., & DeBruine, L. M. (2011). Facial attractiveness: Evolutionary based research. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 366(1571), 1638-1659. doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0404
- Little, A. C., Jones, B. C., DeBruine, L. M., & Feinberg, D. R. (2008). Symmetry and sexual dimorphism in human faces: Interrelated preferences suggest both signal quality. *Behavioral Ecology*, 19(4), 902-908. doi:10.1093/beheco/arn049
- Liu, S., Ma, X., Yin, M., Zhu, H., Zhao, Y., Barnaby, N., ... Jia, H. (2014).
 Neuropsychological impairment: The disturbed effect of self-processing in patients with major depressive disorder. *Chinese Science Bulletin*, *59*(28), 3595-3601.
 doi:10.1007/s11434-014-0198-5
- Liu, W., Huang, J., Wang, L., Gong, Q., & Chan, R. C. K. (2012). Facial perception bias in patients with major depression. *Psychiatry Research*, 197(3), 217-220. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.09.021
- Liverant, G. I., Brown, T. A., Barlow, D. H., & Roemer, L. (2008). Emotion regulation in unipolar depression: The effects of acceptance and suppression of subjective emotional experience on the intensity and duration of sadness and negative affect. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 46(11), 1201-1209. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2008.08.001
- Lopez-Duran, N., Kuhlman, K. R., George, C., & Kovacs, M. (2012). Facial emotion expression recognition by children at familial risk for depression: High risk boys are oversensitive to sadness. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 54*(5), 565-574. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12005
- Lydall, E., Gilmour, G. & Dwyer, D. (2010). Rats place greater value on rewards produced by high effort: An animal analogue of the "effort justification" effect. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 46, 1134–1137. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2010.05.011
- Lykken, D., & Tellegen, A. (1996). Happiness is a stochastic phenomenon. *Psychological Science*, 7(3), 186-189. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.1996.tb00355.x

- Lyubomirsky, S., King, L., & Diener, E. (2005). The benefits of frequent positive affect: Does happiness lead to success? *Psychological Bulletin*, *131*(6), 803-855. doi:<u>10.1037/0033-2909.131.6.803</u>
- Ma, Y., Li, B., Wang, C., Shi, Z., Sun, Y., Sheng, F., . . . Han, S. (2014). 5-HTTLPR polymorphism modulates neural mechanisms of negative self-reflection. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991), 24*(9), 2421-2429. doi:<u>10.1093/cercor/bht099</u>

Maier, S. F., & Watkins, L. R. (2005). Stressor controllability and learned helplessness: The roles of the dorsal raphe nucleus, serotonin, and corticotropin-releasing factor. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 29(4–5), 829-841. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.03.021

- Malle, B. F. (2011a). Attribution theories: How people make sense of behavior. In D. Chadee (Ed.), *Theories in social psychology* (pp. 72-95) Wiley-Blackwell.
- Malle, B. F. (2011). Attribution theories: How people make sense of behaviour. In C. Derek (Ed.), *Theories in social psychology* (First Edition ed., pp. 72-95). West Sussex, United Kingdom: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Malpass, R. S., & Kravitz, J. (1969). Recognition for faces of own and other race. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 13(4), 330-334. doi:10.1037/h0028434

Maniglio, R., Gusciglio, F., Lofrese, V., Belvederi Murri, M., Tamburello, A., & Innamorati, M. (2014). Biased processing of neutral facial expressions is associated with depressive symptoms and suicide ideation in individuals at risk for major depression due to affective temperaments. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 55(3), 518-525.

doi:10.1016/j.comppsych.2013.10.008

Mann, M. (.)., Hosman, C. M. H., Schaalma, H. P., & de Vries, N. K. (2004). Self-esteem in a broad-spectrum approach for mental health promotion. *Health Education Research*, 19(4), 357-372. doi:10.1093/her/cyg041

Markus, H., & Wurf, E. (1987). The dynamic self-concept: A social psychological perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *38*, 299-337.

doi:10.1146/annurev.ps.38.020187.001503

- Markus, H. (1990). Unresolved issues of self-representation. *Cognitive Therapy and Research, 14*(2), 241-253. doi:10.1007/BF01176212
- Marsh, A. A., Finger, E. C., Buzas, B., Soliman, N., Richell, R. A., Vythilingham, M., . . . Blair, R. J. R. (2006). Impaired recognition of fear facial expressions in 5-HTTLPR Spolymorphism carriers following tryptophan depletion. *Psychopharmacology*, 189(3), 387-394. doi:10.1007/s00213-006-0581-2
- Martin, L. L., & Tesser, A. (2013). *The construction of social judgments*. New Jersey, USA: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Martin, N. G., Eaves, L. J., Heath, A. C., Jardine, R., Feingold, L. M., & Eysenck, H. J. (1986). Transmission of social attitudes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 83(12), 4364-4368.
- Mauro, R., & Kubovy, M. (1992). Caricature and face recognition. *Memory and Cognition*, 20(4), 433-440. doi:10.3758/BF03210927
- Mayberg, H. (2003). Modulating dysfunctional limbic-cortical circuits in depression: towards development of brain-based algorithms for diagnosis and optimised treatment. *British Medical Bulletin*, 65, 193-207. doi:10.1093/bmb/ldg65.193
- Mayberg, H. S. (1997). Limbic-cortical dysregulation: A proposed model of depression. *Jnp*, 9(3), 471-481. doi:10.1176/jnp.9.3.471
- Mayberg, H. S., Liotti, M., Brannan, S. K., McGinnis, S., Mahurin, R. K., Jerabek, P. A., ...
 Fox, P. T. (1999). Reciprocal limbic-cortical function and negative mood: Converging
 PET findings in depression and normal sadness. *Ajp*, *156*(5), 675-682.

doi:10.1176/ajp.156.5.675

- McClure, E. B., Pope, K., Hoberman, A. J., Pine, D. S., & Leibenluft, E. (2003). Facial expression recognition in adolescents with mood and anxiety disorders. *Am.J.Psychiatry*, *160*(6), 1172-1174. doi:<u>10.1176/appi.ajp.160.6.1172</u>
- McConville, C., & Cooper, C. (1998). Personality correlates of variable moods. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 26(1), 65-78. doi:10.1016/S0191-8869(98)00139-1

- McCrae, R. R., & Terracciano, A. (2005). Universal features of personality traits from the observer's perspective: Data from 50 cultures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(3), 547-561. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.88.3.547
- McKinlay, J. B., McKinlay, S. M., & Brambilla, D. (1987 b). The relative contributions of endocrine changes and social circumstances to depression in mid-aged women. *Journal* of Health and Social Behavior, 28, 345-363.
- McWilliams, L. (2003). Neuroticism and depression. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *182*(1), 80. doi:10.1192/bjp.182.1.80
- Mealey, L., Bridgstock, R., & Townsend, G. C. (1999). Symmetry and perceived facial attractiveness: A monozygotic co-twin comparison. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(1), 151-158. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.76.1.151
- Meltzoff, A. N., & Moore, M. K. (2002). Imitation, memory, and the representation of persons. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 25(1), 39-61. doi:<u>10.1016/S0163-</u> 6383(02)00090-5
- Menon, V. (2011). Large-scale brain networks and psychopathology: A unifying triple network model. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 15(10), 483-506. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2011.08.003
- Merens, W., Booij, L., Haffmans, P. J., & van der Does, A. (2008). The effects of experimentally lowered serotonin function on emotional information processing and memory in remitted depressed patients. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 22(6), 653-662. doi:10.1177/0269881107081531
- Mikulincer, M. (1995). Attachment style and the mental representation of the self. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 69*(6), 1203-1215. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.69.6.1203
- Mineka, S., Watson, D., & Clark, L. A. (1998). Comorbidity of anxiety and unipolar mood disorders. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 49(1), 377-412.
 doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.49.1.377

- Mitchell, J. P., Banaji, M. R., & Neil Macrae, C. (2005). The link between social cognition and self-referential thought in medial prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 17(8), 1306-1315. doi:10.1162/0898929055002418
- Monson, T. C., & Snyder, M. (1977). Actors, observers, and the attribution process: Toward a reconceptualization. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 13(1), 89-111. doi:10.1016/0022-1031(77)90016-6
- Monteith, L. L., & Pettit, J. W. (2011). Implicit and explicit stigmatizing attitudes and stereotypes about depression. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 30(5), 484-505. doi:<u>10.1521/jscp.2011.30.5.484</u>
- Moretti, M. M., & Higgins, E. T. (1990). Relating self-discrepancy to self-esteem: The contribution of discrepancy beyond actual-self ratings. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 26(2), 108-123. doi:10.1016/0022-1031(90)90071-S
- Moskowitz, D. S., Pinard, G., Zuroff, D., C, Annable, L., & Young, S., N. (2001). The effect of tryptophan on social interaction in everyday life: A placebo-controlled study. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 25, 277-289. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(01)00219-6
- Mueller, U., & Mazur, A. (1997). Facial dominance in homo sapiens as honest signalling of male quality. *Behavioral Ecology*, 8(5), 569-579.
- Munevar, G., Cole, M. L., Ye, Y., Yang, J., Zheng, Y., Krishnamurthy, U., & Haacke, M.
 (2014). fMRI study of self vs. others' attributions of traits consistent with evolutionary understanding of the self. *Neuroscience Discovery*, 2(1) doi:10.7243/2052-6946-2-3
- Münkler, P., Rothkirch, M., Dalati, Y., Schmack, K., & Sterzer, P. (2015). Biased recognition of facial affect in patients with major depressive disorder reflects clinical state. *PLoS ONE*, 10(6), e0129863. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129863
- Murphy, B., & Bates, G. W. (1997). Adult attachment style and vulnerability to depression. Personality and Individual Differences, 22(6), 835-844. doi:<u>10.1016/S0191-</u> <u>8869(96)00277-2</u>

- Murphy, F. C., Nimmo-Smith, I., & Lawrence, A. D. (2003). Functional neuroanatomy of emotions: A meta-analysis. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 3*(3), 207-233. doi:10.3758/CABN.3.3.207
- Murphy, S. E., Clare O'Donoghue, M., Drazich, E. H. S., Blackwell, S. E., Christina Nobre, A., & Holmes, E. A. (2015). Imagining a brighter future: The effect of positive imagery training on mood, prospective mental imagery and emotional bias in older adults. *Psychiatry Research*, 230(1), 36-43. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.07.059
- Nejad, A., Fossati, P., & Lemogne, C. (2013). Self-referential processing, rumination, and cortical midline structures in major depression. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 666. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00666
- Nes, R. B., Røysamb, E., Tambs, K., Harris, J. R., & Reichborn-Kjennerud, T. (2006).
 Subjective well-being: Genetic and environmental contributions to stability and change.
 Psychological Medicine, 36(7), 1033-1042. doi:10.1017/S0033291706007409
- Niemiec, C. P. (2007). Self-attribution process. In R. F. Baumeister, & K. D. Vohs (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of social psychology*. California: SAGE Publications, Inc. doi:10.4135/9781412956253
- Noor, F., & Evans, D. C. (2003). The effect of facial symmetry on perceptions of personality and attractiveness. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *37*(4), 339-347.
 doi:10.1016/S0092-6566(03)00022-9
- Northoff, G. (2016). Is the self a higher-order or fundamental function of the brain? the "basis model of self-specificity" and its encoding by the brain's spontaneous activity. *Cognitive Neuroscience*, 7(1-4), 203-222. doi:<u>10.1080/17588928.2015.1111868</u>
- Northoff, G., Heinzel, A., de Greck, M., Bermpohl, F., Dobrowolny, H., & Panksepp, J. (2006). Self-referential processing in our brain—A meta-analysis of imaging studies on the self. *NeuroImage*, 31(1), 440-457. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.12.002
- Northoff, G., & Panksepp, J. (2008). The trans-species concept of self and the subcortical– cortical midline system. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *12*(7), 259-264. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2008.04.007

- Ochsner, K. N., Knierim, K., Ludlow, D. H., Hanelin, J., Ramachandran, T., Glover, G., & Mackey, S. C. (2004). Reflecting upon feelings: An fMRI study of neural systems supporting the attribution of emotion to self and other. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 16*(10), 1746-1772. doi:10.1162/0898929042947829
- Ochsner, K. N., Ray, R. D., Cooper, J. C., Robertson, E. R., Chopra, S., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Gross, J. J. (2004). For better or for worse: Neural systems supporting the cognitive down- and up-regulation of negative emotion. *NeuroImage*, 23(2), 483-499. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.06.030
- Oppe, M., Devlin, N. J., & Szende, A. (2007). *EQ-5D value sets: Inventory, comparative review and user guide*. Springer.
- Outhred, T., Das, P., Felmingham, K. L., Bryant, R. A., Nathan, P. J., Malhi, G. S., & Kemp,
 A. H. (2014). Impact of acute administration of escitalopram on the processing of
 emotional and neutral images: A randomized crossover fMRI study of healthy women. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience : JPN*, 39(4), 267-275. doi:10.1503/jpn.130118
- Owens, M., Herbert, J., Jones, P. B., Sahakian, B. J., Wilkinson, P. O., Dunn, V. J., . . .
 Goodyer, I. M. (2014). Elevated morning cortisol is a stratified population-level biomarker for major depression in boys only with high depressive symptoms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111*(9), 3638-3643.
 doi:10.1073/pnas.1318786111
- Pagliaccio, D., Luby, J. L., Luking, K. R., Belden, A. C., & Barch, D. M. (2014). Brain behavior relationships in the experience and regulation of negative emotion in healthy children: Implications for risk for childhood depression. *Development and Psychopathology*, 26(4), 1289-1303. doi:10.1017/S0954579414001035
- Pannese, A., & Hirsch, J. (2011). Self-face enhances processing of immediately preceding invisible faces. *Neuropsychologia*, 49, 564-573. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.12.019
- Pannese, A., & Hirsch, J. (2013). Unconscious neural specificity for 'self' and the brainstem. Journal of Consciousness Studies, 20, 169-179.

- Papakostas, G. I., & Fava, M. (2008). Predictors, moderators, and mediators (correlates) of treatment outcome in major depressive disorder. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 10(4), 439-451.
- Pariante, C. M., & Lightman, S. L. (2008). The HPA axis in major depression: Classical theories and new developments. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 31(9), 464-468. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2008.06.006
- Park, J., Lee, D. S., Shablack, H., Verduyn, P., Deldin, P., Ybarra, O., . . . Kross, E. (2016).
 When perceptions defy reality: The relationships between depression and actual and perceived facebook social support. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 200*, 37-44.
 doi:10.1016/j.jad.2016.01.048
- Park, S., Lee, S. W., Kwak, J., Cha, M., & Jeong, B. (2013). Activities on facebook reveal the depressive state of users. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(10), e217. doi:10.2196/jmir.2718
- Pascalis, O., de Schonen, S., Morton, J., Deruelle, C., & Fabre-Grenet, M. (1995). Mother's face recognition by neonates: A replication and an extension. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 18(1), 79-85. doi:10.1016/0163-6383(95)90009-8
- Passamonti, L., Crockett, M. J., Apergis-Schoute, A. M., Clark, L., Rowe, J. B., Calder, A. J.,
 & Robbins, T. W. (2012). Effects of acute tryptophan depletion on prefrontal-amygdala connectivity while viewing facial signals of aggression. *Biological Psychiatry*, *71*(1), 36-43. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.07.033
- Pavot, W., Diener, E., & Fujita, F. (1990). Extraversion and happiness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *11*(12), 1299-1306. doi:10.1016/0191-8869(90)90157-M
- Pearson, R. M., Heron, J., Button, K., Bentall, R. P., Fernyhough, C., Mahedy, L., . . . Lewis, G. (2015). Cognitive styles and future depressed mood in early adulthood: The importance of global attributions. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *171*, 60-67. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2014.08.057

- Perlman, S. B., Hein, T. C., & Stepp, S. D. (2014). Emotional reactivity and its impact on neural circuitry for attention–emotion interaction in childhood and adolescence. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 8(0), 100-109, doi:10.1016/j.dcn.2013.08.005
- Perrett, D. I., Lee, K. J., Penton-Voak, I., Rowland, D., Yoshikawa, S., Burt, D. M., . . . Akamatsu, S. (1998). Effects of sexual dimorphism on facial attractiveness. *Nature*, 394(6696), 884-887. doi:10.1038/29772
- Peterson, C., Semmel, A., von Baeyer, C., Abramson, L. Y., Metalsky, G. I., & Seligman, M.,
 E. P. (1982). The attributional style questionnaire. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 6(3), 287-299. doi:10.1007/BF01173577
- Phan, K. L., Wager, T., Taylor, S. F., & Liberzon, I. (2002). Functional neuroanatomy of emotion: A meta-analysis of emotion activation studies in PET and fMRI. *NeuroImage*, 16(2), 331-348. doi:10.1006/nimg.2002.1087
- Phelan, J. E., & Basow, S. A. (2007). College students' attitudes toward mental illness: An examination of the stigma process. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 37(12), 2877-2902. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.2007.00286.x
- Philippi, C. L., & Koenigs, M. (2014). The neuropsychology of self-reflection in psychiatric illness. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *54*, 55-63.

doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.03.004

- Phillips, A. G., & Silvia, P. J. (2010a). Individual differences in self-discrepancies and emotional experience: Do distinct discrepancies predict distinct emotions? *Personality* and Individual Differences, 49(2), 148-151. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2010.03.010
- Phillips, A. G., & Silvia, P. J. (2010b). Individual differences in self-discrepancies and emotional experience: Do distinct discrepancies predict distinct emotions? *Personality* and Individual Differences, 49(2), 148-151. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2010.03.010
- Piccinelli, M., & Wilkinson, G. (2000). Gender differences in depression. Br J Psychiatry, 177(6), 486. doi:<u>10.1192/bjp.177.6.486</u>
- Pincus, D., Kose, S., Arana, A., Johnson, K., Morgan, P., Borckardt, J., Herbsman, T., Hardaway, F., George, M., Panksepp, J. & Nahas, Z. (2010). Inverse Effects of Oxytocin

on Attributing Mental Activity to Others in Depressed and Healthy Subjects: A Double-Blind Placebo Controlled fMRI Study. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 1, 134. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2010.00134

- Platek, S. M., Keenan, J. P., Gallup Jr., G. G., & Mohamed, F. B. (2004). Where am I? the neurological correlates of self and other. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 19(2), 114-122. doi:10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2003.11.014
- Platek, S. M., Wathne, K., Tierney, N. G., & Thomson, J. W. (2008). Neural correlates of self-face recognition: An effect-location meta-analysis. *Brain Research*, 1232, 173-184. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2008.07.010
- Platt, B., Murphy, S. E., & Lau, J. Y. F. (2015). The association between negative attention biases and symptoms of depression in a community sample of adolescents. *PeerJ*, *3*, e1372. doi:<u>10.7717/peerj.1372</u>
- Pollak, S. D. (2008). Mechanisms linking early experience and the emergence of emotions: Illustrations from the study of maltreated children. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 17(6), 370-375. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00608.x
- Porcheron, A., Mauger, E., & Russell, R. (2013). Aspects of facial contrast decrease with age and are cues for age perception. *PLoS ONE*, 8(3), e57985. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0057985
- Pringle, A., Browning, M., Cowen, P., & Harmer, C. (2011). A cognitive neuropsychological model of antidepressant drug action. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 35(7), 1586-1592. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.07.022
- Qin, P., & Northoff, G. (2011). How is our self related to midline regions and the defaultmode network? *NeuroImage*, 57(3), 1221-1233. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.05.028
- Rabin, R., & Charro, F. d. (2001). EQ-SD: A measure of health status from the EuroQol group. *Annals of Medicine*, 33(5), 337-343.
- Rajmohan, V., & Mohandas, E. (2007). The limbic system. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, *49*(2), 132-139. doi:10.4103/0019-5545.33264

- Rathbone, C. J., Holmes, E. A., Murphy, S. E., & Ellis, J. A. (2015). Autobiographical memory and well-being in aging: The central role of semantic self-images. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 33, 422-431. doi:10.1016/j.concog.2015.02.017
- Raven, J. (2000). The raven's progressive matrices: Change and stability over culture and time. *Cognitive Psychology*, 41(1), 1-48. doi:10.1006/cogp.1999.0735
- Reeb-Sutherland, B., Williams, L. R., Degnan, K. A., Pérez-Edgar, K., Chronis-Tuscano, A., Leibenluft, E., . . . Fox, N. A. (2014). Identification of emotional facial expressions among behaviorally inhibited adolescents with lifetime anxiety disorders. *Cognition & Emotion*, 29(2), 372-382. doi:10.1080/02699931.2014.913552
- Reissland, N. (1988). Neonatal imitation in the first hour of life: Observations in rural Nepal. *Devepmental Psychology, APA, 24*(4), 464-469. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.24.4.464
- Rhodes, G., & Moody, J. (1990). Memory representations of unfamiliar faces: Coding of distinctive information. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 19, 70-78.
- Rhodes, G. (2006). The evolutionary psychology of facial beauty. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *57*(1), 199-226. doi:<u>10.1146/annurev.psych.57.102904.190208</u>
- Rhodes, G., Hickford, C., & Jeffery, L. (2000). Sex-typicality and attractiveness: Are supermale and superfemale faces super-attractive? *British Journal of Psychology*, 91(1), 125-140. doi:10.1348/000712600161718
- Rhodes, G., & Tremewan, T. (1996). Averageness, exaggeration, and facial attractiveness. *Psychological Science*, 7(2), 105-110. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.1996.tb00338.x
- Rhodes, M. G. (2009). Age estimation of faces: A review. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 23(1), 1-12. doi:<u>10.1002/acp.1442</u>
- Riby, D. M., Doherty-Sneddon, G., & Bruce, V. (2008). Exploring face perception in disorders of development: Evidence from williams syndrome and autism. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, 2(1), 47-64. doi:10.1348/174866407X255690
- Robbins, J. M., & Krueger, J. I. (2005). Social projection to ingroups and outgroups: A review and meta-analysis. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 9(1), 32-47. doi:10.1207/s15327957pspr0901_3

- Robins, R. W., Tracy, J. L., Trzesniewski, K., Potter, J., & Gosling, S. D. (2001). Personality correlates of self-esteem. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *35*(4), 463-482.
 doi:10.1006/jrpe.2001.2324
- Roelofs, J., Huibers, M., Peeters, F., & Arntz, A. (2008). Effects of neuroticism on depression and anxiety: Rumination as a possible mediator. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 44(3), 576-586. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2007.09.019
- Roelofs, J., Papageorgiou, C., Gerber, R. D., Huibers, M., Peeters, F., & Arntz, A. (2007). On the links between self-discrepancies, rumination, metacognitions, and symptoms of depression in undergraduates. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *45*(6), 1295-1305. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2006.10.005
- Rogers, R. D., Everitt, B. J., Baldacchino, A., Blackshaw, A. J., Swainson, R., Wynne, K., ...
 Robbins, T. W. (1999). Dissociable deficits in the decision-making cognition of chronic amphetamine abusers, opiate abusers, patients with focal damage to prefrontal cortex, and tryptophan-depleted normal volunteers: Evidence for monoaminergic mechanisms. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 20(4), 322-339. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(98)00091-8
- Roiser, J. P., Levy, J., Fromm, S. J., Goldman, D., Hodgkinson, C. A., Hasler, G., ...
 Drevets, W. C. (2012). Serotonin transporter genotype differently modulates neural responses to emotional words following tryptophan depletion in patients recovered from depression and healthy volunteers. *Journal of Psyhopharmacology, 26*(11), 1434-1442. doi:10.1177/0269881112442789
- Roiser, J. P., Elliott, R., & Sahakian, B. J. (2011a). Cognitive mechanisms of treatment in depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(1), 117-136. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.183
- Roiser, J. P., Elliott, R., & Sahakian, B. J. (2011b). Cognitive mechanisms of treatment in depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(1), 117-136. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.183
- Roiser, J. P., Elliott, R., & Sahakian, B. J. (2012). Cognitive mechanisms of treatment in depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(1), 117-136. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.183
- Rosenberg, M. (1989). Self-concept research: A historical overview. *Social Forces, 68*(1), 34-44. doi:<u>10.1093/sf/68.1.34</u>

- Ross, L. (1977). The intuitive psychologist and his shortcomings. distortions in the attribution process. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 10, pp. 174-177). New York: Academic Press.
- Rubin, K. H., Coplan, R. J., & Bowker, J. C. (2009). Social withdrawal in childhood. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 60, 141-171. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163642
- Ruhe, H., G, Mason, N., S, & Schene, A., H. (2007). Mood is indirectly related to serotinin, norepinephrine and dopamine levels in humans: A meta-analysis of monoamine depletion studies. *Molecular Psychiatry*, (12), 331-359. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001949
- Rush, A. J., Giles, D. E., Schlesser, M. A., Fulton, C. L., Weissenburger, J. E., & and Burns,
 C. T. (1986). The inventory of depressive symptomatology (IDS): Preliminary findings. *Psychiatry Research*, (18), 65-87.
- Rush, A. J., Gullion, C. M., Basco, M. R., Jarrett, R. B., & and Trivedi, M. H. (1996). The inventory of depressive symptomatology (IDS): Psychometric properties. *Psychological Medicine*, (26), 477-486. doi:10.1017/S0033291700035558
- Rushton, J. P., Bons, T. A., & Hur, Y. (2008). The genetics and evolution of the general factor of personality. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(5), 1173-1185. doi:10.1016/j.jrp.2008.03.002
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2001). On happiness and human potentials: A review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 141-166.
- Ryan, M. R., Huta, V., & Deci, E. L. (2008). Living well: A self-determination theory perspective on eudaimonia. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 9(1), 139-170. doi:<u>10.1007/s10902-006-9023-4</u>
- Sacco, W. P., & Dunn, V. (1990). Effect of actor depression on observer attributions:
 Existence and impact of negative attributions toward the depressed. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 59, 517-524. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.59.3.517
- Saito, T., Nakamura, T., & Endo, T. (2005). The big five personality factors related to face recognition. *The Japanese Journal of Psychology*, 75(6), 517-522. doi:10.4992/jjpsy.75.517

Page 232

- Santos, N. C., Costa, P. S., Cunha, P., Cotter, J., Sampaio, A., Zihl, J., . . . Sousa, N. (2013).
 Mood is a key determinant of cognitive performance in community-dwelling older adults: A cross-sectional analysis. *Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands), 35*(5), 1983-1993.
 doi:10.1007/s11357-012-9482-y
- Sato, W., Uono, S., & Toichi, M. (2013). Atypical recognition of dynamic changes in facial expressions in autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(7), 906-912. doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2013.04.008
- Schachter, S., & Singer, J. E. (1962). Cognitive, social and physiological determinants of emotional state. *Psychological Review*, 69, 379-399. doi:10.1037/h0046234
- Schmidt, K. L., & Cohn, J. F. (2001). Human facial expressions as adaptations: Evolutionary questions in facial expression research. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology, Suppl 33*, 3-24. doi:10.1002/ajpa.2001
- Schneider, F., Bermpohl, F., Heinzel, A., Rotte, M., Walter, M., Tempelmann, C., . . . Northoff, G. (2008). The resting brain and our self: Self-relatedness modulates resting state neural activity in cortical midline structures. *Neuroscience*, *157*(1), 120-131. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.08.014
- Schoenbaum, M., Unützer, J., Sherbourne, C., Duan, N., Rubenstein, L. V., Miranda, J., ...
 Wells, K. (2001). Cost-effectiveness of practice-initiated quality improvement for depression: Results of a randomized controlled trial. *Jama, 286*(11), 1325-1330. doi:10.1001/jama.286.11.1325
- Schotanus-Dijkstra, M., ten Klooster, P.,M., Drossaert, C. H. C., Pieterse, M. E., Bolier, L., Walburg, J. A., & Bohlmeijer, E. T. (2016). Validation of the flourishing scale in a sample of people with suboptimal levels of mental well-being. *BMC Psychology*, *4*, 12. doi:10.1186/s40359-016-0116-5
- Schulte-Rüther, M., Markowitsch, H. J., Fink, G. R., & Piefke, M. (2007). Mirror neuron and theory of mind mechanisms involved in face-to-face interactions: A functional magnetic resonance imaging approach to empathy. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19(8), 1354-1372. doi:10.1162/jocn.2007.19.8.1354

- Scott, N. J., Kramer, R. S. S., Jones, A. L., & Ward, R. (2013). Facial cues to depressive symptoms and their associated personality attributions. *Psychiatry Research*, 208(1), 47-53. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2013.02.027
- Seivewright, H., Tyrer, P., & Johnson, T. (2004). Persistent social dysfunction in anxious and depressed patients with personality disorder. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 109(2), 104-109. doi:10.1046/j.1600-0447.2003.00241.x
- Seligman, M. E., Abramson, L. Y., Semmel, A., & von Baeyer, C. (1979). Depressive attributional style. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 88(3), 242-247. doi:<u>10.1037/0021-843X.88.3.242</u>
- Shackelford, T. K., & Larsen, R. J. (1997). Facial asymmetry as an indicator of psychological, emotional, and physiological distress. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 72(2), 456-466. doi:<u>10.1037/0022-3514.72.2.456</u>
- Shakeshaft, N. G., & Plomin, R. (2015). Genetic specificity of face recognition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(41), 12887-12892. doi:10.1073/pnas.1421881112
- Sheline, Y. I. (2003). Neuroimaging studies of mood disorder effects on the brain. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54(3), 338-352. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00347-0
- Shi, H., Wang, X., Yi, J., Zhu, X., Zhang, X., Yang, J., & Yao, S. (2015). Default mode network alterations during implicit emotional faces processing in first-episode, treatment-naive major depression patients. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *6*, 1198. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01198
- Shuler, J. T. (2012). Facial sexual dimorphism and judgments of personality: A literature. *The Georgetown Undergraduate Journal of Health Sciences*, 6(1)
- Singh-Manoux, A., Akbaraly, T. N., Marmot, M., Melchior, M., Ankri, J., Sabia, S., & Ferrie, J. E. (2010). Persistent depressive symptoms and cognitive function in late midlife: The whitehall II study. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 71(10),1379-1385.

doi:10.4088/JCP.09m05349gry

Slater, A., Bremner, G., Johnson, S. P., Sherwood, P., Hayes, R., & Brown, E. (2000).
Newborn infants' preference for attractive faces: The role of internal and external facial features. *Infancy*, 1(2), 265-274. doi:10.1207/S15327078IN0102_8

- Slater, A., Von der Schulenburg, C., Brown, E., Badenoch, M., Butterworth, G., Parsons, S.,
 & Samuels, C. (1998). Newborn infants prefer attractive faces. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 21(2), 345-354. doi:10.1016/S0163-6383(98)90011-X
- Smith, E. R., & DeCoster, J. (2000). Dual-process models in social and cognitive psychology:
 Conceptual integration and links to underlying memory systems. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 4(2), 108-131. doi:10.1207/S15327957PSPR0402_01
- Spunt, R., Ellsworth, E. & Adolphs, R. (2007). The neural basis of understanding the expression of the emotions in man and animals. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci*, 12 (1), 95-105. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw161
- Sreenivas, S., Boehm, S. G., & Linden, D. E. J. (2012). Emotional faces and the default mode network. *Neuroscience Letters*, *506*(2), 229-234. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2011.11.012
- Steel, P., Schmidt, J., & Shultz, J. (2008a). Refining the relationship between personality and subjective well-being. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(1), 138-161. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.134.1.138
- Steel, P., Schmidt, J., & Shultz, J. (2008b). Refining the relationship between personality and subjective well-being. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(1), 138-161. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.134.1.138
- Steele, C. M. (1988a). The psychology of self-affirmation: Sustaining the integrity of the self.
 In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 21, pp. 261-302). New York: Academic Press.
- Steger, M. F., & Kashdan, T. B. (2009). Depression and everyday social activity, belonging, and well-being. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 56(2), 289-300. doi:10.1037/a0015416

- Stein, J. L., Wiedholz, L. M., Bassett, D. S., Weinberger, D. R., Zink, C. F., Mattay, V. S., & Meyer-Lindenberg, A. (2007). A validated network of effective amygdala connectivity. *NeuroImage*, 36(3), 736-745. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.022
- Stewart, M. E., Deary, I. J., & Ebmeier, K. P. (2002). Neuroticism as a predictor of mood change: The effects of tryptophan depletion. *Br J Psychiatry*, *181*(3), 242. doi:<u>10.1192/bjp.181.3.242</u>
- Stone, J., & Cooper, J. (2001). A self-standards model of cognitive dissonance. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 37(3), 228-243. doi:10.1006/jesp.2000.1446
- Strauman, T. J., Vookles, J., Berenstein, V., Chaiken, S., & Higgins, E. T. (1991). Selfdiscrepancies and vulnerability to body dissatisfaction and eating disorders. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61(6), 946-956. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.61.6.946
- Stuhrmann, A., Suslow, T., & Dannlowski, U. (2011). Facial emotion processing in major depression: A systematic review of neuroimaging findings. *Biology of Mood & Anxiety Disorders*, 1(1), 1-17. doi:10.1186/2045-5380-1-10

Sullivan, H. S. (1953). The interpersonal theory of psychiatry. New York: Norton.

- Surguladze, S. A., Young, A. W., Senior, C., Brébion, G., Travis, M. J., & Phillips, M. L. (2004). Recognition accuracy and response bias to happy and sad facial expressions in patients with major depression. *Neuropsychology*, 18(2), 212-218. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.18.2.212
- Suslow, T., Kugel, H., Rufer, M., Redlich, R., Dohm, K., Grotegerd, D., ... Dannlowski, U. (2016). Alexithymia is associated with attenuated automatic brain response to facial emotion in clinical depression. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 65, 194-200. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.10.006
- Tahmasian, M., Knight, D., Manoliu, A., Schwerthöffer, D., Scherr, M., Meng, C., . . . Sorg, C. (2013). Aberrant intrinsic connectivity of hippocampus and amygdala overlap in the fronto-insular and dorsomedial-prefrontal cortex in major depressive disorder. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *7*, 639. doi:<u>10.3389/fnhum.2013.00639</u>

Takano, A., Arakawa, R., Hayashi, M., Takahashi, H., Ito, H., & Suhara, T. (2007).
Relationship between neuroticism personality trait and serotonin transporter binding. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(6), 588-592. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.11.007

- Tamm, G., Kreegipuu, K., & Harro, J. (2016). Perception of emotion in facial stimuli: The interaction of ADRA2A and COMT genotypes, and sex. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 64, 87-95. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.07.012
- Taylor, S. E., & Brown, J. D. (1994). Positive illusions and well-being revisited: Separating fact from fiction. *Psychological Bulletin*, 116(1), 21-27. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.116.1.21
- Taylor, S. (2014). *Anxiety sensitivity: Theory, research, and treatment of the fear of anxiety* Routledge.
- Taylor, S., & Rachman, S. (1991). Fear of sadness. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 5(4), 375-381. doi:10.1016/0887-6185(91)90037-T
- Taylor, S. E., & Brown, J. D. (1988). Illusion and well-being: A social psychological perspective on mental health. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103(2), 193-210. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.103.2.193
- Thase, M. E., Entsuah, A. R., & Rudolph, R. L. (2001). Remission rates during treatment with venlafaxine or selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 178(3), 234-241. doi:10.1192/bjp.178.3.234
- Thase, M. E. (2014). Using biomarkers to predict treatment response in major depressive disorder: Evidence from past and present studies. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 16(4), 539-544.
- Thase, M. E., Shelton, R. C., & Khan, A. (2006). Treatment with venlafaxine extended release after SSRI nonresponse or intolerance: A randomized comparison of standardand higher-dosing strategies. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 26(3), 250-258. doi:10.1097/01.jcp.0000219922.19305.08

- Thibodeau, R., & Aronson, E. (1992). Taking a closer look: Reasserting the role of the selfconcept in dissonance theory. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 18(5), 591-602. doi:<u>10.1177/0146167292185010</u>
- Thomas, L. A., Brotman, M. A., Bones, B. L., Chen, G., Rosen, B. H., Pine, D. S., & Leibenluft, E. (2014). Neural circuitry of masked emotional face processing in youth with bipolar disorder, severe mood dysregulation, and healthy volunteers. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 8, 110-120. doi:10.1016/j.dcn.2013.09.007
- Tian, R., Hou, G., Li, D., & Yuan, T. (2014). A possible change process of inflammatory cytokines in the prolonged chronic stress and its ultimate implications for health. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014, 780616. doi:10.1155/2014/780616
- Tiddeman, B., Burt, D. M., & Perrett, D. (2001). Computer graphics in facial perception research. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 21(5), 42-50.
- Tiwari, G. (2014). Body Image Satisfaction Enhances. VAICHARIKI, 4(4), 2249-8907.
- Todorov, A., & Duchaine, B. (2008). Reading trustworthiness in faces without recognizing faces. *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, *25*(3), 395-410. doi:<u>10.1080/02643290802044996</u>
- Tranter, R., Bell, D., Gutting, P., Harmer, C., Healy, D., & Anderson, I. M. (2009). The effect of serotonergic and noradrenergic antidepressants on face emotion processing in depressed patients. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *118*(1–3), 87-93. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2009.01.028
- Trautmann-Lengsfeld, S., Domínguez-Borràs, J., Escera, C., Herrmann, M., & Fehr, T.
 (2013). The perception of dynamic and static facial expressions of happiness and disgust investigated by ERPs and fMRI constrained source analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(6), e66997.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066997
- Trivedi, M. H., Cutler, A. J., Richards, C., Lasser, R., Geibel, B. B., Gao, J., ... Patkar, A. A. (2013). A randomized controlled trial of the efficacy and safety of lisdexamfetamine dimesylate as augmentation therapy in adults with residual symptoms of major

depressive disorder after treatment with escitalopram. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 74(8), 802-809. doi:10.4088/JCP.13m08360

- Trivedi, M. H., Rush, A. J., Wisniewski, S. R., Nierenberg, A. A., Warden, D., Ritz, L., ...
 Fava, M. (2006). Evaluation of outcomes with citalopram for depression using
 measurement-based care in STAR*D: Implications for clinical practice. *Ajp*, *163*(1), 28-40. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.163.1.28
- Tsao, D. & Livingstone, D. (2008). Mechanisms of face perception. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 31, 411–437. doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.30.051606.094238
- Uddin, L. Q., Iacoboni, M., Lange, C., & Keenan, J. P. (2007). The self and social cognition: The role of cortical midline structures and mirror neurons. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(4), 153-157. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2007.01.001
- Uddin, L. Q., Kaplan, J. T., Molnar-Szakacs, I., Zaidel, E., & Iacoboni, M. (2005). Self-face recognition activates a frontoparietal "mirror" network in the right hemisphere: An event-related fMRI study. *NeuroImage*, 25(3), 926-935. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.12.018
- Unützer, J., Katon, W., Callahan, C. M., Williams, J. W. J., Hunkeler, E., Harpole, L., . . . et al. (2002). Collaborative care management of late-life depression in the primary care setting: A randomized controlled trial. *Jama, 288*(22), 2836-2845. doi:10.1001/jama.288.22.2836
- Uono, S., Sato, W., & Toichi, M. (2015). Exaggerated perception of facial expressions is increased in individuals with schizotypal traits. *Scientific Reports*, *5*, 11795. doi:<u>10.1038/srep11795</u>
- Valentine, T., Darling, S., & & Donnelly, M. (2004). Why are average faces attractive? the effect of view and averageness on the attractiveness of female faces. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 11(3), 482-487. doi:10.3758/BF03196599
- Van Boven, L., & Loewenstein, G. (2003). Social projection of transient drive states. Society for Personality and Social Psychology, 29(9), 1159-1168. doi:10.1177/0146167203254597

- van der Veen, F., Evers, E., Deutz, N., & Schmitt, J. (2007). Effects of acute tryptophan depletion on mood and facial emotion perception related brain activation and performance in healthy women with and without a family history of depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 32(1), 216-224. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301212
- van Reekum, C. M., Urry, H. L., Johnstone, T., Thurow, M. E., Frye, C. J., Jackson, C. A., . .
 Davidson, R. J. (2007). Individual differences in amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex activity are associated with evaluation speed and psychological well-being. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19(2), 237-248. doi:10.1162/jocn.2007.19.2.237
- van Rossum, I., Dominguez, M., Lieb, R., Wittchen, H., & van Os, J. (2011). Affective dysregulation and reality distortion: A 10-year prospective study of their association and clinical relevance. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 37(3), 561-571. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbp101
- van Tuijl, L. A., de Jong, P. J., Sportel, B. E., de Hullu, E., & Nauta, M. H. (2014). Implicit and explicit self-esteem and their reciprocal relationship with symptoms of depression and social anxiety: A longitudinal study in adolescents. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 45(1), 113-121. doi:10.1016/j.jbtep.2013.09.007
- Vanhoutte, B. (2014). The multidimensional structure of subjective well-being in later life. *Journal of Population Ageing*, 7(1), 1-20. doi:10.1007/s12062-014-9092-9
- VanSwearingen, J. (2008). Facial rehabilitation: A neuromuscular reeducation, patientcentered approach. *Facial Plast Surg*, *24*(2), 250-259. doi:<u>10.1055/s-2008-1075841</u>
- Verduyn, P., & Brans, K. (2012). The relationship between extraversion, neuroticism and aspects of trait affect. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *52*(6), 664-669. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2011.12.017
- Victor, T. A., Furey, M. L., Fromm, S. J., Öhman, A., & Drevets, W. C. (2010). Relationship between amygdala responses to masked faces and mood state and treatment in major depressive disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 67(11), 1128-1138. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.144

Villieux, A., Sovet, L., Jung, S., & Guilbert, L. (2016). Psychological flourishing: Validation of the french version of the flourishing scale and exploration of its relationships with personality traits. *Personality and Individual Differences, 88*, 1-5. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2015.08.027

Vinberg, M., Miskowiak, K., & Kessing, L. V. (2014). Serotonin transporter genotype, salivary cortisol, neuroticism and life events: Impact on subsequent psychopathology in healthy twins at high and low risk for affective disorder. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 48(0), 193-198. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.10.007

- Vittersø, J., & Dahl, T. I. (2013). What's in a face? perhaps some elements of both eudaimonic and hedonic well-being. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 8(4), 337-345. doi:10.1080/17439760.2013.803597
- Walker, M., Jiang, F., Vetter, T., & Sczesny, S. (2011). Universals and cultural differences in forming personality trait judgments from faces. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 2, 609-617. doi:10.1177/1948550611402519
- Walton, G. E., Bower, N. J. A., & Bower, T. G. R. (1992). Recognition of familiar faces by newborns. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 15(2), 265-269. doi:<u>10.1016/0163-6383(92)80027-R</u>
- Wang, L., Mullette-Gillman, O. A., Gadde, K. M., Kuhn, C. M., McCarthy, G., & Huettel, S.
 A. (2009). The effect of acute tryptophan depletion on emotional distraction and subsequent memory. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 4(4), 357-368.
 doi:<u>10.1093/scan/nsp025</u>

 Ward, R., Sreenivas, S. & Rogers, R. (2016). The role of serotonin in seeing Neuroticism in the face: the effects of tryptophan depletion on personality inference in healthy adults.
 Psychopharmacology, Manuscripts submitted for publication (a copy on file with the author).

- Ware, J. J., Kosinski, M., & Keller, S. D. (1996). A 12-item short-form health survey:
 Construction of scales and preliminary tests of reliability and validity. *Medical Care*, 34(3), 220-233. doi:10.2307/3766749
- Warren, M. B., Pringle, A., & Harmer, C. J. (2015). A neurocognitive model for understanding treatment action in depression. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 370(1677). doi:10.1098/rstb.2014.0213
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54, 1063-1070. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Watson, L. A., Dritschel, B., Obonsawin, M., & Jentzsch, I. (2007). Seeing yourself in a positive light: Brain correlates of the self-positivity bias. *Brain Research*, 1152, 106-110. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2007.03.049
- Webb, R., & Ayers, S. (2015). Cognitive biases in processing infant emotion by women with depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder in pregnancy or after birth: A systematic review. *Cognition and Emotion, 29*(7), 1278-1294.
 doi:10.1080/02699931.2014.977849
- Weightman, M. J., Air, T. M., & Baune, B. T. (2014). A review of the role of social cognition in major depressive disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 5, 179. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00179
- Weiner, B. (1985). An attributional theory of achievement motivation and emotion. *Psychol.Rev.*, 92(4), 548-573. doi:<u>10.1037/0033-295X.92.4.548</u>
- Weiner, B., Nierenberg, R., & Goldstein, M. (1976). Social learning (locus of control) versus attributional (causal stability) interpretations of expectancy of success1. *Journal of Personality*, 44(1), 52-68. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.1976.tb00583.x
- Weiss, A., Bates, T. C., & Luciano, M. (2008). Happiness is a personal(ity) thing: The genetics of personality and well-being in a representative sample. *Psychological Science*, 19(3), 205-210. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02068.x

- Williams, K. E., Chambless, D. L., & Ahrens, A. (1997). Are emotions frightening? an extension of the fear of fear construct. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 35(3), 239-248. doi:10.1016/S0005-7967(96)00098-8
- Williams, J. S., Cunich, M., & Byles, J. (2013). The impact of socioeconomic status on changes in the general and mental health of women over time: Evidence from a longitudinal study of australian women. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 12(1), 1-11. doi:10.1186/1475-9276-12-25
- Wilson, T. D., Lindsey, S., & Schooler, T. Y. (2000). A model of dual attitudes. *Psychological Review*, *107*(1), 101-126. doi:10.1037//0033-295X.107.1.101
- Winston, J. S., Strange, B. A., O'Doherty, J., & Dolan, R. J. (2002). Automatic and intentional brain responses during evaluation of trustworthiness of faces. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(3), 277-283. doi:10.1038/nn816
- Wisco, B. E., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2010). Interpretation bias and depressive symptoms: The role of self-relevance. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48(11), 1113-1122. doi:10.1016/j.brat.2010.08.004
- Wittchen, H. U., Jacobi, F., Rehm, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Jönsson, B., . . .
 Steinhausen, H. -. (2011). The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in europe 2010. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21(9), 655-679.
 doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.07.018
- Wong, M. & Licinio, J. (2001). Research and treatment approaches to depression. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 2, 343-351. doi:10.1038/35072566

World Health Organization. (2004). The global burden of disease: 2004 update. WHO. Retrieved from

http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/2004_report_update/en/

World Health Organization. (2007). Information on mental disorders management: Depression. *Geneva: WHO. Retrieved from*

http://www.who.int/mental_health/management/depression/en/
- Yang, E., Zald, D. H., & Blake, R. (2007). Fearful expressions gain preferential access to awareness during continuous flash suppression. *Emotion (Washington, D.C.)*, 7(4), 882-886. doi:10.1037/1528-3542.7.4.882
- Yoshimura, S., Okamoto, Y., Onoda, K., Matsunaga, M., Okada, G., Kunisato, Y., . . .
 Yamawaki, S. (2014). Cognitive behavioral therapy for depression changes medial prefrontal and ventral anterior cingulate cortex activity associated with self-referential processing. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 9(4), 487-493. doi:10.1093/scan/nst009
- Young, S. N. (2013). The effect of raising and lowering tryptophan levels on human mood and social behaviour. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368(1615), 20110375. doi:10.1098/rstb.2011.0375
- Zeigler-Hill, V. (2006a). Discrepancies between implicit and explicit self-esteem: Implications for narcissism and self-esteem instability. *Journal of Personality*, 74(1), 119-144. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00371.x
- Zeigler-Hill, V. (2006b). Discrepancies between implicit and explicit self-esteem: Implications for narcissism and self-esteem instability. *Journal of Personality*, 74(1), 119-144. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00371.x
- Zhu, M., Luo, J., Zhao, N., Hu, Y., Yan, L., & Gao, X. (2016). The temporal primacy of selfrelated stimuli and negative stimuli: An ERP-based comparative study. *Social Neuroscience*, 11(5), 507-514. doi:10.1080/17470919.2015.1114021
- Zimmerman, M., Sheeran, T., & Young, D. (2004). The diagnostic inventory for depression: A self-report scale to diagnose DSM-IV major depressive disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 60(1), 87-110. doi:10.1002/jclp.10207